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PREFACE 

This monograph explores a critical phase in the history of the Dutch 
colony of Curaçao and its development of political relations with 
Venezuela. Tensions and conflicts growing out of these relations ac­
quired an extra Caribbean dimension with the involvement of the 
Netherlands in a region she had previously neglected. In concentrating 
on the political aspects of Curaçao's role in this complex entanglement 
of interests and influences, the author is only too aware that he bas 
excluded other relevant matters in favor of a more single-minded, 
monographic approach. These include the relationship between legal 
and illegal trade and its influence upon the economy of both the island 
and the Venezuelan republic ; the existence of a powerful merchant­
class in the colony; and the rise of what might be termed a national 
consciousness in Venezuela at the same time the Dutch island was 
becoming aware of its almost complete dependenee on a distant metro­
polis unfamiliar with Curaçao's problems and needs. 

On the other hand, the essence of any monograph, its strength and 
perhaps its weakness, is to be found in just such a narrow focus. And 
while political problems may not be the most pressing ones in an inter­
national competition of interests, they are more of ten than not tbe 
decisive ones. Hence, the author's case study approach. 

Primary source materials are to be found in The Hague, where the 
Algemeen Rijks Archief (ARA, Government Archives), possesses an 
extensive collection of documents related to Venczuelan affairs, cata­
logued as A-128, Venezolaanse Zaken. Documents are organized in 
chronological sub-collections, running from about 1870 to 1908. Addi­
tional information was obtained from the extensive Holanda Dossier 
of the Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores (MRE, Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs, Caracas), which is divided into topical sub-collections. When­
ever identical data are to be found in both archives, citation is made 
only to ARA. 

Other important research sources were for Venezuela the Libro Ama­
rillo and the Gaceta Oficial; and for the Netherlands the Nederlandsche 
Staatscourant (Official Dutch Gazette), the Handelingen van de Tweede 
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Kamer der Staten Generaal (Activities of the Second Chamber of 
the States General ), and the Koloniale Verslagen (Colonial Reports). 
Extensive use was also made of the contemporary press: La Opinión 
Nacional, mouthpiece of the Guzmán Blanco regime; a Dutch paper, 
Dagblad van Zuid-Holland en 's-Gravenhage, which featured overseas 
affairs; and Curaçao's own De Curaçaosche Courant, El Imparcial, 
and Civilisad6. Important pamphlets relating to the topic include El 
Evangelio Liberal, Holanda y Venezuela, and Is Curaçao te koop? 
(Is Curaçao for sale?). 

My thanks to Mrs. Sandra F. McGee and Ms. B. A. Cohen Stuart for 
editing the text. 

Comelis Ch. Goslinga 
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1. PROLOGUE 

It was a Saturday moming at the end of January, 1870. The Hen­
drikplein in Willemstad lay under a buming tropical glare. Astrong 
breeze and scattered shade under the few languishing trees gave only 
partial relief from the sun. Most of the buildings surrounding the 
plein lacked the dignity of those on its southem side, where the newly 
constructed Temple Emanu-El represented faith and the courthouse 
with its neo-classical tympanon and broad entrance reflected cool, 
austere justice. 

Heat waves gave a shimmering look to the houses around the plein 
and along the Breedestraat. To one side stood venerabie Fort Amster­
dam, which had defended St. Ann Bay, the main port entrance of 
Curaçao, for almost two centuries. From the center of the fort rose the 
govemor's palace, its roof top flag signalling that the govemor was in 
residence. Far off, one could see the heat-distorted outline of Fort 
Nassau on Sablica hill at the other end of St. Ann Bay, the island's 
current defense. 

Four dark-haired men in white shirtsleeves and black trousers appear­
ed in front of the courthouse. Three were middle-aged, one of them 
quite tal!. Tbe fourth was much older. Their gaze shifted from where 
the yellow walls of Fort Amsterdam shut out the sea to the gray 
menacing strength of Fort Nassau and its advertisement of the Dutch 
presence in the Caribbean: a red, white, and blue banner flapping in 
the wind. 

Tbe four men walked slowly up the courthouse steps and disappeared. 
Inside, a dark usher brought them to a door hearing the sign Procureur 
Generaal (Attomey General ) and bade them enter. 

Salomon Senior, acting Attorney General of the Colony Curaçao en 
Onderhoorigheden (Curaçao and Dependencies), was a descendant of 
Jewish exiles who had long ago found refuge at Curaçao under the 
Dutch flag. Tbey and many other Jewish families had prospered there 
in commercial activities, at times licit and at other times including 
smuggling. 

Senior was uneasy over the message he had to give to Antonio 
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Guzmán Blanco, his father Antonio Leocadio Guzmán, and the other 
two Venezuelans. He rose inunediately from behind his enormous 
mahogany desk to greet them. 

"Por favor, siéntense Ustedes, senores." 
The governor of the colony, Abraham Mathieu de Rouville, had 

personally shown Senior the orders from The Hague for the expulsion 
of the Venezuelans. De Rouville had protested, strongly for a sub­
ordinate, but the Minister for the Colonies had insisted that "the 
residence of the Guzmans in Curaçao was contrary to neutrality." 1 

Thus, against his better judgment, the governor was carrying out in­
struetions.2 

The Attorney General referred the Guzmans to another meeting the 
previous November, when they had been warned, under penalty of 
expulsion under an island regulation of 1866, not to engage in political 
or military plotting against the government in Caracas. They listened 
silently. 

"What is the proof for the present accusation?" asked the older man. 
Senior shook his head. "I showed you those damaging letters in 

November, remember?" 
"It must be that impossible Rolandus," said Guzmán Blanco, the 

tallone. 
Senior read the order of expulsion, effective February 15. When he 

had finished, the father spoke again. 
"Do you believe, senor, that we have violated any law?" 
"Perhaps not Venezuelan law. But you have violated our laws." 
"In 1848, when I enjoyed your hospitality," the older man persisted, 

"nothing was done against me." 
"We have a new regulation," the Attorney General answered quietly. 

"If it had been in force in 1848, we would have had to do the same." 
"You said that the deadline Was February 15?" Guzmán Blanco asked. 
The Attorney General nodded. 
"Would you permit me to leave secretly, before that date?" 
"Your reason, please, senor Guzmán Blanco." 
"Then my enemies won't know when or where to expect me." 
The Attorney General thought for a moment. "Each ship leaving 

port is required to register its passengers, but this can be arranged as 
long as you keep me informed." 

Guzmán Blanco looked relieved. The brief ceremony was over. Onee 
again the four men stood on the hot cobbles of the Hendrikplein. They 
walked leisurely to St. Ann Bay, crossed it in a small ferry, and then 
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walked up Otrabanda's main street toward the huge mansion still known 
today as the Casa Guzmán Blanco. 

The order of expulsion was directed against Antonio Leocadio Guz­
mán, bis son Antonio Guzmán Blanco, and their supporters, Martin 
J. Sanabria and Hilario Parra. The accusation: conspiracy against the 
Venezuelan government. 

The Guzmans were prominent liberals from Venezuela in exile. When 
they had been deported, on August 20, 1869, the Venezuelan commercial 
house of Boulton had put a ship in La Guaira at their disposal, but 
instead they had chosen to use the Dutch schooner Midas, owned by 
the Jewish house of J. A. Jesurun & Son of Curaçao.3 Other Venezuelan 
refugees had followed them to Curaçao in the course of the year.4 

By the time the February 15 deadline had passed, three of the four 
men were gone from the island - the elder Guzmán was excused 
because of sickness and did not leave until May 1. The Curaçaosche 
Courant had a premonition: "We will trust that our fear ... that 
Venezuela will avenge the expulsion of Venezuelans from this colony, 
does not materialize." 5 

But the Curaçaosche Courant soon found that it was all too good a 
prophet.6 



2. THE SITUATION 

Political and economie relations between Venezuela and the non­
Hispanic Caribbean, in particular the island of Curaçao, have been 
delicate since the war for independence. In colonial times, when Ven~ 
zuela was a captaincy-general, the strategically-Iocated island served as 
a slave market and warehouse, providing the Spanish colony with a 
much-needed black labor force and many commodities which Spain 
was unable to provide. These trade relations, although largely illicit, 
had a great impact on Curaçao and were the source of its prosperity 
in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. 

This idyllic situation ended when the Spanish-American continent 
began to revolt. Af ter the English occupation of the Curaçao islands 
(1807-1816), the Dutch discovered to their dismay that trade had 
moved away from Willemstad to St. Thomas in the Virgin group.!1 
Contacts on the mainland had been reduced to Coro and Maracaibo; 
return cargoes contained only a few goatskins or other hides and some 
species of wood.2 

A revival of the former trade was difficult to accomplish for several 
reasons. First, the Netherlands was unresigned to the loss of the Guiana 
colony to Great Britain. Amsterdam merchants had invested huge sums 
in the former Dutch possession, and their commercial interests in the 
West were suffering. Second, long af ter all the other Caribbean powers 
had opened their ports to free trade, the Dutch government still failed 
to recognize the changed circumstances and maintained until 1827 a 
six percent duty on commodities not originating in the mother country. 
For more than a decade this tariff policy was the rnain obstacle to 
restoring commercial relations between Willemstad and the new republic 
of Venezuela. A third reason for bad feeling was the unfortunate Dutch 
decision to side with the peninsuia in Spain's conflict with her American 
colonies.3 

Thus Curaçao's role as a commercial intermediary between Venezuela 
and the outside world was almost completely eliminated. 1 t took The 
Hague some time to discover what was amiss, as political developments 
in the years 1816 to 1822 only increased the problems caused by the 
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Dutch attitude. Until 1822, while siding with Spain, the Dutch not only 
closed Curaçao's ports to ships of Venezuelan patriots, but even stretched 
their sympathies so far as to convoy Spanish merchant ships threatened 
by Venezuelan or Gran Colombian privateers. Spanish troops fighting 
in Venezuela and Colombia depended mainly on provisions coming 
from the Dutch island.4 

The Battle of Carabobo in 1822 produced a vital change: the 
Dutch Foreign Office finally realized that the Spanish cause in America 
was lost. Following the example set by the United States and Greall 
Britain, the Dutch government adopted a policy of strict neutrality, 
conferring on patriots the so-called rights of belligerents. Even Spain 
had recognized those rights as early as 1820 in the Treaty of Trujillo. 

This neutrality policy clearly revealed the change in The Hague's 
analysis of the situation. It was strictly followed until 1827, when a 
new effort was launched to break the impasse in Curaçao's trade. The 
island was now declared a free port and consuls were appointed in the 
ports of Gran Colombia (whose government considered this action 
de facto recognition of her independence). A treaty of commerce and 
friendship followed in 1829, but shortly afterwards Gran Colombia 
collapsed and the recently-concluded treaty became a de ad letter.5 

A new period began with fresh negotiations in 1830. The independent 
Venezuelan republic accepted the Gran Colombian treaty with minor 
revisions. Finally, relations between Venezuela and the Netherlands and 
her colonial dependencies were normalized.6 

This normalization of relations did not eliminate the complex set of 
problems which played such an important role in the existing situation. 
Curaçao's geographical location assumed a vital importance because 
of the instability of successive governments in the Land of Bolivar. 
From the outset, opponents of any Caracas regime found an excellent 
refuge close at hand in Willemstad, where they could frame conspiracies, 
buy military supplies, and launch attacks against almost any point of 
Venezuela's poorly-defended coast. In other words, Curaçao soon be­
came the headquarters of Venezuelan rebels, sharing this unenviable 
role with Trinidad. If the rebels achieved their goals, the in-party of 
Caracas would be ousted, exiled, and the same game would continue, 
roles reversed. 

As a result of this development, the history of the relations between 
Venezuela and Curaçao was largely dominated by a litany of complaints 
originating in Caracas and noticeably effective in pressuring the 
Dutch colonial government's policy of granting refuge to political exiles. 
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Of course, Caracas always conveniently forgot that this very policy had 
enabled its own party to rise to power.7 Continuous, irritating agitation 
dramatized this unhappy relationship: seÏzure of Dutch ships, con­
fiscation of Dutch property, and demonstrations against Dutch subjects 
living in Venezuela became common occurrences. The Dutch colonial 
government reacted with remarkable restraint in issuing regulations to 
con trol the export of war materiel wbich failed to satisfy contending 
Venezuelan power elites.8 Thus a vicious circle of strain and tension 
between the island and the continental republic began. Negotiations, 
promises, treaties, ruptures of diplomatic and commercial relations, 
privateering, naval demonstrations, and reconciliations succeeded one 
another. These and other manifestations of enmity and amity reached 
an emotional peak during the years when Antonio Guzmán Blanco 
controlled the fate of Venezuela and gave bis country a new sense of 
direction. 



3. EXPULSION 

In 1863 a devastating civil war which brought Venezuela to the verge 
of economic collapse ended with the victory of the Liberal or Federalist 
Party, also called the Yellows, under General Juan C. Falc6n. The 
profitable trade in the smuggling of arms and ammunition, in which 
the commercial house of J. A. Jesurun & Son had figured significantly, 
appeared to have ended. That Dutch subjects were deeply involved in 
this trade caused The Hague and its agent, the Governor of Curaçao, 
some discomfiture. With the rise of Falc6n to the presidency of Vene­
zuela, however, the Dutch Second Chamber was informed that good 
relations between the Republic and Curaçao had been restored.1 

Unfortunately, this assurance was too optimistic. Falc6n, proving 
himself incompetent, feIl from power. Rioting and rebellion erupted 
again and the conservative faction, the Blues, gained control. Almost 
from its beginning, the new government issued a long list of complaints: 
Venezuelan (Yellow) exiles were conspiring in Willemstad; the governor 
of the island was permitting the sale of arms and ammunition to its 
enemies. These complaints found their way to The Hague where a 
change of Cabinet had brought a new man, E. de Waal, to the Ministry 
for the Colonies. Unfamiliar with the situation, he doubtlessly over­
relied on the suggestions of the Dutch chargé d'affaires in Caracas, 
F. D. G. Rolandus.2 The result of his lack of experience soon became 
tragically apparent. 

The Governor of Curaçao, De Rouville, was a man whose integrity 
and ability were beyond doubt. He had served the colony for more than 
ten years as chief of police and Attorney General, and in 1866 King 
William III had appointed him governor. He was perhaps more familiar 
with the colony's problems than anyone else. It was during his term 
as governor that relations with Venezuela took a fata! turn. 

The Governor of Curaçao and Dependencies had modest executive 
power and controlled the Colonial Raad (Council) to a certain 
extent by appointing five of its thirteen members. In reality, how­
ever, he was nothing more than an agent of the Minister for the 
Colonies in The Hague,3 a not exceptional position in those days. Thus 
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when De Waalordered De Rouville to expel the most prominent 
Venezuelan exiles, allleading liberals, the govemor was forced to obey. 

Yet De Rouville hesitated. The removal, perhaps forcible, of political 
exiles from Curaçao was totally contrary to island tradition. The prin­
ciples of broad tolerance, religious as weIl as political, culminating in 
a laissez-faire economic policy, were deeply embedded in the Dutch 
national character and had taken firm root in the colony. Fleeing from 
intolerance, refugees had flocked to Curaçao from Cuba, Haiti, Santo 
Domingo, and Venezuela. The precedent of an expulsion was a 
frightening prospect for colonial authorities. Expulsion had been anti­
cipated, however, in an as-yet untested insular regulation of 1866. 

When Antonio Guzmán Blanco fled rus country in August, 1869, he 
found in that pontón, as he called Curaçao/ many of his old friends: 
the generals León Colina, Miguel Gil, and Juan Bautista Garda, as 
weU as such civilians as Martin J. Sanabria and Hilario Parra. This 
group maintained relations with a Revolutionary Committee in Caracas, 
of which the following notables were members: Diego Bautista Urbaneja, 
and the generals Jacinto Gutiérrez and José Ramón Tello.5 

The conspiratorial activities of these men and their personal involve­
ment in the effort to overthrow the conservative Caracas Blues cannot 
he doubted. Guzmán Blanco even admitted this himself.6 The Dutch 
chargé d'affaires in Caracas, Rolandus, also gave convincing evidence. 
On Curaçao, Antonio Leocadio Guzmán had prepared the intellectual 
apology for the new rehellion, a seditious pamphlet entitled El Evangelio 
Liberal, published in three parts, defending the Yellow cause.7 These 
efforts were coordinated and directed by the recognized leader, Antonio 
Guzmán Blanco. 

De Rouville still hesitated, knowing too weIl that today's exiles could 
he tomorrow's govemment. In several letters to the Dutch Minister for 
the Colonies he defended his point of view. He was joined in this protest 
by prominent merchants. Meanwhile the news of thc expulsion order 
had lcaked to the populace. No less than 292 inhabitants petitioned the 
King to stop the order.8 The island's press pleaded in favor of the 
refugees, the Civilisadó more vehemently than the moderate Curaçao­
sche Courant. The Colonial Raad met in special session to discuss the 
expulsion and one of its vociferous members exclaimed loudly: "The 
illegality of that order is the more unpleasant for me because it was 
provoked by our Consul General in Venezuela," 9 an exclamation 
illustrating the low esteem in which members of Curaçao's commercial 
elite held this diplomat. 
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The loud protests of De Rouville and the island's mercantile class 
only stiffened De Waal's resolve. His decision was based not solelyon 
ignoranee but also on minimal interest. The West lndian colonies 
formed but a tiny part of the Dutch colonial empire, which contributed 
no profits to the Dutch treasury, and required subsidies. 

Thus, De Rouville had no choice. The axiom of political liberty was 
not yet applicable to a colony. Frank and free discussion of orders was 
beyond the govemor's prerogative. The latter, realizing the fatal error 
his superior was about to commit, commented bitterly: "For the first 
time since Bolivar, people are punished by expulsion, contrary to the 
old established Curaçao hospitality as always applied before my term: 
expulsion only for those who disturb law and order in the colony." 10 

De Rouville's persistent protests and his reluctance to comply with 
unwise and dangerous orders sealed rus fate. He was dismissed. It is 
probable that the intrigues of Rolandus carried some weight in the 
ministerial decision. During 1870 the chargé d'affaires stayed in Curaçao 
for some time, and it soon became obvious that he and the govemor 
clashed on almost every topic regarding Venezuela. Consequently, 
De Waal accused De Rouville of "identification with the system of 
aggression of the party of exiled Venezuelans," 11 and replaced him in 
September, 1870, with the St. Martin island commissioner, Hermanus 
F. G. Wagner. 

De Rouville's dismissal ended the first act in the development of a 
completely new phase in relations hetween Curaçao and Venezuela. This 
phase was dominated by the republic's new master for eighteen years, 
Antonio Guzmán Blanco, soon to he called the Illustrious American. 



4. FIRST SKIRMISHES 

Antonio Guzmán Blanco left Curaçao secretly "because of the in­
timidation of the colonial government," in the worels of his panegyrist, 
Francisco Gonzáles Guinán.1 He embarked on a ship destined for 
Martinique. But during the voyage he changed ships and an open boot 
- either by arrangement or by pure coincidence - brought him to 
Curamichate. Here he was weIl received by various leaders opposed to 
the conservative Caracas rulers. With admirable vigor he began to 
orgaruze bis forces, starting a successful campaign with clockwork 
precision.2 On April 27, barely ten weeks af ter his departure from 
Curaçao, he made bis glorious entry into the capital. Although a few 
pockets of resistance continued a hopeless fight for some time to come, 
most of the country was soon firmly under bis contro!. 

Nothing better illustrates Guzmán Blanco's success than the simul­
taneous happy departure of Yellow exiles from Curaçao and the gloomy 
arrival of conservative fugitives from Venezuela. The latter soon became 
aware of the hostility of the majority of the island population, the 
Colonial Raad, and De Rouville toward the expulsion order, issued 
under pressure of the Blue government and on the recommendation of 
Rolandus. This hostility had intensified with the retaliatory actions 
committed in the last days of Blue power against Dutch subjects and 
shipping. Within the three-mile zone, for example, a Dutch falouche 
(sloop) chased by the Venezuelan (Blue) war schooner Unión of the 
expiring conservative regime, became stranded on a reef along the 
Curaçao coast. While the crew had barely been able to save their skins, 
the Unión had plundered the sloop on Dutch territory.3 This and other 
provocative actions of the now desperate conservative rulers caused 
increasingly intense indignation which approached the breaking point 
when Guzmán Blanco's government replaced them. 

The new Yellow government did not intend to apologize for the errors 
of its predecessor or to indemnify previous wrongdoings. On the contrary, 
the Yellow mood soon manifested itself, adding to the mounting concern 
of the Dutch governor in Willemstad. 

On May 4, 1870, when Guzmán Blanco had been in the capital 
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exactly one week, a Dutch ship, the Hon/leur, owned by Jesurun & Son, 
was seized in the port of La Guaira. The H on/leur, although sailing 
under the Dutch nag, was chartered by the fonner Venezuelan govern­
ment to serve as a packet-boat hetween St. Thomas, La Guaira, Puerto 
Cabello, and Curaçao. In seizing the ship, Guzmán Blanco daimed to 
he acting within his prerogative as the legitimate successor of his 
defeated opponent. When Curaçao's colonial government learned of 
this seizure, it immediately sent another ship to La Guaira to pick up 
themail.This schooner returned with additional news regarding the 
retaliatory policy of Venezuela's strong man: no ship could enter La 
Guaira's port without authorÏzation from the new government.4 

Rolandus, the Dutch chargé d'affaires in Caracas, immediately cried 
wolf, angrily protesting the seizure of the Hon/leur. He was joined in 
this protest by all members of the diplomatic corps, undoubtedly hecause 
the important mail service was interrupted. Af ter a renewed protest by 
Rolandus, the new government's Minister of Foreign Affairs, Antonio 
Leocadio Guzmán, recently arrived from Curaçao, bluntly called 
Rolandus "an obstade to the good relations which Venezuela wished to 
maintain with the Netherlands." 5 Rolandus' reaction to this statement 
was rather foolish. Af ter discussing it with some of his diplomatic corps 
colleagues in Caracas, but not with The Hague or its dosest Dutch 
official, the Governor of Curaçao, he asked for his passport. It was 
handed to him af ter two days, together with another statement from 
Guzmán strongly expressing Venezuela's desire for good diplomatic 
relations with The Hague.6 An unfortunate incident en route to La 
Guaira added to Rolandus' irritation: he could not produce the required 
permit. Several days passed, and when he finally arrived at the Vene­
zuelan port where a Dutch man-of-war from Curaçao awaited him, 
his anger reached the boiling point. Guzmán, in the meantime, had 
infonned members of the diplomatic corps by circular letter what had 
happened, sincerely deploring the difficulties concerning the permit. '( 
Atthe same time, a message was dispatched to the Netherlands request­
ing the recall of Rolandus but emphasizing energetically the strong wish 
for good relations.8 This letter was not received before the end of June. 

At the end of May, the eldest partner of the Jesurun House, Abraham 
J. Jesurun, in his concern over the fate of the Hon/leur, sailed on the 
Sarah, another of the firm's schooners, to La Guaira thereby ignoring 
the explicit orders of the Guzmán Blanco regime that La Guaira be 
dosed. The inevitabie occurred: the Sarah was seized by port authorities 
for violating the new regulation, and Jesurun was forbidden to return. 
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Later, the Sarah's seizure and the action against Jesurun were justified 
by the government, which claimed that the Sarah had earried 1,000 rifles 
and other war materiel to La Guaira.9 

The role of the Jesurun House in Venezuelan affairs eaUs for further 
elahoration. The economic might of Curaçao J ews in this period was 
strikingly evidenced in their financial dealings. The Jesurun firm had, 
since 1848, advanced huge sums to the Venezuelan government against 
the guarantee of honds and the customs receipts of various ports. In 
1858, regarded as the "little Rothschilds" of the Caribbean, the Jesuruns 
were even granted a thirty-year concession by the republic's rulers 
to develop a textile industry in their territory. General Falcón, later 
president of the country, stifled anti-Semitic feelings unleashed during 
the Coro disorders of 1855 10 and in 1864 sent a delegation to Curaçao 
to conclude a new loan with Abraham J. Jesurun. This loan was 
renewed and increased in 1866.11 

Many Jewish firms on the island owned ships during this period, and 
some had dockyards where they built and repaired them. Between 1843 
and 1875, the Jesurun House managed a mercantile fleet of more than 
one hundred vessels varying in size from 25 to 275 tons.12 Some of them 
had been cruising the Caribbean since the early forties, a few of them 
traveling as far away as New Vork and Amsterdam. Between 1857 and 
1862 the Jesuruns owned three dockyards which built ships varying 
from 25 to 110 tons.13 

The new agreement of 1866 closely connected the commercial interest 
of this house with the political development of Venezuela. It established 
as an alarming reality the fact that certain inhabitants of an island 
completely dependent on its trade with the instabIe Venezuelan republic 
had become highly important creditors of this selfsame republic, and 
vitally interested in the management of its administration. 

With the seizure of the Bontleur and the Sarah, Rolandus' abrupt 
departure, and Jesurun's arrest, the ingredients for a serious conflict 
were on hand. The extremely frank Venezuelan note of May 22, asking 
for the recall of Rolandus, spurred the Dutch government to action.14 

By Royal Decree Werner von Bergen, interim chargé d'affaires of the 
North Germanic Union, was entrusted with the care of Dutch subjects 
and interests in Venezuela. When he left in December, his successor 
Von Gülick, took over.Ui 

The next step was the immediate reinforcement of Dutch naval 
power in the Caribbean. The war frigate, Admiraal van Wassenaar, 
was sent to the West to join the one man-of-war stationed in Curaçao. 
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lts commander had vague instructions "to proteet Dutch interests" and 
to await further orders.l6 The Hague did not yet understand that 
military pressure would only provoke anger and prove ineffective. It 
would leam this lesson the hard way. 

With the publication of certain details of the conflict in the N eder­
landsche Staatscourant (Dutch Official Gazette ), the public and mem­
bers of the States General were informed for the first time of the 
existing strained relations.17 As the Cabinet was responsibIe to Parlia­
ment, an interpellation of the Foreign Minister was to be expected and 
took place on June 23. The decision of the Minister for the Colonies 
to expel the four Venezuelans was denounced as illegal; the course 
of action followed by Rolandus, who had jeopardized diplomatie 
relations without consulting his government, was likewise condemned. 

The Dutch Foreign Minister was not very vigorous in Rolandus' 
defense.l8 In calling the chargé d'affaires "a good, energetic man, 
perhaps in some respects too honest and therefore difficult," he invited 
only more criticism, concern, and questioning. His denial of Rolandus' 
incorrect appraisal of the Venezuelan situation channelled the Chamber's 
anger into an open accusation that the envoy was incompetent. Had 
the Chamber known the folly this minister was about to commit, it 
would have voiced its criticism even more harshly. 

New orders awaited the commander of the Admiraal van Wassenaar 
in Curaçao. As a result he and the other man-of-war, the Kijkduin, 
sailed to La Guaira requesting the return of the Ron/leur and the 
Sarah. The Dutch warships carried with them an important passenger, 
Rolandus, with instructions to demand an apology.19 

The arrival of the two Dutch men-of-war at La Guaira pressured 
the Venezuelan government into returning the Ron/leur and the Sarah 
(Jesurun had already escaped) at once. However, Venezuela refused 
steadfastly to accept Rolandus. The Dutch chargé d'affaires thus 
returned to Curaçao a humiliated man. Incredible as it may seem, this 
slap in the face little affected the Dutch Foreign Minister. He seeIllS 
to have been of the opinion, fostered by Rolandus, that the Guzmán 
Blanco regime was only a "temporary de facto rule," while the legitimate 
(Blue) government continued to reside in Maracaibo and Puerto 
Cabello.20 Somewhat contradictory in this comedy of contradictions 
was De Waal's June 28 note to Guzmán, expressing Dutch surprise at 
the treatment of Rolandus and affirming the Dutch government's 
confidence in the chargé d'affaires. Of course, this did not help 
Rolandus and could not return him to his Caracas post. The note 
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defined the seizure of the Honfleur as a flagrant violation of inter­
national law.21. At that time, the Dutch Foreign Minister did not yet 
know about the seizure of the Sarah. 

The Venezuelan reply to this note, dated August 12, arrived in 
The Hague about a month later. Although reaffinning astrong desire 
for good relations - a constant in Guzmán's correspondence as 
Minister of Foreign Affairs - the note should have served as a waming 
to the Dutch Foreign Minister, for it was accompanied by a long 
memorandum and an extensive list of complaints. True to fonn, he 
did not heed the ominous signs, for if there was one prominent quality 
in the man who had to conduct Dutch foreign policy in those years, 
it was short-sightedness. 



5. VENEZUELAN COMPLAINTS 

The Venezuelan government quickly attacked the Dutch note of June 28, 
making it clear that although Rolandus was not acceptable as a 
representative of his country, diplomatic ties with the Netherlands were 
strongly desired. Guzmán claimed that proof of Rolandus' unaccept­
ability was not necessary: if Venezuelan authorities could not work with 
this Dutch chargé d'affaires, then another should be sent in his place. 
The seizure of the Honfleur, it was explained, would never have grown 
to such dimensions had there been a more flexible man in charge of 
Dutch interests. If the person of Rolandus thus stood in the way of 
good relations between the two nations, what could be more simple 
than to replace him with someone acceptable to the new regime? The 
force of this argument, though negative, was lost on the Dutch Foreign 
Minister. Even the additional statement that the Venezuelan govern­
ment would deplore it greatly if this incident were a cause for a 
suspension in relations did not rouse the Dutch Minister from his 
lethargy. 

The lack of response and limited understanding shown by this 
Cabinet member are clearly shown in his note to the States General of 
December U It either completely overlooked the objections against 
Rolandus or defined them as without foundation. It did demonstrate 
a certain force in arguing that it was difficuIt to appreciate Venezuelan 
desires for good relations if two Dutch men-of-war were needed to bring 
back the Honfleur and the Sarah. 

The Venezuelan note, accompanied by a long list of complaints, ~ 
is a key document of nineteenth-c.entury Dutch-Venezuelan relations. 
In the following discussion of this lengthy document and the replies of 
the Dutch Foreign Minister as given to the Second Chamber, we will 
use the Dutch jurist Karel H. Corporaal's framework,3 adding some 
pertinent observations made by the new Governor of Curaçao. 

Significantly, the first complaints concerned Guzmán Blanco's ex­
pulsion. The lack of any proof of subversive activity on his part and the 
degrading way in which the affair was conducted were cited. Although 
the legality of the expulsion was debatable in the eyes of some members 
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of the Dutch Parliament, the Foreign Minister was able to disprove 
most of the Venezuelan accusations. 

He fared less weIl with the second series of complaints, those con­
cerning Rolandus. The Venezuelans accused the latter of having spread 
misinformation about their country. He was said to be a silent partner 
of the Jesurun House. He had not bothered to inform the Governor of 
Curaçao of the change in government which had occurred in Caracas 
on April 27, considering this only a temporary setback for the Blues. 
Although he refuted these grievances, the Dutch Foreign Minister could 
not hide the fact that strong animosity existed between the Guzmán 
Blanco group and the Dutch chargé d'affaires.4 

Next came a group of complaints concerned with the slow recognition 
of the new regime and the continued belligerency status of the defeated 
Blues under Genera! José Mariá Hernández. Even more irritating, the 
colonial government had discriminated against the new rulers by, for 
example, permitting General Adolfo A. Olivo and 130 of his men to 
transfer at Klein Curaçao (Little Curaçao), in Dutch territorial waters, 
from the Danish schooner Dos Amigos to the steamer Federación of the 
conservative faction, while forbidding officers of the new government 
sent to Curaçao to board the war schooner 27 de Abril and sail this 
ship to La Guaira. The vital issue at stake here was the colonial 
governor's right to consider both Venezuelan contenders belligerent 
parties. He had already alerted the commanders of all Venezuelan ships 
in the Curaçao islands that they could not replenish and had to Ie ave 
with the same crew with which they arrived. The 27 de Abril, Governor 
Wagner observed, was free to leave, but with due regard for island 
regulations stipulating that a man-of-war of one belligerent party could 
not leave earlier than 24 hours af ter a man-of-war of the other party 
had left'" 

A sore point in these complaints was the non-recognition of Jacob 
Rois Mendes, a Dutch subject and Curaçao Jew, as commercial agent 
of the new government. Meanwhile the former acting Attorney General, 
Salomon Senior, also a Dutch subject and Curaçao Jew, and sympathetic 
to the Blues, continued to clear ships for Coro and Maracaibo where 
conservatives were still strongly entrenched - Senior being their com­
mercial representative. Since this occurred to the detriment of Guzmán 
Blanco's treasury, the new regime closed these ports simply hy declaring 
them blockaded. 

The Dutch Foreign Minister's militant refutation of this point did 
not produce a jewel of clarity. His arguments triggered an unhappy 
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reaction among many members of the Second Chamber. Wagner spoke 
more clearly to the issue. The blockade of the two ports in question 
was not effective, he argued; it was merely a paper blockade. If the 
Caracas government considered its opponents' ships "pirates" , this did 
not justify the colonial govemment's endorsing their definition. 

Within this set of complaints, a few details demand closer attention. 
The colonial government, announced the Dutch Foreign Minister, was 
under strict orders "to act according to rules of international law in 
case of a civil war in Venezuela." This meant differing with the policy 
of the contending parties in the republic: indulgence for themselves and 
severity for others. The Foreign Minister also maintained that not 
much could be done about the NoticiosoJ a second-rate pamphlet 
published irregularly in Curaçao which condemned the Guzmán Blanco 
regime. There was freedom of the press in Curaçao as long as law and 
order were not endangered; one of the reasons for the expulsion of the 
Guzmans had been the publication of El Evangelio Liberal. 

A fourth set of complaints centered around the contra band trade, 
meaning trade with the party not in power. As previously mentioned, 
this activity effectively contributed to the wealth of certain Curaçao 
families. Specific actions were enumerated. Guzmán accused these 
merchants, most of them involved in trade in war materiel, of delivering 
to his opponents 2,000 pieces of textiles (clothes and blankets) and of 
concluding loans up to U.S. $ 30,000, covered by custom-duty receipts 
from Maracaibo and serving as payment for all kinds of commodities 
sold to these opponents. Coal was repeatedly transferred, he claimed, 
from Dutch schooners to "pirate-steamers," as Blue ships were called. 
The Blue MaraparîJ for instance, had taken on coal in the port of 
Curaçao. 

Reguiations regarding export of war materiel, the complaints con­
tinued, were poorly enforced and regularly dodged. In addition, they 
were prejudicial to the new regime. The Venezuelan Minister noted, 
for example, that the Amalia (owned by the Jesurun House) had 
departed from Curaçao on July 5 destined for Santo Domingo, but 
part of its cargo was transferred on the high seas to another ship and 
the rest in Santo Domingo to the Dutch schooner Carolina (property 
of the Dutch subject, Isaac Haim Pereira, a Jewish merchant of 
Curaçao). In both cases, the cargo had reached the port of Coro and 
the Blues. 

As Corporaal rightly observes,6 the problem stemmed from the loop­
holes in the island's regulation of 1858 regarding the export of war 
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materie! and the inability or unwillingness of the colonial government 
to enforce it satisfactorily. lndeed, war materie! left the Curaçao port 
regularly for Santo Domingo and Haiti, where captains then received 
a certificate that it was not unloaded in a revolutionary section of the 
country. From there it was sent to Venezuela. Sometimes it was even 
directly transported from Curaçao with certification purchased else­
where. The colonial government tried to stop this practice in vain by 
requiring that unloading take place in the presence of a Dutch consul. 
Merchants were adept at finding ports where there was no Dutch 
consul. 

The Dutch Foreign Minister's refutation was unclear and far from 
strong. Determinedly loyal to the sacred gospel of free trade - as was 
the Governor of Curaçao - he hotly defended it in spite of flagrant 
transgressions. No government, he argued, could be required to place 
obstacles in the way of free trade and commerce in its territory for the 
sake of another government. I t would be preposterous to ask colonial 
authorities to do so. If President Guzmán Blanco objected, he should 
try to stop this trade himself. Ships were permitted in port for repairs 
and coal. Even "pirates" were given this treatment in neutral ports. 
What happened outside of Curaçao's territorial waters was not the 
responsibility of the colonial government. 

The complaint that the Dutch man-of-war Kijkduin convoyed three 
Dutch ships to Coro, one of the ports blockaded by the Guzmán regime, 
under the pretext of bringing back Dutch subjects whiie in reality 
merchandise was brought to Curaçao was, the Dutch Foreign Minister 
emphasized, an insinuation, adding that a Dutch man-af-war was free 
to do convoy duty. Despite an ensuing hot debate - the Chamber 
did not swaIIow this nonsense - he refused to give interpeIlating 
members further particulars on this matter. Governor Wagner's corre­
spondence makes dear that Dutch subjects had indeed been brought 
back by the Kijkduin and that the so-called merchandise was part of 
their property. 

Last but not least came the grievances against the Jesurun House, 
induding reasons for the seizure of the Hon/leur and the Sarah. Jesurun 
hirnself was considered by the new rulers - and probably rightly so - as 
the chief supplier of war materiel to the opponents of the guzmancista 
government. This government considered him their agent; he trave!ed 
around making propaganda against the new regime to obtain support 
for the Blues. He conducted himself as minister plenipotentiary, con­
duded contracts, participated in councils, and used his wealth and 
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ships to fight the Yellows. He had even been so brazen as to come to 
La Guaira where the new government could have rightly imprisoned 
him. Out of respect for his nationality, it had only prohibited his leaving 
the republic unless he foreswore further interference in Venezuelan 
internal affairs. This he had stubbornly refused to do because the new 
government had not recognized his claims. A pledge of non-interference 
by Jesurun to the Governor of Curaçao might have solved many 
problems, it was suggested. The governor, however, had not reacted. 
In the meantime, Jesurun had gone into hiding and sailed back to 
Curaçao aboard the Eduardo under I talian flag. 

The Honfleur, continued the Venezuelan document, was no Dutch 
packet-boat, but rather a Dutch ship chartered by the Venezuelan 
government to transport mail. The diplomatic corps, concerned about 
its seizure, had protested because of misinformation provided by Rolan­
dus; consequently, it had not joined him in his second protest. The 
Sarah was seized because it had brought 1,000 rifles and other war 
materiel to La Guaira while that port was still in the hands of the 
Blues. On orders of the former regime the Sarah had sailed to Maturln, 
and on its way back to La Guaira this port had changed hands. 

The Dutch Foreign Minister stressed in his answer that any trans­
action with the conservative regime - as long as it had some power -
could not be considered a violation of neutrality. If Jesurun had 
committed a crime against the Venezuelan government - the new 
one - it should have arrested and tried him. I t had not done so. With 
re gard to the claims of his firm against that government, the Minister 
did not consider them his government's concern. Conveniently, the issue 
of Jesurun's loans was omitted together with its possible political im­
plication and the fact that even Rolandus once had warned about the 
consequences and the possibility of an inflation of Jesurun's claims. 

In retrospect, Jesurun's conduct is not too difficult to assess. His firm 
had committed itself with loan af ter loan to successive liberal Venezuelan 
governments and not one of them had been able to maintain itself 
in power, let alone honor its financial commÏtments. As soon as con­
servatives obtained con trol of the administration and Jesurun's hopes 
of repayment dimmed, the Curaçao firm sustained the exiled Yellows, 
providing them with arms and long-term credit in another bid for 
power. In this operation, the Jesurun neet was placed at the disposal 
of the liberals and transported their troops and provisions. All this was 
proffered for usurious prices as the risk was high. Consequently, if these 
efforts produced the desired results and the liberals gained con trol, they 
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would he faced with a costly bilI for services, materiel, loans, and 
damages incurred in support of their cause. 7 

If they refused to pay, Jesurun, in a shrewd analysis of the situation, 
could choose among several aIternatives. He could change parties and 
start the same game again with the Blues. If neither of the two parties 
was wilIing to pay he could demand The Hague's diplomatie support 
which, foolishly enough, was always given. This sometimes produced 
resuIts, although in that case the role of the Dutch envoy in Caracas 
was not an enviable one. This explains, at least partly, Guzmán Blanco's 
rage against Rolandus. His feelings toward the Dutch representative 
never changed, but his attitude toward Jesurun did. The compounded 
problems of the Venezuelan treasury, dramatically increased by Vene­
zuelan political instability, forced the new aggressive ruler to view 
Jesurun's weaIth and credit as vital to his nation's survival.8 

Shortly af ter the Dutch Foreign Minister had answered the hectic 
interpellation of the Second Chamber - "very Ullsatisfactorily" as a 
special committee later observed - one of the regular shufflings in the 
Dutch Cabinets of those days caused his replacement by Baron Gericke 
van Herwijnen, a somewhat more conservative memher of the Dutch 
ruling elite. Changes in Venezuela were more spectacular, as they 
resuIted in Guzmán Blanco's virtual control of the republic. Conse­
quently, the seÎzure of Dutch ships trading with his opponents decreased 
as there were fewer ports through which to disembark arms and 
ammunition for the Blues. A main source of irritation and persistent 
concern was thus eliminated.9 Some incidents continued to occur, of 
course, and clouded the promise of a brighter future. lO 

In this unfolding small-scale Caribhean drama, the attitude of the 
Curaçao governor perfectly reflected that of his liheral-minded superiors 
in The Hague. During the latter half of the nineteenth century, the 
Kingdom of the Netherlands was ruled by liberal Cabinets. Although 
they alternated - as in Great Britain -- with more conservative­
oriented ministries, the general tag of liberalism, extreme or moderate, 
can safely he applied to all of them. Free trade was the gospel of the 
period. That this atttitude would involve the Dutch in a fray with 
the Venezuelan republic was regarded as a minor risk. 

Nevertheless, at this point The Hague was willing to bargain, know­
ing that further causes of friction with the republic had to be eliminated. 
I t arranged a compromise in the fonn of a Royal Decree which would 
replace - at the Curaçao governor's convenience - the loosely written 
colonial regulation of 1858 regarding the trade in war materie!. Dated 
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February 27, 1871, the Royal Decree prohibited all export from Curaçao 
of fireanns, gunpowder, and other war materiel, with violation punish­
able by imprisonment and/or fine,u In case of seizure and arrest, the 
confiscation of cargo and ship could follow.l.2 

This decree inherently conceded greater independence to the Governor 
of Curaçao. It became his prerogative to enforce or to suspend the 
decree, depending on his judgment and the advice of the Colonial Raad. 
If the governor suspended it - and he was also required to consult 
the chargé d'affaires in Caracas, hopefully soon to be appointed - the 
regulation of 1858 would onee again go into effect. 

This Royal Decree, intended to last one year, was received in the 
colony by the end of March and became effective April 8. Wagner's 
speed is understandable since the export of war materiel greatly en­
dangered already strained relations with Venezuela.13 

If The Hague now expected a period of relaxation, it greatly under­
estimated the smugglers' wits and ingenuity. Clouds again accumulated 
over the blue skies of Curaçao and a multitude of incidents soured the 
life of its governor. Guzmán Blanco, completing his victorious con trol 
over the Venezuelan republic, viewed the island as a major factor 
compounding his existing problems. His opponents, detennined to end 
the Great Liberal's rule as quickly as possible, opened new roads toward 
that goal during their Curaçao exile, conspiring in their usually noisy way 
and launching campaigns for funds and loans to which greedy merchants 
were willing to succumb. 

In late November, 1870, the Attorney General of the Curaçao colony, 
Willem Sassen, suggested that the governor evict the American schooner 
Virginius, suspected of piracy.14 Wagner did not heed this advice, 
perhaps because of the mounting animosity between himself and the 
Attorney General, the highest ranking colonial official under his 
jurisdiction. Sassen ebulliently maintained that the V irginius had chased 
the Dutch schooner Glir as "a pirate of the worst kind." 15 What really 
happened illustrates the unfortunate and complicated nature of the 
problems racking the island and the republic. 

The Glir (owner unknown) had left Curaçao destined for St. Martin. 
Outside the island's territorial waters it had delivered coal and provisions 
to a Blue flotilla. The V irginius had also left Curaçao destined for 
Cuba, where the Ten Years' War promised unlimited profits for un­
scrupulous traders, but, for some reason, had changed course and joined 
the naval forces of Guzmán Blanco off Puerto Cabello, seizing his 
opponents' schooners and trying vainly to capture the Glir.16 On 
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December 8, the V irginius, which had dropped anchor again in Curaçao, 
left of its own free will, thus relieving the governor of at least one 
headache. But Wagner was soon troubled by others. 

Jacob Rois Mendes, who claimed to be the legitimate commercial 
agent of the new Venezuelan government, unleashed a series of docu­
mented complaints against the freshly-arrived exiles - now of the 
Blue party - who, as he maintained, were conspiring against his 
government by printing seditious pamphlets. Mendes was, like Jesurun, 
a wealthy and prominent member of the island's Jewish community, 
an owner of ships and a dockyard.17 The reason for his joining the 
Yellows was, perhaps, simply profit. 

Among the new exiles in Curaçao, General Ignacio Galán played 
an important role. Expel him, suggested Mendes ;18 but it was not that 
easy. General Hernández, who was defending the last Blue bastions in 
the republic, sent Wagner a letter in which he accused several Curaçao 
inhabitants of supporting Guzmán Blanco. Clumsily worded, the accu­
sation lacked perspective but, shortly afterwards, Hernández fled his 
own country and arrived on the island to join the exiled opponents of 
the new ruler and to compound Wagner's problems. 

Considered more closely, Mendes' complaints also included Abraham 
M. Chumaceiro, a Jewish lawyer who, in early 1871, published and 
distributed an anti-Guzmán Blanco pamphlet entitled What in Vene­
zuela Is Called the Liberal Party Judged by Itself (Lo que en Venezuela 
llaman Partido Liheral juzgado por si mismo). In suing Chumaceiro 
for this attack on the new Venezuelan government, Mendes had the 
satisfaction of achieving a certain success. First, a Jewish judge in 
charge of the case, Sol Cohen Henriques, petitioned the governor to he 
disqualified for fear of causing unpleasant repercussions within the 
Jewish community. He was replaced by a Protestant. Chumaceiro then 
was fined 200 guilders plus 50 guilders in court costs.19 

The main thrust of Mendes' complaints had no effect. No Venezuelans 
were expelled. As Wagner pointed out to the commercial agent, there 
Was no written proof of conspiracy. Besides, the Curaçao governor at 
this point seemed almost obsessed by an exquisite consciousness of 
neutrality with re gard to the belligerents in Venezuela. 

Shortly before the end of 1870, the Dutch schooner La Gracia de 
Dios, unaware that Coro had changed hands, was seized by the guzman­
cista officials of that town. The ship was the property of Jeudah Senior, 
a Curaçao Jew and sympathizer of the Blues. He immediately requested 
colonial intervention on his behalf.lIO Wagner, deeply concerned, con-
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sidered the request to be reasonable. The commander of the man-of-war 
stationed in Curaçao (Amstel) received orders to investigate this seizure 
and, if necessary, demand restitution. At the same time, he had orders 
to avoid violence.21 The Amstelleft Curaçao January 10 and returned 
a week later with the news that the new regime had incorporated the 
ship into its embryonic war navy. There was no real effort to obtain 
the release of the schooner. But at the end of March, Wagner received 
the news from Guzmán that his government, to show its good faith, 
had ordered the return of the seized ship.22 

The central problem faced by Wagner was how to interpret the new 
regime's actions in this and other cases and how to discern some 
coherence in apparently whimsical acts. The generous gesture seems to 
have been part of an elaborate campaign initiated by Guzmán to 
pressure the colonial government into certain actions. Venezuelan 
dependence on Caribbean islands like Curaçao and Trinidad for its 
imports and exports irritated the Great Liberal and his father and 
offended growing national pride in the republic. Added to this situation 
- already an intolerable one for Guzmán Blanco - was the vast extent 
of illegal trade which hurt the Venezuelan treasury considerably. 

Realization of this particular Venezuelan attitude grew slowly, for at 
this date the new regime's actions were hardly coherent. Guzmán had 
not yet clearly defined his goals and was still groping in the dark. But it is 
evident that he was aware of Curaçao's stranglehold over the Venezuelan 
economyand tried to reverse that situation. Still probing his course, his 
actions confused and mystified the cool and unimpulsive Wagner. 

At the beginning of February, 1871, the Curaçao governor was 
approached by José Maria Ortega -a general of considerable reputation 
in the new regime - commissioned to negotiate for the return of 
two Venezuelan men-of-war at anchor in the Curaçao port which had 
served the conservative cause before its collapse.23 Somewhat earlier, 
Mendes had sent the governor a letter regarding the two vesseIs.24 But 
Guzmán's special representative raised the topic to such a level that 
Wagner could no longer ignore it. Calling Guzmán's approach "a 
bombastic introduction" - Wagner never understood the Illustrious 
American's mind - the Curaçao governor was confronted with a firm 
demand: return the ships.2S Guzmán tried to bolster this request by 
implying that fighting in Venezuela had ended and that a belligerent 
Blue faction no longer existed. The Dutch governor considered this 
wishful thinking and denied the request. 

Perhaps it would have been wiser if Wagner had acceded, since 
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Guzmán's ingenuity in pursuing his goals could hardly be called waver­
ing. Instead of again making the same request, he introduced a set of new 
eomplaints adding them to the Venezuelan litany of August 12, 1870. 
Now, however, the tone was definitely bitter.lI6 In order to obtain 
maximum result, their strategie aspects were now inflated with the 
slighting remark that 

"the poliey whieh is developing systematically could result in a 
palpably bellicose situation, but will be incapable of materializing 
the goal of an assault on Venezuela, whose twenty states now are 
united under the Federal Government. It is, however, capable of 
causing disturbances in part of the Western coast, to burden our 
treasury, to keep the toreh of dissent burning, and to cause the 
shedding of more and more Venezuelan blood." 27 

Other vessels (under Venezuelan or Dutch flag) , he wrote, leave Curaçao 
with rebels aboard to execute expeditions against our country. Ris pent­
up rage exploded with a threat: "We will immediately order that all 
communication of whatever character or under whatever flag be broken." 
He realized that this could cost "sensitive losses to the innocent people 
of Curaçao" and "witness a long series of hostilities." 28 

Wagner remained cool in spite of these hot words. He wrote his 
superior, the Dutch Minister for the Colonies, of the attempts of the 
Venezuelan dictator to pressure him, and outlined what he had done 
to prevent further Venezuelan complaints.29 Rejecting as ridiculous the 
rumors of a planned attack on the island, he referred to a sore point 
of Venezuelan anger: exiled Blues on colonial soil. In recognizing 
this irritation, he felt that it could not be removed by regulation 
or prohibition within the liberal framework of certain freedoms. In 
addition, geographical proximity of the island would remain as an 
insurmountable obstacle to efforts to end tensions. Modestly phrasing 
his eonclusions, he wrote: "I agree with Mr. Guzmán that this exercises 
a certain influence on affairs of his country." But that Guzmán Blanco 
could tilt the tables by seizing the island the governor rejeeted. Re had 
a low regard for the Venezuelan fleet: "it would he scattered," he 
growled, "by the Amstel alone." 30 

1bese complaints demonstrated the other side's careful wateh over 
the island, aided by efficient spying. Understandably reluctant, Wagner 
was forced to accept the revealing evidence of a division in the Curaçao 
population between Blues and Yellows.31 Nor did matters improve with 
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the publication of the acrimonious comments of the Guzmán Blanco 
regime's well-known mouthpiece, the vociferous Opini6n Nacional, a 
paper which helped foster a pronounced anti-Dutch sentiment in the 
republic. 

There were more complications. Before Guzmán Blanco's rise to 
power in 1870, the conservative govemment had seized three Dutch 
schooners owned by Curaçao Jews, among them the Adelicia, belonging 
to Mendes. The Yellow regime retumed them promptly because the 
owners were all sympathizers and supporters of the liberal cause, and 
at least one was compensated for damages.32 

Most incidents, however, incurred discomfort and tension for the 
colonial government, and conditions in the course of 1871 became 
increasingly explosive. In May, 1871, Wagner received a letter from 
General Venancio Pulgar, accusing the owner of the plantation Piscadera 
on Curaçao of manufacturing firearms and cartridges for the Blues.33 

In September, the bark Gobernador de Aruba, filled with arms and 
ammunition, stranded on a Curaçao reef and broke in two.34 

Thus, as the year 1871 rapidly passed, the battle lines became more 
firmly drawn. War materiel continued to be exported in spite of the 
Royal Decree, and the colonial govemment - of ten accused of being 
in league with the merchants - struggled desperately to adopt the 
correct neutral position. The govemor, it seems, could not always count 
upon the full cooperation of higher colonial officials. This probably 
occurred in the case of General Matlas Salazar, who in October had 
published in Curaçao a manifesto arousing the Great Liberal's wrath 
because it announced his future destruction. Before Wagner could 
interfere, the general had fled. The Venezuelan government was properly 
informed of this.35 

In February, 1872, Wagner extended the Royal Decree.36 The effects 
of this policy slowly grew more apparent with each passing month and 
in the long run seem to have kept exports well under con trol. At the 
same time, Guzmán Blanco's grasp on the Venezuelan republic also grew 
stronger. Although moderation and dignity did not always characterize 
his regime's dealing with its opponents, a relaxation of tensions resulted 
and self-restraint was applied to its observance of peaceful conservatives. 

Vet Wagner's good expectations were newly challenged. Some Curaçao 
merchants, faced with the end of the profitable trade in arms and war 
materiel, grew restless. They first requested the governor suspend the 
new decree, which was within his prerogatives. Af ter meeting with surly 
refusal, they asked that Rolandus, still on the island, take their 
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request to the Foreign Office in The Hague.37 Foolishly enough, the 
fonner chargé d'affaires consented. The petition was denied.38 

Now the relations between Curaçao and the republic moved rapidly 
toward a more favorable latitude. In June, 1872, Wagner suggested a 
suspension of the Royal Decree on condition that Venezuela did not 
object,38 and made himself an instant friend of all war materiel 
merchants. The Hague, however, objected, and advocated a more 
cautious course, fearing that the island would once again become a 
center of conspiracy and smuggling against the Caracas government. 
The happy softening of tensions seemed to promise long duration when, 
in the fall, a new Dutch chargé d'affaires arrived in the Venezuelan 
capital to replace the unlucky Rolandus. 



6. RESTORATION OF RELATIONS 

In spite of continuous Venezuelan complaints about export of war 
materiel, the colonial government's attitude toward (Blue) exiles, the 
seizure of Dutch ships, and other irritating actions, the severed diplo­
matic relations worried Guzmán Blanco, and he repeatedly assured 
Wagner of his regime's friendly dispostion.1 By late 1870, the Venezuelan 
Foreign Minister had begun to ponder the best solution to this problem. 
In nominating J. M. Torres Caicedo as ambassador to The Hague, he 
chose an experienced diplomat who was categorized as a staunch liberal 
and had perfonned weIl in an earlier conflict during the Falcón 
presidency. Torres was in Paris, however, which was under siege by 
the Prussian army.2 Eager to end the impasse, Guzmán now turned 
to the Venezuelan ambassador in France, Lucio Pulido, who at that 
time happened to be in Liège (Luik), Belgium, for health reasons. 
On April 18, 1871, this representative of the Venezuelan govern­
ment arrived in The Hague and requested an audience with the Dutch 
Foreign Minister, Baron L. Gericke van Herwijnen.3 

Like Torres, Pulido was a loyal follower of the Great Liberal Party, and 
together with his brother, General José Ignacio Pulido, was well-known 
among the new ruling elite. In spite of Pulido's astute maneuvering it 
took a year before a new Dutch chargé d'affaires was accepted by 
Caracas.4 

The Dutch Foreign Minister appreciated the Venezuelan approach 
and was quite willing to abandon what seemed to be the main obstacle 
to improved rapport: Rolandus. Given the Dutch willingness to sacrifice 
their fonner representative, both countries suddenly found a basis on 
which they could conduct negotiations. There was no effort to have 
Rolandus accepted temporarily to save Dutch face "because of the 
invincible repugnance" of the Guzmán Blanco regime.6 

Two aspects of the incident still remained to be settled. The first 
had a double objective: an official apology demanded by the Dutch, 
ostensibly the offended party, in which the Venezuelan government 
would express its regret for what had happened and decIare its sincere 
desire to reestablish durable ties. This would manifest itself in the 
reception of a new Dutch representative in Caracas with "exceptional 
honors." 11 The second point was more complicated, having to do with 
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claims of Dutch subjects in Curaçao against the Venezuelan government. 
Without recognizing the fuH amount of these claims, Pulido astutely 
suggested postponing discussions on this topic until af ter renewal of 
normal diplomatic relations. The Dutch Foreign Minister acceded, 
thereby suffering severe criticism in the Second Chamher. He defended 
himself by observing that agreement on these claims would he difficult 
to negotiate without nonnal diplomatic contact.7 

Crucial to the comprehension of this incident is the fact that 
both countries were willing to assume certain responsibilities in order 
to arrive at a durable mutual understanding. Pulido and Gericke 
van Herwijnen signed the definite protocol on March 21, 1872, and 
sÏx days later PuIido was received by King William 111. The Venezuelan 
envoy expressed his government's sincere regret at the disruption and 
its honest desire to enjoy satisfactory, long-Iasting relations. The con­
stitutional monarch replied with platitudes of appreciation and high 
expectations for the future, his speech having been prepared by the 
Dutch Cabinet.8 Two days later, both countries issued a joint declaration 
which deferred financial claims to "later negotiations" in Caracas. There, 
claims would he examined and discussed with the new Dutch chargé 
d'affaires.9 

In view of subsequent events, these negotiations are interesting. Their 
results reflected the slow recognition of the real cause of friction: the 
Dutch liheral gospel of free trade, including traffic in war materiel, 
and of a free press, pennitting Venezuelan refugees to publish pamphlets 
and articles of an offensive and vindictÎ\'e nature against the Caracas 
government. Such considerations did not enter into the debates at this 
time. Much attention was given instead to the Dutch King's ceremonial 
reception of the Venezuelan ambassador in his Royal Palace and to a 
similar perfonnance in the Casa Amarilla where Guzmán Blanco would 
play host to the new Dutch envoy. 

The Dutch and the Venezuelan press rivaHed each other in proclaim­
ing the agreement an unparalleled success for their respective nations. 
With the advantage of hindsight it is not difficult to determine which 
country achieved a victory. Venezuela, although officially cast in an 
apologetic role, had managed to move the crucial negotiations on Dutch 
claims out of The Hague, where they would have been assured of 
maximum support and official Dutch pressure, to Caracas where Dutch 
interests would not he similarly protected. The Second Chamher critics 
had realized this. The Dutch Foreign Minister was slow to recognize 
the importance of this gain for Caracas. 
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It now remained for the Duteh Foreign Minister to find the right 
man for the diffieult position of ehargé d'affaires. He seleeted Johannes 
Brakel, a Captain of Infantry, whose official title was "general consul 
and ehargé d'affaires in the Republies of Venezuela, Colombia, and 
Ecuador." 10 As he had no previous diplomatie experience and spoke 
no Spanish, it is unknown what qualifieations brought this soldier into 
the diplomatie field. This appointment meant the end of Von Güliek's 
term as aeting representative in Caracas. He was awarded with a knight­
hood in the Order of the Duteh Lion. 

In assuming the responsibilities of his new position, Brakel reeeived 
broad instructions indieative of the Duteh view on what eame to be called 
the "Venezuelan Question". He was required first to go to Curaçao, 
where he was to see Governor Wagner and Rolandus and to make an 
exhaustive survey of the Curaçao merehants' monetary claims by con­
taeting them personally. His primary goal in Venezuela was to promote 
friendly relations, to report regularly on the financial and internal 
situation, to become aequainted with the authorities in Caracas, to 
establish good contact with members of the Diplomatie Corps, to remain 
aloof from intemal affairs, to settle disputes orally as of ten as possible, 
and to follow strietly the orders of the Foreign Minister in The Hague. 
It was also reeommended that special attention be paid to the claims 
of the Curaçao merchants.u 

Brakel arrived in Curaçao on August 20, 1872, too late to meet 
Rolandus, who had left the island six weeks earlier.12 He met Wagner 
several times but seems to have rejeeted, from the beginning, the latter's 
somewhat conservative views of the problem. Through an advertisement 
in the Curaçaosche Courant the island's claimants were informed of 
Brakel's readiness to review their respeetive claims against Venezuela. 
Several merchants made use of this offer, among them the other partner 
of the Jesurun House, Jacob A. Jesurun, and Jeudah Senior with his 
son.13 Together with Isaae Pardo who lived in Caracas, the Seniors and 
the Jesuruns were the Duteh claimants to the so-called "diplomatie 
debts" of Venezuela. Brakel's stay on the island lasted three weeks. 

On September 9, the new Duteh envoy left Willemstad on the 
man-of-war Kijkduin for La Guaira. Two days later, he had his first 
audienee with Venezuelan Foreign Minister Guzmán in Caraeas.14 

Af ter a short discussion of the meaning of certain paragraphs of the 
agreement eoncluded with Pulido in The Hague, it was agreed that 
Brakel could present his credentials to the Venezuelan president. Thus, 
relations were restored.1li 



7. DUTCH CLAIMS 

The diplomatie clash between the European and the Caribbean nation 
had not made the respective parties lose sight of a most urgent aspect 
still to he settled: that of Dutch monetary claims. Venezuela was con­
stantly in need of money. Indeed, the Curaçao money lenders had made 
loans to successive governments of the republic since the days of Gran 
Colombia, when Curaçao Jews were invited to settIe in Coro, where 
they were guaranteed protection and religious freedom. Around 1830, 
the city even seems to have had a Jewish mayor, and Jews of Curaçao 
origin soon constituted a vital part of the Venezuelan coastal economy.l 

During subsequent revolutions these Jews usually cooperated closely 
with local governments. Understandable differences arose, however, and 
in 1848 some Jews complained to the Dutch consul in Coro that 
government purchases had remained unpaid. This was the modest 
beginning of a series of Dutch claims which lasted until the days of 
Juan Vicente Gómez, sometimes reaching explosive dimensions. 

In reviewing the origin of these claims, it becomes clear that Jews 
were forced to cooperate with local authorities because they needed 
their protection. Thus the governor and the Coro military commander 
customarily compelled the Jews to "Iend" large sums for maintaining 
the Coro garrison - a fort with about 300 men - and sometimes for 
paying government salaries. This was obviously only a small step 
away from pure blackmail, but the Jews were in no position to object. 
In 1854, however, they refused a new payment or "loan", since recent 
decisions in Caracas made the central government loath to back these 
"loans". The lack of federal guarantees stifled what little willingness 
the Jews feit to provide "loans". 

The predictabie consequence of this attitude was the disbanding of 
the Coro garrison under the pretext that there was no money, giving 
unruly elements in the population a free hand. The immediate result 
was the sudden circulation - perhaps supported by angry local author­
ities - of several pamphlets inciting the populace against the now 
unprotected Jews. On the night of February 4, 1855, the shops of two 
Dutch subjects, Jeudah Senior and Samuel L. Maduro, were plundered 
and several Jews mistreated. The colonial government of Curaçao, when 
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infonned of these riots, sent two men-of-war, soon to be joined by a 
third from the Netherlands. A general exodus of Jews from Coro to 
Curaçao exemplified their feelings. The refugees, 160 in all, found the 
entire island community in sympathy with them.3 

This aggressive, anti-Jewish attitude was incidental and did not 
spread to other parts of the republic. A special Dutch envoy sent to 
Caracas to demand an explanation and indemnities for damages suffered 
was weIl received. AIthough Venezuelan authorities at first tried to 
draw a line between Christian and Jewish claimants, the Dutch envoy 
did not accept such discrimination: "We do not recognize a difference 
between Christian and Jew. A Dutch subject is a Dutch subject." 
Prolonged negotiations finally resulted in an agreement to pay victims 
an indemnity of 200,000 guilders (100,000 pesos).4 Interestingly, this 
sum was fully paid by the year 1863, in spite of the unstable politica! 
situation of a republic in the throes of a five-year civil war.5 In 1858, 
some of the affected Jews returned to Coro. 

Since 1848 the house of Jesurun (constantly caUed Jesurum in 
Venezuelan documents) had been involved in certain loans to the 
federal government, backed by guarantees of custOIns receipts from 
various Venezuelan ports. General Falcón suppressed his strong anti­
Semitic feelings, unleashed during the Coro disorders, and sent a dele­
gation to Curaçao in 1864 to negotiate another loan with the Jesurun 
House.6 Af ter 1864, this Jewish firm became the principal Dutch money 
lender to the Venezuelan government. In its agreement with Falcón of 
1865, 25 per cent of Maracaibo's customs-duty receipts was given as a 
guarantee. 

The existing political confusion made new and increased loans a 
dire necessity.7 In 1866 the Curaçao firm, in spite of the totaUy in­
adequate administration of public funds, committed itself to daily loan 
payments of 5,000 pesos (10,000 guilders) over a period of eight months, 
totalling 1,200,000 pesos. The Jewish house certainly accepted a risky 
undertaking, although from this sum would be deducted a daily amount 
of 1,000 pesos over the eight-month period as payment on the 1865 
loan on which the Venezuelan government had not yet paid a penny. 
For the 1866 loan, the government offered a guarantee of 52Y:z per cent 
of the customs duties from Maracaiho and Ciudad BoIlvar.8 In addition, 
the firm would receive 1 ~ per cent monthly interest, or 15 per cent 
yearly. The above-mentioned customs-duty revenues would continue as 
a guarantee until complete redemption. Moreover, Jesurun was to give 
an advance loan of 134,000 pesos, 24,000 in cash, 32,000 in honds 
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payable within 60 days, 32,000 within 90 days, and 46,000 within 
120 days. These also bore a 1~ per cent monthly interest rate, while 
10 per cent of all incoming duties were pledged to redeem these sums. 
The guarantees proved to he empty; Guzmán Blanco was not the man 
to honor costly pledges if his interests Were affected. 

A dangerous aspect of these loons, unperceived at the time, was that 
through these transactions the financial interests of the Dutch/Jewish 
commercial house became closely allied with the course of Venezuelan 
events.9 The two other money lenders, Jeudah Senior and Isaac Pardo, 
followed suit although to a much lesser extent.10 

About the same time similar speculation involved a huge British loan, 
and one wonders if the Jesuruns were aware of it. In 1864, Guzmán 
Blanco concluded a loan in London of .c 1,500,000 or 9,750,000 pesos, 
taldng for himself a whopping 5 per cent commission. This loan was 
also guaranteed by port duties,l1 and what customs revenues were left 
to run the government remain a mystery. French, Italian, Spanish, and 
North American speculators would also soon wonder what would happen 
to their carelessly invested money. 

Thus a few inhabitants of an island whose economy depended on 
trade with Venezuela became important creditors of that republic and 
consequently intensely concemed with Venezuelan intemal affairs. 
Perhaps it would have worked with a stabIe administration in Venezuela, 
a quality most nineteenth-century Venezuelan governments unfortunately 
lacked. As soon as the Falcón regime acquired an appearance of stability, 
various foreign powers with subject creditors took steps to intervene 
for them officially. In February 1864, for example, France concluded 
such an arrangement, followed by Spain in April, 1865; Denmark in 
March, 1866; the United States in April of that same year; and Great 
Britain and Italy in September and October, 1868, respectively.12 By 
refusing to submit claims to arbitration and by contravening the Calvo 
Doctrine, which required foreign licenses to pledge in advance not to 
appeal to their governments for protection of their claims, these agree­
ments adopted the principle of intervention into the internal affairs of 
another nation. 

Because of these negotiations the debts came to be called "diplomatic 
debts". They included foreign claims based on damages incurred in 
civil war or by unjustified government actions in times of stress. The 
character and amount of these claims were usually established af ter 
diplomatie negotiations and were recognized by Venezuela and the 
foreign governments as justifiable.13 
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In 1868, the resulting political and financial imbroglio moved 
the Monagas regime to consolidate the agreements into one single 
obligation. This effort to simplify the bureaucratic side of loan pay­
ments concurred with the sincere desire to protect foreign as weIl as 
Venezuelan interests. It was misinterpreted because of the simultaneous 
attempts to decrease the amount of duties pledged to redeem these 
debts. France, which was collecting 17 per cent of the incoming duties 
of the customs houses of La Guaira and Puerto CabeIlo, frustrated 
this effort.14 During the peak of these disputes, the Dutch chargé 
d'affaires Rolandus tried unsuccessfully to unite Great Britain, Denmark, 
the United States, and the Netherlands against the Caracas government, 
thus earning him the outspoken dislike of Guzmán Blanco.15 

Under the combined pressure from Germany, Great Britain, Spain, 
Italy, and Denmark, the Guzmán Blanco regime reoffered some of 
Monagas' proposals.16 The newly-formed German Empire had even sent 
a small squadron to demonstrate her serious intention to protect her 
subjects' interests.17 

In spite of strained relations between The Hague and Caracas, or 
perhaps because of them, the Netherlands refused an invitation to join 
other protesting powers. But her complaints were the same: long 
overdue payment of debts. Different action for similar reasons was 
followed by U.S. President Grant. His somewhat reckless schemes for 
the expansion and extension of U.S. interests into certain areas of 
Latin America were soon very apparent. In his speech to Congress on 
December 4, 1871, he urged that body to begin action under the award 
of the Venezuelan Claims Commission of 1866. The president said with 
a touch of sarcasm: "The internal dissensions of the Venezuelan govem­
ment present no justification for the absence of any effort to meet its 
solemn treaty obligations." 

Guzmán Blanco reacted to this rather belligerent speech through his 
gifted mouthpiece, Foreign Minister Guzmán, who protested no less 
belligerently.18 According to a letter from the Dutch ambassador in 
Washington, it even appears that as aresult Grant advocated a punitive 
expedition against Venezuela,19 although he refused to cooperate with 
the European powers. It certainly was not in accord with the Monroe 
Doctrine for the U.S. to join Europe in any action, political or other­
wise, in the American hemisphere, which the U.S. wanted to draw 
totally into her own economie and political orbit. Nor did the German 
squadron accomplish anything but induce Guzmán Blanco to decIare 
his willingness to reopen the matter which was probably the German 
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government's goal. The U.S. offered to mediate in the impending 
problems of foreign claims (including her own) and thus to play the 
role of peacemaker. This anticipated the international policeman role 
Theodore Roosevelt was to proclaim in a later age.20 

As previously mentioned, the Netherlands refused all invitations to 
diplomatic cooperation. Nor did she accept the suggestion of solving 
problems by force, believing that peaceful wooing would achieve better 
results. In addition, she had just agreed to discuss her claims through 
the newly-appointed chargé d'affaires. To a cautious Dutch government 
it appeared inappropriate to participate in a combined action at the 
moment relations were beginning to improve. 

There was still another important reason for Dutch forbearance. 
Mter an almost twenty-year occupation by France (1795-1813) and a 
fifteen year period as a buffer-state created by the Congress of Vienna 
(1815-1830), the Dutch and the Belgians had adopted their separate 
ways. The former assumed a passive role in the European concert of 
nations, a role dictated by their decreasing importance in international 
politics. They successfully maintained this posture throughout the nine­
teenth century and were hesitant to compromise themselves in an 
alliance with the three strongest European powers: France, Germany, 
and Great Britain. There was no inducement for the Dutch to cooperate 
with any one of them. It is true that af ter the separation of Belgium 
and the development of the Dutch East India Empire, the Dutch 
merchant marine increased considerably and investments abroad grew 
rapidly. Vet the old overseas consciousness was gone forever. The 
Netherlands withdrew permanently from the Great Power politics in 
which she had dabbied for two centuries and placed great reliance on 
neutral status. With this policy she feIt secure, and in the course of time 
it came to be regarded as a positive good and a sacred international 
duty. 

The unfolding picture of new negotiations between Dutch envoy 
Brakel and Venezuelan Foreign Minister Guzmán changed suddenly 
when the latter resigned, together with the Ministers of Justice and the 
Interior, to participate in the coming elections. This change in the top 
echelon of the Venezuelan bureaucracy was interpreted by Brakel as 
weIl as by William Pile, the U.S. minister, as an unfavorable omen.21 

Brakel gained the impression af ter a visit to Pile that the latter 
intended (whether on orders from Washington or not) to push the 
Venezuelans into accepting a U.S. remedy to cure the foreign claims 
sickness.22 
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Assuring the Diplomatie Corps that retirement of the "diplomatie 
debts" would he arranged in reciprocal cooperation with the ereditors, 
i.e. envoys of the foreign nations involved, the Guzmán Blanco govern­
ment proposed the following: 

Treasury income stemming mainly from eustoms duties, the major 
source of revenue, was assessed, for the first half of the year 1873 at 
1,200,000 pesos or venezolanos (2,400,000 guilders). Of every 100 vene­
zolanos, 55 would he destined for regular government expenses, and 
5 for supplementary expenses. Of the remaining 40 the following 
arrangement was suggested: 

27 per cent for retiring the internal debt 
27 per cent for retiring the external debt 
33 per cent for edueation and publie works 
13 per cent for "diplomatie debts" 23 

This proposal meant that for the first six months of 1873, payments 
destined to retire "diplomatie debts" would amount to 62,400 vene­
zolanos, i.e., 5,2 per cent of the total government revenues. 

Acute observers of the emerging picture soon beeame aware of the 
paradoxical use of the term "reciprocity" by the Guzmán Blanco regime. 
No discussion was held whieh indicated any concern for the views of 
the claimants. The latter were informed - without any aecompanying 
letter of explanation - by sending them the Gaceta Oficial.24 In the 
poliJtieal jargon of the Venezuelan government, "proposals" meant the 
deeisions of Guzmán Blanco. Tbe Illustrious American was a man who 
had Iittle use for diseussions. 

How much these Venezuelan "proposals" were influenced by the 
suggestions of the U.S. envoy Pile is difficult to guess.2ó Pile, whose role 
in these negotiations did not anticipate bis peeuliar and adventurous 
eareer of later days, suggested a sliding scale in whieh payments on the 
"diplomatie debts" would gradually increase. Viewing a promising 
foreign market, however, the U.S. eooperated far beyond merely suggest­
ing a new scale. Moving smoothly, in Pile's plan, from henevolent 
paternalism to barely hidden imperialism, she promised the delivery 
- for payment - of rigged cutters to guard the Venezuelan coast and 
to eurb smuggling. Although these cutters, manned by U.S. crews, would 
sail under the Venezuelan flag, the sisterly con trol was unmistakable. 
Tbe second suggestion revealed an even more intensified supervision: 
Eaeh Venezuelan port would station a U.S. cu stoms offieer to reeeive 
the revenue destined to pay the "diplomatie debts".2G 
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The mushrooming growth of the U.S. foreign market marked her 
increased interest in the Latin American hemisphere. As Secretary of 
State, James G. Blaine formulated this policy a decade later: its aims 
were peace in the area followed by commercial expansion. Undoubtedly, 
Pile's plan was inspired by these objectives. It promised a better deal 
for the foreign claimants, although at the same time it clearly placed 
the republic under U.S. tutelage. Hard to swallow for an independent 
country, it was more so for a ruler such as Guzmán Blanco, the un­
usually arrogant leader of a country with an awakening national 
consciousness. However, the U.S. suggestions had the merit of cata­
pulting the Venezuelan government into considering other proposals. 
Guzmán Blanco realized that in order to stay out of international trouble 
he had to permit some semblance of a debate. Joint deliberations with 
the foreign envoys involved finally resulted in an agreement which 
beeame law, November 30, 1872. Basically, this meant that it could not 
he terminated by unilateral decÏsion.27 It affirmed some voiee for foreign 
powers in Venezuelan financial administration with regard to the 
"diplomatie debts", but it is doubtful if the diplomats realized that this 
voice could only he heard jointly; if not it would be lost in the desert.28 

But for the time heing tensions caused by the "diplomatie debts" were 
eased. 

The Dutehj Antillian claims were included in the general agreement 
but their size had yet to he decided. U nfortunately for the claimants, 
Caracas would make this decision. In one of the first meetings between 
Brakel and Guzmán, the latter coolly pointed out that some of the Dutch 
claims were grossly inflated through brihery or deceit, and he expressed 
his confidence that the Dutch government would agree to a revision.29 

The demands of the Jesurun House formed the lion's share of the 
Dutchj Antillian claims. They were divided hetween old ones dating 
hefore April 27, 1870 (the day Guzmán Blanco took over), incurred in 
loans and trade with alternating Yellow and Blue governments, and 
new ones resulting from the seizure of the Honfleur and the Sarah 
and the arrest of Abraham J. Jesurun. There was some serious doubt 
from the Venezuelans about some of the enormous bill's items. By 
adding a monthly interest of 1 ~ per cent, old claims had increased 
to 585,509,55 venezolanos or 1,171,019,10 Duteh guilders by Mareh 
31, 1873. With the assurance of diplomatie intervention the firm 
had padded this claim with some new items: 60,000 venezolanos for 
damages caused by the seizure of the Ho nfleuT, 10,000 venezolanos 
for damages caused by the seizure of the Sarah, and 250,000 venezolanos 
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for damages caused by the arrest of Jesurun and losses to his finn. Thus 
the total claim of the Jesurun House incurred af ter April 27, 1870 
came to 320,000 venezolanos.30 Some time later the damages caused by 
Jesurun's arrest, first estimated at 100,000 venezolanos (included in the 
above-mentioned 250,000 venezolanos) increased to 140,000, bringing 
the total neW claim to 360,000 venezolanos or 720,000 guilders.31 The 
old and new claims of the Jesurun House combined amounted to 
845,509,55 venezolanos or 1,891,019,10 guilders, not including the 1~ 
per cent interest the Curaçao finn thought it could rightfully add to 
its new claims. 

The talks between the extensively-instructed Brakel and the Vene­
zuelan government were hampered hy an accumulation of com­
plaints about the revolutionary activities of Venezuelan exiles in Curaçao 
- now, of course, belonging to the anti-guzmancista or Blue group -
and complicated by seÏzures of Dutch ships. These irritations will be 
discussed in the next chapter. They did not seriously interrupt the 
negotiations since both sides were eager to maintain a dialogue, but 
other problems arose. 

In early 1873, the Venezuelan Congress adopted some laws concerning 
foreigners. They stipulated that "foreigners who take part in Venezuela's 
civil strifes lose the right to claim compensation for damages incurred 
by military or other actions." 32 The real implications of these laws in 
connection with foreign claims did not escape the attention of the parties 
involved, and several countries protested. U.S. minister Pile seemed to 
have received instructions "to protest unofficially against some articles", 
and he stated that "their application will not be silently accepted by the 
U.S." 33 Great Britain objected in more general tenns. 

Confronted with these protests the Guzmán Blanco regime, weIl aware 
of the lack of cooperation among the interested powers, did not yield. 
The French, who considered the new laws "not unjust", assured it their 
support. But France had a separate agreement with Venezuela, dating 
back to 1856, which was very advantageous to her claimants, and for 
this reason did not protest.a4 Italy foresaw difficulties but also refrained 
from protest, probably in order not to irritate the Great Liberal.35 

The Jesurun House, accused of siding with the enemies of the Guzmán 
Blanco regime, was maneuvered into a peculiar position. It had lost 
any right to make claims according to the new laws. The 0 pinión 
Nacional, the fervent propaganda tooI of the liberal regime, stated this 
sarcastically in an article justifying the official position: foreigners had 
no right to compensation in cases where this same right was denied to 
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inhabitant natives.36 This self-righteous declaration manifested a feeling 
erupting not only in Venezuela but in the whole of South America, 
denying foreigners any extra rights and putting them on a par with other 
inhabitants. Somewhat earl ier, the Calvo Doctrine had provided a more 
concise formula for this feeling. 

In this atmosphere and against the background of the government's 
aforementioned proposals, Brakel's negotiations on Dutch claims with 
Guzmán's successor, D. B. Barrios, were far from easy.37 The Jesurun 
claims were suddenly placed on delicate grounds. Making it very clear 
that it considered some of the items inflated, the Venezuelan govern­
ment rejected the greater part in plain terms. It was equally reluctant 
to accept the high interest rate. It did not reject earlier agreements 
with Dutch/ Antillean claimants, however, such as one concluded 
through Rolandus November 10, 1869, in which a Jesurun claim of 
347,706,26 venezolanos was recognized.3S Brakel had to compromise 
in a drastic way: the Jesurun claim was almost cut in half before 
agreement was reached to include it in the "diplomatic debts". 

Jesurun's lawyer in Holland, Van Eck, protested.39 In this man, the 
Curaçao firm found a potent advocate of its cause. As a member of the 
Second Chamber he could ask any minister embarrassing questions, and 
he did. 

In January, 1874, the Venezuelan government appointed a special 
plenipotenciary, Alejandro Goiticoa, to discuss with Brakel some remain­
ing difficulties and to finalize "a friendly settlement of the pending 
claims".40 With tbis official, Brakel was able to come to what Venezuela 
called satisfactory conclusions of his negotiations. The decimated claims 
of the Jesurun House, together with those of two other Jewish merchants, 
Jeudah Senior and Isaac Pardo, were finally accepted and included in 
the regular file of the "diplomatic debts". 

Of course, the Venezuelan-Dutch negotiations did not stand apart 
from similar arrangements with other creditors of the republic. Neither 
political nor economic pressure seemed to have played a role in their 
conclusion, and no interests were seriously endangered. Payments, 
suspended since April, 1870, now would be resumed in August, 1873, 
af ter an interruption of nearly three and a half years. If in many cases 
claims were drastically reduced, the feeling among the claimants seemed 
to be that half a loaf was better than none. As Guzmán Blanco 
announced in his message to Congress of 1873, the following items 
concerning foreign claims were decided: 
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a. 13 per cent of each 40 units of national income would be used to 
pay the "diplomatic debts". 

b. English claims would be paid up to the amount settled by a com­
mission already appointed in 1868 (awaiting approval of Congress) . 

c. French claims would be paid as usual, but the amount was inflated 
and had to be redefined. 

d. Danish claims were completely recognized and would be paid. 
e. Spanish claims needed revision. 
f. Italian claims would be excluded from participation in the 13 

per cent. 
g. Dutch claims, as far as they were discussed with the Dutch chargé 

d'affaires, amounted to 400,000 pesos or venezolanos [800,000 guil­
ders]. Some of them were still under investigation. 

h. Claims of the U.S. were under discussion by a commission appoint­
ed in 1866. It was discovered, however, that error and bribery had 
inflated the amount. The Venezuelan Congress was called to make 
a decision, the U.S. being disinclined to accept a revision of the 
aforementioned commission's decision.41 

No reliable proof casts doubt on Guzmán Blanco's sincere intent to 
solve the debt problems; some delicately applied pressure was helpful, 
however, in reminding him of his government's obligation to start pay­
ments, as when representatives of Great Britain, Italy, the Netherlands, 
the United States, and Germany sent a joint note expressing their im­
patience.42 This note, indeed, was a mild variant of a much stronger 
show of force suggested two years earlier to the Dutch government by 
the Germans when difficulties with guzmancista Venezuela started.43 

It is probable that this note was the final inducement to the Venezuelan 
government to honor its obligations. 

Thus payments were resumed August, 1875. The Venezuelan au thor­
ities followed the procedure indicated: 13 per cent of 40 per cent of 
the total revenue. For the first six months of 1873 this amounted to 
roughly 100,000 venezolanos. Of this sum was paid: 

to Great Britain 14,500 venezolanos 
to France 37,200 

" to U.S. 18,400 
" to the N etherlands 9,500 
" to Spain 18,400 
" to Denmark 2,000 
" 

The quota were paid in monthly installments to the foreign envoys 
who distributed them among the claimants. For the time being financial 
disputes had been settled. 



8. THE TRANQUIL YEAR 1873 

Brakel's arrival in Caracas promised to initiate a period of tranquil 
relations between Venezuela and the Netherlands (with her Curaçao 
colony). The satisfactory progress of his negotiations regarding claims 
of the J ewish creditors Was - in spite of the severe cuts in those claims 
- a favorable omen. 

This tranquility existed only on the surface. Ceaseless complaints by 
the Venezuelan government of violations of the Royal Decree of 1871 
continued to accumulate on Wagner's desk. The island, they repeated, 
was a focal point of conspiracy and agitation against the Caracas 
government, while colonial authorities remained hostile or indifferent 
to Venezuelan interests. Two factors contributed to this feeling: a grow­
ing awareness of national independence, together with a realization 
that the political and economie situation of the republic was not as 
stabie as its authoritarian leader wanted or pretended it to be. He 
had grown very sensitive to the role of Jewish smugglers and traders 
in war materiel and to the attitude of colonial authorities. Thus one 
may speculate that at the end of 1872 the Venezuelan Foreign Minister 
had this attitude of his country's president in mind when he assured 
the Dutch chargé d'affaires that "Venezuela enjoyed a complete tran­
quility," but added somewhat ruefully that "the dissatisfied try their 
hardest to involve the republic again in a civil strife. The island of 
Curaçao is close. There they publish their seditious pamphlets ... doing 
everything they would do in hostile territory." 1 

This observation leads us again to the core of the problem as Guzmán 
Blanco visualized it at that time. The apparently good relations between 
his government and the Dutch induced Barrios to make a frank state­
ment (of some stifling details) outlining the possible disastrous 
effect on the republic resulting from failure to enforce the Royal 
Decree of 1871. More efficient con trol was badly needed to stop 
punishable actions like those undertaken by the Dutch schooner La 
Gracia de Dios, purchased or chartered from Jewish merchant, Jeudah 
Senior, by Venezuelan Blue general, J. M. Pirela Sutil. Although this 
plan to bring war materiel to Puerto Cabello was prematurely discovered, 
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the clangerous cargo still had escaped the ann of the Dutch port officials. 
It had been transferred in open sea to another Dutch schooner, the 
Manuelita (owner David Haim Salas, Curaçao), also purchased or 
chartered by Pirela Sutil. This ship was seized in Puerto Cabello and 
brought to Coro. Most disturbing to Venezuelan exiles in Curaçao and 
their relatives and friends in the republic was the seÏzure of many 
brochures and letters revealing the names of some conspirators, among 
them the civilians Felipe Larrazábal, Rafael Hermoso, and Luis Mantel 
Baralt together with those of the generals Ignacio Galán, José Maria 
Pirela Sutil, and Antonio Mendoza.2 

Clearly affected by this discovery, the Venezuelan Foreign Minister 
pointed out to Brakel that his country's interests were gravely endanger­
ed by these alleged conspiracies. Brakel, under strict orders, asked for 
proof. "Those proofs are in Curaçao," retorted an angry Barrios. "My 
information is oral." He nevertheless promised the Dutch chargé 
d'affaires to support his accusations. But at the same time forgetting, 
purposefully or not, the nieeties of nineteenth century diplomatic 
courtesy, he added an open threat: 

"If the colonial government was not willing to end the conspiring 
activities of the exiles and the exportation of war materie 1 onee 
and for all, the Venezuelan government would resort to more 
effective means to defend itself, i.e., to close the coastal ports to 
all commercial relations with Curaçao," 

because, as he explained, "if not, Venezuela would certainly suffer an­
other civil war." 3 

Brakel was weIl aware of the ominous attitude of the Venezuelan 
minister. The latter had made his point very convincingly: without 
commercial relations Curaçao's prosperity was doomed. This awareness 
seems to have pushed the Dutch chargé d'affaires to accept without 
second thought the Venezuelan presentation of the facts. He deemed it 
absolutely necessary that the prerogatives of the Govemor of Curaçao 
he broadened to enable him to expel from colonial territory without 
specific orders from The Hague any foreigner who threatened relations 
with the republic. 

It is questionable whether Brakel realized the range of such an in­
struction. As acting Attomey General of the island, Salomon Senior 
had already observed as early as 1870: "If one wants to expel those 
exiles who participate in the disorders of their country, that measure 
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would extend to almost all exiles hecause without a doubt the vast 
majority is involved in them." Distinctly impressed by his long discussions 
with Barrios, Brakel wrote with some dark premonition that 

"it is now certain that Curaçao, as a result of revolutionary agitation 
and intrigues of the Venezuelan refugees, will he threatened with 
measures of reprisal. What advantage brings their presence to the 
island? Capital? Labor? Morality? None of these." 4 

During the last months of the year, Barrios came up with more com­
plaints. Pedro José Rojas, for instanee, a prominent civilian of the Blue 
faction, imprisoned for several months by Guzmán Blanco despite of 
his bad health, was finally set free. He fled to Curaçao, where he was 
welcomed enthusiastically by rus fellow refugees. Mistaking colonial 
hospitality for a license to scheme, he issued a ridiculous prodamation 
against the Great Liheral, followed by an order of the day in which he 
exhorted all Venezuelans to join him as their leader.5 "The exiles," 
Barrios exclaimed, "hold many meetings in Hotel Americano and I am 
ordered by my president to insist that strong measures he taken." 6 

Brakel's reports, conspicuously sympathetic to the Venezuelan argu­
ments, resulted in an order to Wagner to forbid all political activities 
and demonstrations by foreigners. To facilitate executing such a strong 
measure The Hague decided to send an extra man-of-war to Curaçao.7 

Brakel was instructed to explain the Dutch response to Venezuelan 
demands.8 Simultaneously, however, the Dutch Foreign Minister ad­
monished the chargé d'affaires to moderate his zeal for the Venezuelan 
point of view and to try to understand the problems of the colonial 
authorities. 

Thus the Governor of Curaçao, furnished with broader instructions 
and bowing to Caracas' demands, expelled Pirela Sutil.9 The Venezuelan 
protested but to no avail. He left the island January 7, 1873, destined 
for Santo Domingo. Venezuela responded very favorably to this expulsion 
but her suspicions of a conspiracy were visibly strengthened. 

If the Dutch had expected some increase of goodwill, they certainly 
were soon deeply disappointed. The compromising letters referred to 
earlier, mentioned the names of many prominent exiles. Barrios' favorable 
reaction soon evaporated, and new demands requested the expulsion of 
three other refugees: Felipe Larrazábal, and generals Facundo Camero 
and Ignacio Galán. The Governor of Curaçao, much against his personal 
conviction, again bowed to pressure and complied with the request. 
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Wagner was the more unhappy because he suspected that the Dutch 
chargé d'affaires in Caracas was somehow behind the matter. Later a 
fifth refugee followed. This was José Aniceto Serrano, in the words of 
Wagner "a meddlesome, difficult man, in league with the followers of 
Mr. Sassen." 10 For Serrano the order of expulsion was tragic. He was 
married to a Dutch woman and had lived in Curaçao for over 25 years. 
Much against his will he was forced to leave.l1 General Galán was 
allowed to remain on the island until March 7 because of illness.~ 

Again a calmer period was expected. Af ter the required consultation 
with Brakel and the Colonial Raad, at tbe end of January, 1873, the 
Governor of Curaçao suspended the Royal Decree of 1871. The Vene­
zuelan government, placated by several expulsions, did not object.1s 

Guzmán Blanco responded publicly to this measure in his message to 
the Venezuelan Congress of February 20, 1873: "First Holland and then 
Spain have realized the fairness with which we have maintained our 
friendly relations through representatives who interpret these relations 
in an honest way." 14 

Wagner's bitter feelings also mellowed somewhat, especially because 
of the ministerial warning directed at Brakel, whose pro-Venezuelan 
attitude was beginning to annoy the governor. It was the latter's con­
viction that the refugees were expelled not so much as a result of their 
conspiracies as of Guzmán Blanco's personal vendetta. In leaving the 
island they had indignantly declared that if they ever came to power 
Brakel would immediately be declared persona non grata.15 

Almost overnight Brakel had become a very popular figure in Caracas, 
warmly received by the Guzmán Blanco officials. That "he has made 
himself a very good position in tbe good society of Caracas," was even 
known to Lucio Pulido in Paris.16 The "good society" was, of course, 
the guzmancista faction. 

Tbe Venezuelan government's willingness to initiate negotiations on a 
mercantile treaty with the Netherlands, to improve the inadequate 
regulation of 1830, illustrated this high standing of the Dutch chargé 
d'affaires. The Hague was requested to commission him to represent 
tbe Dutch side.17 

Tbe honeymoon was a short one. 



9. THE CURAÇAO COMMITIEE 

A few tiny clouds appeared in the blue sky over Venezuela and 
Curaçao at the beginning of 1874, heralds of bigger ones to come. 
A new rebellion was to threaten Guzmán Blanco's peace preached with 
the sword and set off a chain reaction of tense events. The discovery 
that arms and ammunition used against the Great Liberal's armed 
forces in a minor revolt had been smuggled from Curaçao via Rio de 
la Haeha in Colombia to the State of Zulia became the first sore point 
of friction.1 It then became known in Caracas that the Jesurun House 
had concluded a loan for the purchase of war materiel with the anti­
guzmancista general in exile, Luis Level de Goda. Finally, a certain 
General Luis M. Diaz, a Venezuelan refugee in Curaçao who directed 
an educational institution called Colegio Vargas, had placed an 
advertisement in the Curaçaosche Courant considered offensive by the 
Venezuelan government.2 

Astrong note, obviously dictated by Guzmán Blanco himself although 
signed by the new Foreign Minister, Jesus M. Blanco, marked the first 
of new complaints and destroyed the relaxed mood prevailing at the 
end of the previous year. 

"The closeness of the island of Curaçao," the note said, ICto the 
coast of Venezuela is the cause that said island is destined by the 
enemies of the peace of the republic to buy their war materiel 
necessary for the realization of their plans there... Curaçao will 
constitute a constant threat for the peaee of the republic if the 
colonial authorities do not take effective measures to stop what 
repeats itself daily." 3 

Regarding the rumor of the Jesurun loan - which probably was true 
- the Venezuelan government retaliated with a suspension of payments. 
Cries of injustice from A. J. Jesurun himself 4 and an immediate action 
in The Hague by the firm's lawyer, Van Eck, alerted the Dutch govem­
ment to the renewed tensions.5 

As for Diaz, the Venezuelan govemment resorted to a familiar tactic 
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and requested his expulsion. In discussing this problem with Blanco 
who displayed little inclination to leniency, Brakel received additional 
proof of Dîaz' supposed "criminal intentions". The Venezuelan minister 
angrily showed Brakel a letter allegedly written by Dîaz, although the 
signature was A. Tejada. Other letters, however, were produced, written 
and signed by Dîaz. Brakel handed them to a Dutch graphologist who 
assured him that they were all in the same hand.6 

The Governor of Curaçao, doubtless burdened by these irrefutable 
facts, was seriously concerned that the situation might get out of hand 
and ordered an immediate investigation into the smugglers' cireum­
vention of isIand regulations. The outeome was revealing. The sehooner 
Lamia, for instance, owned by Venezuelan inhabitants of the State of 
Zulia but sailing under Duteh fIag had, on one of its filibustering 
expeditions, disembarked War materiel in RIo de la Haeha (Colombia). 
Dutch port authorities had given official permission for the export 
because of the destination. Satisfactory assurance had been given - in 
accordance with the regulation of 1858, since the Royal Degree of 1871 
was suspended - that export would not take place to rebeIIious regions. 
The schooner arrived at RIo de Ia Hacha, unloaded its cargo, and as 
Wagner obseIVed, what occurred later was no longer the concern of 
the Curaçao authorities. Colombian officials seized the cargo at the 
request of the local Venezuelan consul, before it was on its way to 
Venezuela.7 

A similar incident had occurred with the Paquete Arubano, which 
had unloaded 300 rifIes and other war materiel in the same port. Back 
in Curaçao when questioned by the Attorney General, the captain gave 
the improbable explanation that he had thrown all cargo overboard 
because of leakage and had been forced to disembark his passengers 
- all refugees - somewhere on the Venezuelan coast.8 

These and other incidents demonstrate the techniques of circum­
venting the law to make huge profits at the cost of increasing friction 
between the island and the republic. They definitely widened the rift 
between Wagner and Brakel. Wagner had built for himself an 
excellent reputation as an efficient administrator and disciplined sub­
ordinate of The Hague. In clashing with a more independently-minded 
Brakel he adopted arealistic and conseIVatÎve attitude in accordance 
with the views of the Minister for the Colonies. "Venezuela requests 
that no export of war materiel should take place other than with the 
knowledge of her government," he wrote his chief. "It is impossible 
to satisfy that demand." Why it would he impossible is simpIe: it would 
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he contrary to the sacred principle of free trade, the venerated essence 
of European liheral economic theory. Wagner could perceive only one 
exception to this principle: if Venezuela should become involved in a 
war or if two belligerent parties existed in the country during civil 
strife.9 He rejected the existence of two such parties at that moment. 

A look at the experience of other islands will place the Curaçao case 
in a larger context. The Danish govemment of St. Thomas, for instance, 
did not permit the export of any war materiel without the permission 
of the consul of that nation to which it was destined. This attitude was 
laid down in consular agreements with several nations including Vene­
zuela. 

However, the incredible fact remained that the Netherlands had 
not included the Curaçao colony in the consular agreement with Vene­
zuela concluded in 1830.1° Hence, there was no recognized Venezuelan 
consul in Willemstad. The so-called commercial agents were only 
accepted as tokens of good-will and to smooth relations, not as official 
appointees of their govemment. "But even if this were so," wrote the 
Curaçao govemor, "1 would not he a defender of the obligation that 
a foreign consul must give his consent." Wagner saw this as an empty 
gesture. "He who exports war materiel, knowing that he would never 
get a permit from the consul in question, would certainly provide him­
self with a permit from another consul, falsify his papers, or buy a 
permit." A possible solution was suggested: the obligation to show 
official papers which would prove that war materie I really was dis­
embarked in the pretended port of destination. 

The govemor's answer touched upon the root of European liberal 
views. Dutch metropolitan politicians and their agents in Curaçao were 
firm believers in this principle of free trade, thinking almost exclusively 
of the importance of overseas markets for their commercial ventures, 
especially for the islands, and overlooking or minimizing political im­
plications. These politicians, Wagner included, hecame export-oriented 
to such a degree that they subordinated all other problems to the 
maintenance of this honored principle, even at the risk of diplomatic 
rupture. Wagner's unsophisticated economic analysis reflects this myopic 
view perfectly. The principle of free trade was a sacred cow to be saved 
at the expense of all other principles. 

Brakel did not profess the same feeling. "This principle of free trade," 
he argued, "voluntarily adopted by the colony, was certainly not chosen 
to cause its decline." Rightly or wrongly, as he wrote the Dutch Foreign 
Minister, Venezuela saw the traific in war materiel from Curaçao as a 
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great danger to be averted at all costs. In effect she said to Curaçao: 
if you give up this traffic, my ports will he open to you. If you don't, 
I will take measures to protect myself. 

These measures, Brakel continued, would cause the destruction of 
Curaçao's vulnerable economy: an obnoxious and hateful obstruction 
to Dutch vessels entering Venezuelan ports, the closing of some of these 
ports, and perhaps the introduction of a differential right of 25 per cent 
on all commodities originating from the Curaçao islandsY 

Brakel's argument was strong. "I am a champion of free trade," he 
wrote. But in view of the island's economic dependence upon trade with 
Venezuela, he asked, what was the wisest thing to do? For him it was 
a rhetorical question. 

In spi te of these problems Guzmán Blanco, in his message to Congress, 
March 13, 1874, did not draw a discouraging picture with regard to 
the Netherlands. He knowingly ignored the exciting issues and limited 
himself to generalities: "Venezuela lives in peace and harmony with all 
other countries," he said and solemnly predicted that "although there 
are some problems to be resolved, these take a tranquil course and will 
be solved in a fair agreement." 12 

Repeated discussions with Blanco in which the Venezuelan Foreign 
Minister insisted on Dlaz's expulsion convinced the Dutch chargé 
d'affaires that it would perhaps not be just but certainly in the best 
interests of the island to sacrifice this refugee. Blanco's repeated threats 
against Curaçao's economy did not fail to influence Brakel. Added to 
that impression were fears: Blanco casually mentioned a Venezuelan 
offer to international steamship companies to include one or more Vene­
zuelan ports in their itineraries on the condition that no ship of such 
company would anchor in Curaçao.13 Whatever Brakel though of Dlaz's 
guilt was no longer important. His fear of Venezuelan retaliation was.14 

In sharp contrast to this state of mind was the attitude of the 
Governor of Curaçao. "The position of the Venezuelan government," 
he wrote, "offends the dignity of the Dutch government. It makes the 
expulsion of Diaz almost impossible." 15 "To heIl with dignity," retorted 
Brakel, "you have to eat, don't you?" But Wagner was not inclined to 
give in to what he defined as blackmail, convinced as he was that with 
the expulsion of Diaz, Guzmán Blanco's demands would only increase.16 

Probably not aware of the striking changes in the republic, he did not 
realize that the Venezuelan dictator had the firm support of the Caracas 
merchants, who were only too happy to help him eliminate a prosperous 
middleman and ruin a dangerous competitorP 
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The new wave of demands created some concern in the Netherlands 
where difficulties in the East Indies had previously absorbed almost all 
attention. Discussions on the Venezuelan Question proceeded erratically 
for several months. Finally, the Dutch Cabinet arrived at a decision in 
which Wagner's views prevailed at the expense of Brakel's. The lat ter 
was curtly informed that the Dutch government "could not carry out 
the desire of the Venezuelan government." 18 Diaz could stay. 

One of the Venezuelan government's assessments had been correct: 
the Lamia and the Paquete Arubano incidents pointed toward a rebellion 
conceived on Curaçao. On October 17 of that year it exploded in Coro, 
masterrninded by General León Colina, and it took Guzmán Blanco 
three long, bloody months to suppress it.t9 Guzmancista units of the 
weak Venezuelan fleet blockaded the rebellious port and the coast of 
the State of Falcón. The Dutch govemment, for once accurately 
estimating the effects of this policy on its colonial possessions sent two 
men-of-war to Willemstad to reinforce the ship already stationed there. 

At the end of October, Wagner received his first inforrnation on the 
revolt, two weeks af ter it had started. Why Brakel, who knew about 
it from the start, failed to inform the Governor of Curaçao remains 
a mystery. The omission would have disastrous consequences. As soon 
as he was informed, Wagner repealed his decision of January 29, 1873. 
The Royal Decree of 1871 was once again in effect. A stiff warning 
was issued to all merchants, shipowners, captains, and crews not to 
become involved in the republic's crisis at the risk of transgressing island 
regulations and exposing themselves to prosecution.2() 

The decision, too late to appease the Guzmán Blanco regime, was an 
empty gesture in the dilemma of controlling the export trade. The 
rebels had already been provided with what they needed and they had 
received ample credit for their undertakings. Venezuela's Foreign 
Minister roared that "Curaçao had carried out an action which cannot 
fail to make a very disagreeable impression upon His Excellency the 
President of the Republic." 21 Already earlier, Blanco had openly 
accused the island of being "a constant threat" to the peace of Vene­
zuela. Curaçao in his words Was the center, "the foyer of a conspiracy" 
against the constitutional government of Venezuela. I t was the head­
quarters of a revolution which it had financed.22 This revolution was 
the brainchild, Blanco continued, of Diaz and financed by what he 
called "the Curaçao Committee" .23 The most prominent members of 
this committee were, besides Diaz, some Curaçao merchants: the two 
partners of the Jesurun House, Oduber,24 Hendrick Evertsz, J. R. 
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Mendes, former commercial agent of the republic who had deserted 
to the anti-guzmancistas, a son and partner of Jeudah Senior (who 
himself stayed neutral) and some refugees from Venezuela - the 
generals Colina, Femando Adames, José Gregorio Riera, Ramón Rivas, 
Romualdo Falcón, and a few others. 

Blanco's formal statement accused the Curaçao memhers of this 
committee of having financed the revolt by giving credit to its Vene­
zuelan memhers and selling them the hardware at good prices. All 
requests to move "that rock", i.e., Curaçao, into taking effective 
measures against the exiles had met, Blanco indignantly pointed out, 
with rebuffs.21'l They had made the island an arsenal for the enemies 
of the republic. Emphasizing this argument again and again he accused 
The Hague of protecting Jesurun and other Curaçao merchants, who 
out of speculative greed and a criminal lust for profit supplied the 
"treacherous conspirators" with arms to shed the blood of Venezuelan 
citizens. Diaz was not expelled, although his participation in the 
preparation of the revolt was proven. Was this not proof of The Hague's 
complicity? Wagner was, unquestionably, a silent accomplice of Cura­
çao's unscrupulous traders. Blanco's indignant blasts finally came to 
the point. An indemnity would he demanded for all losses suffe red in 
this rehellion. On orders of the angry president, the data for this 
procedure were heing gathered. In the meantime, the Venezuelan 
govemment protested vehemently against the participation of Curaçao 
in her intemal strife and against authorities - here Wagner was meant 
- who collaborated openly or silently with the unscrupulous.26 

Cautious not to throw more oil on the flames, Brakel postponed an 
indignant denial on the pretext that he had to wait for instructions. 
Candor is the wrong catalyst for diplomatic discussions, as he was 
unhappily aware. The arrival of a Dutch squadron in the Caribbean 
- mentioned in the previous chapter - would also he too alarming 
to he swallowed with equanimity and so was kept secret. 

What else could the Dutch chargé d'affaires do? To appease the 
rising damor of the Venezuelans he sent Blanco a copy of the Cura­
çaosche Courant with Wagner's decision to reintroduce the Royal 
Decree of 1871.27 Much too late, sneered the Foreign Minister. 

The situation deteriorated further with the Midas question. On 
October 30, 1874, the Venezuelan port authorities of Cumaná seized 
the Dutch schooner Midas (owner Jesurun House).28 It may have 
been the flagship of the small squadron of three or four ships fitted out 
by the Curaçao Committee. This was maintained by the Venezuelans. 
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The erratic behavior of the Midas sparked new waves of deepening 
indignation. 

The schooner had Ie ft Curaçao on October 24, a week af ter the 
rebellion in Coro had exploded but before Wagner was officially in­
fonned. It had left Willemstad with a cargo of rifles and eight chests 
of ammunition. This was approved because the ship's destination was 
given as Trinidad, and the Royal Degree of 1871 was not yet in force. 
Besides the regular crew of 10 or 12 men, it carried aboard a passenger, 
the mysterious Waldemar Worm, mysterious because nothing is known 
about him except that he paid 1,000 guilders for a trip which could 
easily have been made by regular steamship connections for one tenth 
the price and much more comfortably.29 A humorous and significant 
detail was the fact that the schooner, while leaving Curaçao's St. Ann 
Bay and saluting the Amsterdam fortress, passed Abraham J. Jesurun 
and tbc tumcoat Mendes standing in front of it. 

The Midas sailed from Willemstad to Bonaire and from there to 
Barcelona on the Venezuelan coast, presumably waiting for another 
vessel to which it could transfer its war materiel. The other ship never 
showed Up.30 The schooner then sailed to Tortuga (also on the Vene­
zuelan coast) where it unloaded some of its cargo. The next moming it 
sailed to Punto de Araya. Here Mr. Wonn disembarked with some 
papers but later reappeared. The Midas then sailed to the island of 
Coche where it anchored. Mr. Worm disembarked again, now with 
four chests of ammunition and two of rifles. He retumed af ter some 
time and the voyage was resumed to Cumaná, where they arrived 
late in the afternoon of October 30. 

The Midas entered the port of Cumaná, its captain declared, for 
fresh water. Although he knew that Guzmán Blanco had closed that 
port for international trade, he claimed that it was an emergency. 
The port authorities seized the ship, allegedly for violating orders of 
the president and for carrying war materiel. The crew members were 
tied together like criminals, the captain, the boatswain, and Mr. Worm 
being the only ones allowed to ride mules while they passed through 
the streets of Caracas to be imprisoned.31 Very little food was served, and 
thus the few coins that had escaped the sharp eyes of the greedy guards 
were used to buy provisions. Some members of the crew later showed 
scars and claimed to have been mistreated.32 

Brakel protested. At the time the Midas left Curaçao, he pointed out, 
the Coro rebellion was not yet known there. "Here is no crime nor 
delict," he wrote Blanco, "therefore the traffic in war materiel was still 
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free and legal." 33 Realizing, however, that his posItlon threatened to 

become somewhat ambiguous with Wagner's and the Jesurun House's 
accusations of bis pro-Venezuelan outlook, he accepted the risk of 
adding to the souring relations and informed Blanco of the Dutch 
squadron's mission.34 The Venezuelan reacted bitterly and sarcastically 
with outcries of high emotional voltage. 

Wagner asserted himself with more coolness and decision and less fear 
than Brakel. Upon hearing of the seizure of the Midas, he sent the 
Julieta, sailing under British flag but possibly another unit of the Curaçao 
Committee's squadron, to Cumaná to investigate. The Jesuruns were 
clearly disappointed. They preferred sending the Dutch man-of-war from 
Curaçao, to intimidate the Venezuelans with some "muscle showing".36 

1t required no prophet to predict wh at would happen. The Julieta 
was also seized, not only because she entered a closed Venezuelan port 
but also because it irritated Guzmán Blanco that the Curaçao govemor 
tried to obtain information about the Midas from subordinate local 
officials instead of going through diplomatic channels.36 

The recurrent tensions were amplified by the hostile Venezuelan press, 
with the Opini6n Nacional playing a leading role. Tbis mouthpiece of 
the regime showed strong anti-Curaçao feelings in a trenchant article 
written in December: "Curaçao can only survive because of our disgrace. 
It feeds itself as a crow on our spoils, it is a tumor which thrives on us 
and grows only for the morbid condition of the being to which it is 
attached." These vilifying expressions set the tone for more: "Curaçao 
is the tape worm of our social body, it devours the substance of the 
Republic and keeps her in perpetual convulsion," with the obvious 
conclusion: "Let Curaçao disappear." 37 

Somewhat later the Gaceta Oficial published aresolution which 
ordered public treasury officials to open a separate account of the 
expenses caused by the present rebellion, thus showing that Guzmán 
Blanco meant business with his threat to bill the Dutch for the revolt. 
The Opini6n Nacional reprinted it under the provocative heading: 
"Todo será Justicia". 

Rumors intensified fears of the threatening conflict. Guzmán Blanco, 
it was whispered, not only planned the presentation of a fat bill to the 
Dutch, but also a surprise attack on Curaçao with a fleet of six ships 
and 5,000 men. Wagner communicated this incredible possibility to 
The Hague. The Dutch Foreign Minister remained cool, like his 
governor, belittling the threats to Curaçao's vulnerable position in terms 
of Venezuelan military action and correctly asserting that the aggressive 
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president was far too occupied with subduing the rebellion in his own 
country, to have time for such an attack. Wagner was not so sure. 
Guzmán Blanco, he wrote, was known for his unpredictability. In case 
of a defeat in his own country, he might turn in desperation to a raid 
against the island. He had never forgotten the humiliation of 1870. 
But the Dutch governor felt confident that he could easily stop any 
Venezuelan invasion with the one ironclad he had at his disposal.38 



10. THE DUTCH SQUADRON 

In the mounting tensions hetween Curaçao and Venezuela, the Dutch 
legal position was not a strong one. The rehellion in Coro was un­
doubtedly masterminded in and supported from Curaçao. That the 
Venezuelan government blamed the lackadaisical attitude of colonial 
authorities and the hard-headed policy of The Hague for this revolt 
was understandable. The existence of a revolutionary committee residing 
in the colony and operating with the persistent backing of the Caribbean 
"Rothschilds" and other wealthy Jewish merchants was documented by 
too many witnesses to he denied. Tt therefore seemed incredible that 
the Dutch Foreign Minister dismissed these accusations as fantasies and 
took the serious threats of the Guzmán Blanco regime lightheartedly. 
The seizure of the Midas only slightly concerned him. Three possibilities 
for this seizure were dismissed: violation of the Venezuelan blockade 
announced af ter the eruption of the Coro rebellion; illicit transportation 
of war materiel ; or the participation in a rebellion against the Vene­
zuelan government. The chargé d'affaires in Caracas was ordered to 
request immediate restitution of the ship and compensation for losses 
suffered by its illegal seizure.1 The commander of the Dutch squadron 
plowing the Atlantic toward the West Indies was Ïnstructed to seize 
the M idas and bring the schooner to Curaçao in case the Venezuelan 
government refused to return it. If he could not find the ship, he was 
allowed to capture one or two Venezuelan vessels and bring those to 
Willemstad as bargaining tools.2 

It seems that The Hague sincerely believed that direct threat of 
military force could he effective. Tt never realized that the presence 
of Dutch naval power with offensive intentions in Venezuelan waters 
would infuriate as weU as humiliate the Venezuelans. 

But The Hague had drawn the directives. If, in the emerging crisis, 
force were needed, Brakel should be prepared to ask for his passport 
and leave the country quickly to avoid the situation in which Rolandus 
found himself in 1870. A more vigorous Dutch attitude preferred to 
break relations for humiliating expulsion. In weighing these alternatives 
the Dutch Cabinet acknowledged that a war situation would be most 
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unwelcome. Although sympathising with the island's merchants and 
their predicament, the Minister for the Colonies tried at the same time 
to discover the truth about certain rumors and ordered Governor 
Wagner to investigate the financial manipulations of the Jesurun House 
and other businessmen. Wagner had already sent the one man-of-war 
at his disposal to Coro in order to investigate Guzmán Blanco's definition 
of a blockade. The Dutch man-of-war made two trips - December 21 
and 29 - but did not encounter any bloclcading vessels. Areassured 
governor then concluded that Guzmán Blanco's bite was not as bad 
as his bark and that his blockade was a paper one.3 

A new diversion occurred in late November when the Coro rebels 
seized the Venezuelan schooner Bolivita and promptly used it to com­
municate with their island headquarters. That this was possible without 
interference by colonial authorities caused a fresh upsurge of guzman­
cista anger. The latter also permitted another schooner, the ET/ero de 74, 
to leave port carrying aboard the revolutionary generals Ignacio Galán 
(expelled before but back with or without the permission of Wagner), 
Teófilo Celis, Emiliano Hernández, and others. Rumors added that 
the schooner carried 6,000 pounds of gunpowder destined for Santo 
Domingo. Instead, the ship sailed for Coro.4 

The vehemence of new civil strife and the widespread strength of 
subversive movements in the republic increased the irritability of its 
Caracas leaders. Thus more grievances were brought to Brakel's atten­
tion. One of the most convincing concerned the Elvinia.5 This Dutch 
schooner had sailed from St. Thomas, cleared there by the consul of 
Santo Domingo, destined for this republic. Two days later the Curaçao 
Committee contacted the Elvinia's captain and ordered him to sail 
to Coro. Because of the refusal of the crew to be exposed to the 
dangers of Venezuela's civil war, the Committee fitted out the 
Colibri (owner Jesurun House) which took over the Elvinia's cargo 
in open sea. The Colibri then disposed of the war materiel in Coro and 
returned to Curaçao. It seems that all of the Curaçao Committee's 
operations were accomplished in this complicated way.6 

'Ib.e arrogance and abuses of some Curaçao merchants provided 
enough material for more grievances. There was the case of the lsabel 
(owner Jesurun House) , sailing from Curaçao with war materiel destined 
for Santo Domingo. Somehow the ship arrived in Coro.7 A similar thing 
happened to the lndiana (owner unknown), which left Santo Domingo 
with 57 chests containing 1,120 rifles, destination Curaçao, which also 
dropped anchor in Coro. When news arrived of striking rebel victories, 
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the Curaçao Committee planned to send three or four ships with 
5,000 rifles, much ammunition and gunpowder, and many uniforms to 
Coro.8 How all this could he managed under Wagner's nose without 
his being aware of it is inexplicable. 

All these facts pointed to an obvious conclusion which the Venezuelan 
government was not slow to reach: colonial authorities patronized the 
trade in war materiel and protected the activities of the Curaçao Com­
mittee, thus identifying themselves with the Coro rebels and con­
tributing to civil disorder in the republic.9 Since Curaçao seemed 
unwilling to impose tougher control on export of war materiel and 
Caracas did not have a strong war fleet, Guzmán Blanco was compelled 
to find other means to counteract the apparent inability of the colonial 
authorities to stop this trade and to eliminate the hostile activities of 
the Curaçao Committee. 

At the beginning of November payments on loans to the Jesurun 
House were suspended. Brakel, who received these payments was 
i"equested to return the sums already received and still under his con trol. 
As long as Jesurun acted as a belligerent, Guzmán Blanco said, he was 
not willing to pay his enemies.1° Softening, however, this rather abrupt 
stand in order to improve his own image, the self-worshipping president 
decided that "out of respect for the Dutch nation" these sums would 
not be returned to the Venezuelan treasury but would be used to pay 
off the claims of two other Curaçao creditors, Senior and Pardo, who 
were not involved in hostile activities.u Brakel rejected the suggestion. 

Although Guzmán Blanco grumbled his satisfaction at Wagner's 
reinstatement of the Royal Decree of 1871, the latter's refusal to permit 
the export of war materiel belonging to the Venezuelan government 
soured the already bitter mood of the Illustrious American.12 The 
special ship sent to pick up this materiel returned empty, a new injury 
to his highly sensitive ego. The realization that two Dutch men-of-war 
were approaching the Caribbean area and that they, together with the 
man-of-war at Willemstad and the one from Paramaribo (Surinam) , 
could keep his coast under effective control undoubtedly added to his 
already bad spirits. His press vented these feelings. In one of the many 
contemptuous articles of the Opini6n Nacional, the official irritation 
aimed mainly at Jesurun showed the hardening of this feeling: "possessed 
by the fury of insolence he throws everything in our fire, and spends 
money to encourage rebellion." 13 The publication of El Imparcial in 
Curaçao, edited by the "deserter" José Ramón Henrlquez, a former 
guzmancista, was an additional source of official annoyance. From the 
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Civilisad6, an irregular weekly paper also published in Curaçao, Wagner 
leamed that Venezuelan authorities had added the Midas to their small 
coast guard and ironically renamed the ship Jesurum.14 Under this 
name the schooner was sent to Coro as part of a blockading squadron. 
In January, 1875, it seized the Dutch schooner Colibri which tried to 
break the blockade.1ö In spite of Wagner's evaluation it was not alto­
gether a paper one. 

The interlocking nature of the developments came to an end in 
February when the Coro rehellion was crushed, although some pockets 
of resistance continued to exist for many months. Guzmán Blanco's 
sensitivityon the Curaçao Committee question relaxed. Now he was able 
to pay more attention to his problems with the Netherlands and Great 
Britain, the latter country experiencing similar predicaments since 
Venezuela's capture of two British ships. There were also problems with 
Trinidad whose merchants played a role very much like Curaçao's. 

In that same month the Dutch squadron finally arrived at Willem­
stad. lts commander immediately informed Brakel of his instruction, 
i.e., "to terminate the Midas question as quickly as possible." 16 It is 
highly doubtful if this sailor had the slightest understanding of the 
problem. 

"If we follow your advice," wrote Brakel to the captain, "to request 
the immediate release of the 1I1idas, its crew, its passenger, plus 
50,000 guilders, the arrogant president, now even more arrogant 
af ter his victory, will certainly refuse. What do you do then? You 
repeat the same request but you add a threat. The result will he 
that he gives me my passport and cuts off all relations." 17 

At the same time, Brakel wrote to Wagner informing him of Guzmán 
Blanco's attitude towards Great Britain and the experience of General 
Level de Goda who had supported the Coro revolution with a band 
of armed men from Trinidad.t8 The Dutch chargé d'affaires warned 
him emphatically to take Venezuelan threats against colonial trade 
seriously. The Venezuelan government Was ready, he pointed out, to take 
unprecedented measures like closing the ports of Coro and Maracaibo, 
not only to punish these regions for their participation in the recent 
revolt - a measure highly popular with the Caracas merchants - but 
also to retaliate against Curaçao. "There is no doubt in my mind," he 
argued, "that this attitude would mean the end of the island's transit 
trade and thus an important source of income would dry up." 19 
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Govemor Wagner, a soldier by profession, was not as easily disturbed 
as Brakel and took an opposite point of view. "If the Midas has indeed 
been converted into a Venezuelan coast guard, the honor of the Dutch 
flag is involved," he answered. This argument was understood by the 
commander of the squadron. Both men favored ending the Midas 
question by force: seizing the Midas or one or tw'o Venezuelan ships. 

By now The Hague had become a little uneasy about the whole affair 
and offered subtle arguments to the world to prove Dutch good in­
tentions. This attitude was clearly demonstrated in the Dutch Foreign 
Minister's circular letter to envoys in several capitals ordering them 
to inform the respective govemments of Dutch problems in the 
Caribbean.20 The understanding attitude of Great Britain seemed 
especially important. Lord Derby used this bait of sympathy - while 
scheming a South African conquest - to inform the Dutch minister 
in London of his impressions: the Venezuelan govemment probably 
was the worst and most provoking in the world. "Her Majesty's govem­
ment," he added, "had as much reason as the Dutch to complain." He 
expressed no doubt that The Hague's grievances were weU founded.21 

This British reaction reinforced Brakel's flagging self-confidence. 
Lord Derby abstained from the use of force and the Dutch chargé 
d'affaires, sharply denying that the honor of the Dutch flag was in­
volved, similarly focused all his attention on appeasement and recon­
ciliation, while pointing out the disastrous consequences the use of 
force could bring.22 To his new chief in The Hague - a Cabinet crisis 
there had resulted in a change of ministers - he wrote: "A fast solution 
of the Midas question is very desirabie but the use of force will not 
achieve anything." When the investigation into the financial mani­
pulations of the Jesurun House did not show anything wrong - it was 
conducted by the colonial Attomey General, a friend of the Jesuruns­
Brakel even risked ministerial displeasure by daringly stating: "The 
information Your Excellency received on the J esurun House is very 
one-sided." He also completely disagreed with P. van der Does de 
Willebois (in Venezuelan sources called Villebois), the neW Dutch 
Foreign Minister, with re gard to the pending trial of Mr. Worm and 
the Midas crew, considered by The Hague as a mock trial.23 If it was 
this new Foreign Minister's idea to send a squadron to the Caribbean, 
it was his first blunder, which compounded previous errors in judgment 
of the Venezuelan Question.24 

Guzmán Blanco had braced himself. The day before the supposed 
arrival of the Dutch naval force he had sent his artillerists and their 
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finest British cannons to La Guaira followed by 1,000 men of the 
Guardia. When the three Dutch men-of-war arrived - officially on 
a courtesy visit - they were anchored, on orders of the president, at 
a roadstead just opposite a land battery of 20 pieces. At both sides of 
this fortification were private houses, shops, and warehouses, many 
belonging to English, Dutch, and German merchants. Even the aggressive 
commander of the squadron realized the impossibility of silencing that 
battery without causing tremendous damage to the neighborhood.2li 

A highly emotional discussion between the commander, Brakel, and 
the three captains of the men-of-war followed. The conclusion was a 
victory for Brakel's persuasiveness and Guzmán Blanco's astute strategy. 
No force would be used. The commander would not even pay a courtesy 
visit to Caracas, although his crews were granted shore leave. The 
squadron left March 12 af ter a visit of barely two days. Seldom had 
a well-publicized expedition accomplished so little. 

A less bleak note for the Dutch will finish thÏs chapter. At the end 
of March, the captain, crew, and passenger of the Midas unexpectedly 
arrived at Curaçao on the English steamer Atlas, the mysterious Walde­
mar Worm being the first to disembark.26 This promptly raised high 
hopes that existing tensions could be reduced and cordial relations 
reestablished. 



11. THE CRISIS OF 1875 

Beneath the apparent tranquility following the humiliating departure 
of the Dutch squadron, another crisis was already developing. On 
March 20, 1875 Venezuelan Foreign Minister Blanco informed Brakel 
of what he called "a new conspiracy". A continuous stream of defeated 
Coro rebels had gathered at Curaçao and more were flocking there 
daily. Their leaders were putting the shattered organisation back into 
working order.1 

On orders from Caracas, the new commercial agent of the republic, 
W. E. Boye, successor of the hapless Mendes, pressed strongly for 
cooperation and pointed out to the Dutch governor those refugees who 
were to be expelled: General León Colina and his son Manuel, and 
the generals Fernando Adames and Eusebio Diaz. Stressing the sub­
versive activities of these men, Boye, in collaboration with Blanco laced 
the demands with blunt threats.2 Determined to obtain Dutch com­
pliance and at the same time to punish the uncooperative coastal 
population of the republic, Guzmán Blanco reimposed the blockade 
of Coro and Maracaibo lifted shortly before. As Wagner was quick 
to realize, this act not ooly punished the merchants of those towns 
but dealt also a damaging blow to the Dutch island's trade. Curaçao 
derived its limited prosperity from the transit trade with those regions; 
once it lost it, the governor feared, commerce would move to other 
places and never return.3 

On August 16, while both Wagner and Brakel pondered this develop­
ment, the Second Chamber of the Dutch States General discussed the 
Venezuelan Question. The crew of the Midas had petitioned Parliament 
for relief, and discussions on their request constituted an important 
detail of the Chamher's agenda. Although the Dutch press sided almost 
unanimously with the crew, it was restrained in its comments and did 
not dramatize the issue. An exception must he made for the Dagblad 
van Zuid-Holland en 's-Gravenhage (Daily Paper of South-Holland and 
The Hague) which professed a pro-Venezuelan point of view in several 
articles signed by Hugo Sassen, a nephew of the former Attorney General 
of Curaçao, who had had difficulties with Wagner, resulting in his 
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dismissal. The close tie between Hugo Sassen and the Opini6n Nacional 
is highly suggestive of the aggressive nature of this young Dutchman. 
The Opini6n Nacional published one of his articles entitled "Venezuela 
y Holanda" (Venezuela and Holland) with a stirring commentary, thus 
adding fuel to the fire.4 The article itself pointedly reminded the reader 
of the high respect the Curaçao population had for the Guzmán Blanco 
regime, although a handful of greedy merchants created confusion and 
favored civil disorders in the republic which promoted their sales of 
war materiel. The article harshly critized the govemor of the island 
and concluded by suggesting the prohibition of war materiel imports 
into the colony with the exception of strictly local needs. 

The continuing strained relations produced a certain rapprochement 
between the Dutch chargé d'affaires and the Governor of Curaçao. 
Both realized the time had come to stop accusing each other at the 
expense of the Dutch cause. Brakel's pro-Venezuelan feelings cooled 
considerably af ter the squadron's obvious frustration, while the endless 
demands of Caracas, combined with open threats, generated to some 
extent Brakel's understanding of Wagner's attitude. The accumulation 
of Blanco's notes on Brakel's desk, always adding more names to the 
list of people he wanted removed from the island,1I began to have 
an adverse effect on the Dutch chargé d'affaires. Guzmán Blanco's 
aggressiveness did not encourage any effort toward reconciliation. In 
his message to Congress of May 5, 1875, the president stated that "we 
would not have incurred the considerable expenses nor the great 
sacrifices required by the last campaign, nor would the country have 
suffered the enormous losses which it deplores now" if there had not 
been support for the Coro revolt from Curaçao. He then announced his 
formal protest to the Dutch govemment conceming the financial 
damages caused by the late rebellion. "Iordered," he said, "the booking 
of a special account of war expenses with the intention of requesting a 
refund as one of the consequences which resulted from this conduct of 
colonial agents." 6 

Bypassing Brakel, who was fully empowered to conduct negotiations, 
Guzmán Blanco addressed himself directly to The Hague in a long 
letter which with intensified anger outlined his complaints conceming 
problems of contraband and losses - up to 50 per cent, he claimed -
for the Venezuelan treasury. The note tried to prove that administrative 
disorder would never end as long as this trade continued, provoking 
the govemment's discredit in the interior and the irrepairable ruin of 
all creditors. There would he no remedy to this depressing situation 
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but to stop the clandestine trade of a few unscrupulous speculators on 
the island of Curaçao.7 

This Was only an introduction to his major demands. The Venezuelan 
government first requested a pecuniary indemnity for losses suffered 
during the Coro insurrection and second, it underscored the political 
necessity of recalling the Governor of Curaçao, "the main contributor 
to the disgrace and massacre of Venezuelans by his efforts to frustrate 
all Venezuelan demands." The indemnity bill of 4,250,000 guilders 
did not yet represent the full amount. With the customary threats 
of differential duties and closure of the ports of Coro and Maracaibo, 
he outlined his strategy in case of refusal, "Venezuela had to he 
protected against cruel Curaçao." 8 

Guzmán Blanco's note was delivered to The Hague by a special 
ambassador extraordinary and minister plenipotenciary, José Maria de 
Rojas.9 The Venezuelan government, increasingly concentrating on a 
new approach and dissatisfied by evasive and vague answers from 
Brakel, avoided regular diplomatic channels in an effort to deal directly 
with its adversary. The Dutch chargé d'affaires knew about this mission 
soon enough although official information came much later.1o Incredible 
as it may seem, he did not inform The Hague. 

Secrecy is of ten the key to success. Guzmán Blanco wanted Rojas to 
he accredited to the Netherlands before Brakel knew about it and could 
notify his government.ll The Venezuelan diplomat hurried off to 
Europe and received his final instructions via the Venezuelan consuls 
of St. Nazaire and Paris.12 Together with his secretary, Antonio Parra 
Bolivar, Venezuelan consul in Le Havre, he arrived in The Hague on 
June 1, 1875. There he met the Marquis de ArdcoIlar, Spanish minister 
resident to the Netherlands, who was of great help to Rojas, who had 
neither friends nor acquaintances in The Hague.13 

As a defense mechanism, understandable in all circumstances but 
more so with a president of excessive arrogance and limited patience" 
the Venezuelan minister plenipotentiary and ambassador extraordinary 
made himself both in his autobiography Recuerdos de la Patria 
(Memories of the Fatherland) and in his correspondence with Blanco 
very much the hero in his meetings with Dutch Foreign Minister 
Van der Does de Willebois, despite the fact that he must soon have 
concluded that his special mission was failing miserably. Van der Does, 
a man of the old school of traditional diplomacy which regarded the 
rules of the game as important as the game itself, had misgivings about 
the status of the new envoy. Pulido, the previous ambassador, was 
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never officially recalied and consequently still functioned formally as 
Venezuela's representative, although he resided in Paris. Brakel, on the 
other hand, had full authority to handle existing questions.14 The first 
complication was soon solved by Pulido's resignation/5 while Van der 
Does - maintaining that he read about Rojas' mission for the first 
time in the Dutch daily papers - realized the existing difficulties be­
tween the two nations and especially the interests of Curaçao's merchant 
elite could not tolerate too fussy an attitude. Hopefully the mission of 
the new Venezuelan agent, he informed the King, "would offer an 
opportunity to solve the tensions between the two nations." 16 

Thus Rojas achieved a small initial success which gave him immense 
personal satisfaction. King William III declared himself willing to 
receive the new ambassador, which meant he officially accepted Rojas 
as the representative of his country.17 The solemn audience took place 
on June 16, 1875.18 Two days later the haggling with Van der Does 
began. 

It opened with a curious incident. Rojas handed the Dutch Foreign 
Minister his government's long note accompanied by an impressive 
package of documentary proof - testimonials of eye-witnesses, for 
instance - plus an account of expenses caused by the latest revolt. 
All these documents were written in Spanish. Not only was the Dutch 
Foreign Minister unable to read them but, incredible as it may sound, 
it soon appeared that no one in the Dutch Foreign Office was able 
to translate them. They had to go to an outside translator. This 
embarrassing situation caused some delay.19 

The postponement was unintentional although Rojas suspected other­
wise. To solve the temporary impasse, Van der Does asked Rojas to 
summarize the contents. This resume, written in French, was handed 
in three days later.20 The two demands - indemnity for expenses and 
the recall of Wagner - caught Van der Does off-guard. He immediately 
informed the Cabinet and the King of what was going on.21 

The importance of the matter required two full sessions of the 
Cabinet and the following decisions were made: 

The Dutch Foreign Minister will not enter into negotiations with 
the Venezuelan envoy until 

a. the schooner M idas is returned, and 
b. the ports of Coro and Maracaibo are reopened.22 

To stress the peace-loving intentions of the Netherlands the port of 
Curaçao would be closed to the export of war materiel, pending the 
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deliberation on the Dutch prerequisites for negotlatlons. The Dutch 
government solemnly declared that Curaçao would resume its normal 
condition of free port if its demands were not satisfied by October 1. 
It also reserved for itself the right to discuss the demand for indemnity 
by the Venezuelan government until the Dutch demands were satisfied.23 

These decisions of the Dutch Cabinet were neither examples of 
farsightedness nor of tactful diplomatic maneuvering. True, the Vene­
zuelan demands were worded offensively, but the Dutch note handed 
to Rojas Was even more clumsily formulated and provocative. The fact 
that a time limit was added made it look very much like an ultimatum. 
Ill-conceived and reflecting no insight into the mind and character of 
the Illustrious American or the awakening Venezuelan national con­
sciousness, it increased popular agitation, already sensitized by the Yellow 
press. Rojas himself professed "the most profound amazement in taking 
cognizance of such an exceptionally serious decision." 24 

The consequences of the Dutch note were not foreseen hy Van der 
Does. Tensions now rose to the level of an open conflict. Rojas, stupe­
fied, but clearly understanding the vital importance of the next step, 
dared not move on his own and asked his government for instructions.25 

This meant two months' respite. 
The apprehension manifested by the Venezuelan envoy was not yet 

shared by the Dutch Foreign Minister. He optimistically informed Brakel 
of recent developments, ordering him to bring the two demands of the 
Dutch government to the attention of Venezuelan authorities. This 
involved Brakel in the negotiations and clearly showed the determination 
of the Dutch Cabinet not to bypass him. Wamed of the undiplomatic 
treatment he could expect from the Venezuelans "which one does not 
have to fear from civilized nations," he was further cautioned that 
"if you have well-founded concern for serious complications regarding 
your dignity, you should depart and take leave in Curaçao." Van der 
Does probably envisioned a humiliating experience similar to Rolandus's. 
Fear of such a treatment was reflected in The Hague's advice to take 
deposited payments on the claims to a safe place.26 

As mentioned before, Brakel had known about Rojas' mision in 
May, 1875, when Guzmán Blanco opened the Venezuelan Congress, 
but had not informed Van der Does. Officially informed at the end of 
June, Brakel's notification came too late to warn the Dutch Foreign 
Minister in time. The reason for bypassing Brakel, Blanco explained, 
was the anti-Dutch mood of the Venezuelan capita1.27 Rojas' appoint­
ment was never announced in the Gaceta Oficial. 
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Belatedly Brakel sent Van der Does infonnation on Rojas. The latter 
had been a partner in a family enterprise and later established a 
business relationship with the well-known commercial house of H. L. 
Boulton & Company in Caracas. He had accompanied Guzmán Blanco 
to London when the rising caudillo arranged the famous loan for his 
country which laid the foundation of his considerable wealth. In 1874 
Rojas prepared a settlement of Spanish claims in which Guzmán Blanco 
himself was to become later the most significant claimant. Rojas then 
tried to repeat this with the British keepers of Venezuelan debentures, 
but this effort was indignantly rebuffed by Queen Victoria's govern­
ment.28 

At the time of Rojas' arrival in Tbe Hague, General Colina published 
a ringing manifesto in Curaçao addressed to the Venezuelan National 
Congress and his countrymen, cal1ing them to anned resistance against 
the "oppressive regime" of Guzmán Blanco.29 Subsequent articles in 
Curaçao's El lmparcial doubled Venezuelan anger.30 In a way these 
irritations were counterbalanced by the Gaceta I nternacional, which 
sympathetically reviewed Venezuelan complaints against the colonial 
government of Curaçao and bluntly suggested tbe distribution of 
"letters of marque" in case the Dutch resorted to anned intervention.31 

Presumably written by Hugo Sassen, tbey repeated the battle cry of 
tbe former Attorney General, his uncle: "Recall Wagner." Both Sassens 
saw tbe Governor of Curaçao as the main impediment to good relations 
with Venezuela.32 

Curiously enough, around that same time an apparently serious effort 
toward reconciliation between the two main actors in this Caribbean 
drama was unfolding behind tbe scenes. Abraham J. Jesurun paid a 
visit to Caracas around the middle of July.33 A certain Olavarria seemed 
to have been the promotor of his unexpected rapprochement witb 
Guzmán Blanco. The latter received his long-time antagonist courteously 
and showed some goodwill by returning tbe Julieta and its crew,a4 but 
no immediate agreement was reached, although the "Caribbean Roth­
schild" must have been quite willing to make concessions. Jesurun 
returned to Curaçao in August/Is but six weeks later he turned up again 
in Caracas. This time the two concluded an agreement.a6 But before 
it could go into effect, the demands of Van der Does caused a popular 
uproar in the Venezuelan capita!. 

The unlikely alliance of old rivals amidst tbe manifestations of popular 
indignance and antÎ-Dutch sentiment was not so strange as it might 
appear at first sight. Tbey needed each other, each for hÏs own 
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particular reasons and private interests. Guzmán Blanco was willing to 

recognize some doubtful claims, expressed in the protocol of Decem­
ber 27, 1867, although the interest rate of 15 per cent had to be reduced 
to 9. Jesurun was willing to renounce diplomatic support for some 
reclamations dated af ter April 27, 1870. For the moment the protracted 
feud was over. Ingeniously Guzmán Blanco had brought one of his most 
stubbom enemies into his camp. An immediate result, in spite of the 
popular and official uproar caused by the Yellow press, was the con­
tinuation of payments.37 

This reconciliation was strengthened with the expulsion of General 
León Colina. Although it is not sure whether Jesurun's desertion from 
his cause influenced Wagner, the general's close association with 
Venezuelan upheavals suddenly became too obvious to ignore.38 This 
expulsion was soon followed by that of Riera who, in the words 
of the Dutch Foreign Minister, "had violated the limits of hospitality 
and decency ... in regard to the heads of foreign governments." 39 

But these promising indications of rapprochement instantly evaporated 
when Rojas' letter arrived, informing his government of the Dutch 
position. Brakel was deeply impressed by the capital's reaction and the 
sudden uproar of national indignation which surrounded him. Blanco 
uttered stronger threats, but he was only a puppet. The real minister 
of foreign affairs was Antonio Leocadio Guzmán, the president's father 
and, in Brakel's evaluation "the most capable and shrewdest statesman 
of the republic." 40 The elder Guzmán now launched an effective anti­
Dutch campaign, agitating for national unity behind the Great Liberal 
against the foreign aggressor. 

By this time the Dutch Foreign Minister Van der Does had recovered 
somewhat from the political myopia demonstrated by his notes to Rojas 
and Brakel. Ris present position seemed far from strong or enviable. 
The Dutch democratic govemmental system made Cabinet members 
responsible to the people's representatives in both chambers of Parlia­
ment. Re faced interpellations in the Second Chamber and a growing 
uneasiness in the Dutch press, which understood the possibly fatal 
consequences of the political impasse. The chargé d'affaires in Caracas 
seemed to offer an acceptable scapegoat. At the end of August, when 
Rojas' communication on the same item had just callsed the first con­
sternation, he had received Van der Does' instructions of July 27 with 
the Dutch demands. Wisely he had waited a few days to give the Vene­
zuelans time to cool off before informing Blanco. To blame the disturbed 
Brakel for the sudden crisis, accusing him of not understanding in-
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structions, was not only cowardly but also contrary to the facts. Caracas 
was already dramatically aroused by Rojas' account of diplomatic 
happenings in The Hague. The Dutch Foreign Minister ignored this. 
"I see with regret," he wrote, "that you misunderstood my orders." His 
eagerness to save his own skin did not include much regard for the 
truth. The ominous deadline he had set was no longer mentioned. 

"Before entering into negotiations with the Venezuelan govemment 
on pretended wrongs we desired first and foremost to have its 
hostile measures recalled, i.e., the return of the Midas and the 
opening of the closed ports. .. I am truly amazed that you acted 
in such a way as if transfer of negotiations to Caracas was feasible." 

Of course a transfer of negotiations, which had been suggested by 
Brakel, was not the point; the demand to open the two closed ports 
within a set time limit was. Did Van der Does willingly ignore this? 
Whatever the case, Brakel was informed that at the end of October 
another Dutch naval force would be sent to the West.41 This un­
fortunate decision of the Dutch Cabinet exemplifies The Hague's 
diplomatie ignorance. Dutch diplomacy had lost touch with West Indian 
realities. 

At the beginning of October, Rojas, still waiting for Guzmán Blanco's 
response to the Dutch demands, complained about some articles in the 
Dutch press on the alleged mistreatment of the captain and crew of 
the Midas in La Rotunda, the Caracas prison. The whole affair, Rojas 
protested, had "resulted in public outrage" . He called it "wrong and 
little to the advantage of his government and his country". He cate­
gorically denied any accusation of wrongdoing. The Curaçao Committee, 
he contended, was its souree and he defined its members sarcastically 
as a group of "wicked Dutch specula tors working against peace in 
Venezuela" .42 

But this attitude soon stiffened when the answer arrived on the 
Dutch counterdemands. Guzmán Blanco was willing to return the 
Midas it said, not as an admission of guilt, because the seizure was 
"legally judged and condemned by tribunals of the republic",43 but 
as proof to The Hague and the world of a sineere desire to create 
an atmosphere of friendship and conciliation. 

The second part of the Venezuelan note was less conciliatory. Regard­
ing the opening or closing of the national ports, any demand by a 
foreign government could never be accepted. It bluntly stated that this 
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would mean a "renunciation of national jurisdiction over national 
territory, abdication of sovereignty of Venezuela, and treason to national 
independence." 

Rojas handed this note to the Dutch Foreign Minister on October 6, 
exactly one month af ter it was sent. Accompanying it was a new litany 
of complaints which, although irritating, did not essentiaHy aggravate 
the situation. Rowever, Caracas now feH into the same trap which 
Van der Does had not avoided. It added a time limit to its threat to 
break relations if the Dutch insisted on their second demand, the re­
opening of the closed ports as a preamble to negotiations on reclamations 
for indemnities. This time limit of three days, as in the case of the 
Dutch demands, had all the menacing characteristics of an ultimatum. 

The Venezuelan de mand created resentment and a pronounced anti­
Venezuelan feeling. Van der Does, more confident because of this 
encouraging sign, now insisted on the reopening of the closed ports of 
Coro and Maracaibo before he would be willing to open any discussion. 

"Your government, Monsieur Ie Ministre," he wrote Rojas, "bas 
not studied the problem from the right angle ... The Venezuelan 
government, of its own free will, closed two of its most important 
ports to stop communication with Curaçao. At the same time, 
however, it asks us, for its exclusive advantage, to keep our port 
of Curaçao closed to the export of war materiel." 

Regarding the requested indemnity Van der Does wrote: 

"You ask a pecuniary indemnity as a reparation of your grievances, 
which means, ultimately, that we have not closed our port 
hermetically enough. In the face of these demands, Ris Majesty's 
government cannot admit discussion of even one claim in reparation 
of grievances which your government wishes to have evaluated, as 
long as the ports of Venezuela are closed to Dutch trade." 44 

The thrust of Van der Does's analysis was lost. Events moved rapidly 
towards the ominous deadline of October 9 set by the Venezuelan 
government. At that time Rojas informed the Dutch Foreign Minister 
that, not having received a satisfactory answer, he considered the 
diplomatic relations between the two countries broken and blamed the 
Dutch government for imposing upon Venezuela a demand morally 
impossible to satisfy.46 
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The King was immediately informed of this break. A eable was sent 
- via St. Thomas - ordering Brakel to ask for his passport and to 
Ie ave Venezuela for Curaçao. Meanwhile, diplomatie representation was 
arranged through the minister of the German Empire, Dr. Erwin 
Stammann. Brakel was also ordered to take the legation arehives with 
him or to seal them and hand them over to one of his colleagues.46 

Wagner was informed.47 

A squadron eomposed of three men-of-war prepared to sail for 
Curaçao to reinforce the one man-of-war stationed at the island. The 
Duteh moved vigorously to proteet their overseas dependencies and their 
interests. The Venezuelans, ineensed and offended, united behind their 
arrogant master. 



12. THE THREAT OF WAR 

In a democratically ruled nation - and the Netherlands could he 
considered as such - where ministerial responsibility was an effective 
brake on executive power abuses, an incident as serious as the severance 
of diplomatie relations had to he eXplained to the people's represent­
atives. Consequently a memher of the Second Chamher of the States 
General acted prompty by asking the Foreign Minister for complete 
information. On October 11, 1875, an unhappy Van der Does faced 
the members of this Chamber with a long weak speech in which he 
defended his position.1 It was followed by long debates which revealed 
strong concern over recent developments in the West. 

As the immediate cause of the present confliets the minister rightly 
named the Midas question and the Coro revolt. While helittling the 
role of Curaçao and its merchants, he summarized to the Chamber the 
Venezuelan demands: indemnity for expenses caused by the Coro 
revolution, replacement of the Governor of Curaçao, expulsion of a 
number of Venezuelan refugees, the c10sing of the Curaçao port to 
the export of war materiel, and censorship of Curaçao's offensive press. 

As he was unable to understand the root of the conflict - the poorly 
regulated trade in war materiel - the Dutch Foreign Minister dec1ared 
openly that he was not willing to discuss these points until Venezuela 
returned the M idas and reopened the ports of Coro and Maracaibo to 
Curaçao's trade. "I would then he prepared," he declared, "to confer 
with the Venezuelan envoy about his demands," 2 a dangerous statement 
rightly interpreted by Rojas as a de jure recognition of Venezuela's right 
to indemnity.3 Most of his speech contained the usual diplomatie rhetoric. 
"We share," he conc1uded, "the wish of the Venezuelan envoy that the 
difficulties between our countries may be solved in a peaceful and 
mutually satisfactory manner." 

Such words were certainly not the popular vocabulary of the Vene­
zuelan press. lts vitriolic artic1es surpassed by far those of the island 
pre ss, El lmparcial and the Civilisad6, and provided to no small degree 
more raw material for an aggravation of the situation. "Por fin se acerea 
la hora de la revindicaci6n de Venezuela," and "Dios tarda pero no 
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olvida," for instance, were some headlines under which the Diario de 
Avisos kept tensions alive. Similar heated discharges appeared in the 
o pinión N acional, inspired by official encouragement.4 

A cooler evaluation of the conflict was provided by the Dutch con­
sul at Le Havre, P. van Bunge, a close friend of Parra Bolivar, Rojas's 
secretary. 

"The Dutch government," he wrote to the Ambassador of the 
Netherlands in Paris, "loses sight of the fact that the present 
President of the Republic, Guzmán Blanco, is a very energetic man 
who will not shrink from anything to end what he considers to he 
the nuisance of Curaçao ... He should be taken seriously. He 
certainly is able and willing to carry out his threats and to issue, 
for instance, "letters of marque" to hinder Dutch shipping and 
stop smuggling." 5 

From his conversations with Parra Bolivar he knew that the Vene­
zuelan government was quite willing to compromise and perhaps even 
give up its indemnity claims in return for the assurance that the Dutch 
would not insist on a reopening of the closed ports. This, the Dutch con­
sul argued, "could weIl he a basis for new negotiations." 6 Possibly for 
this reason Rojas had been ordered by his government to stay in Paris. 
But Van Bunge added a warning: "In the opposite case the Guzmán 
Blanco government will not hesitate to decIare war." Big American 
capitalists and "followers of the Monroe Doctrine", the Dutch consul 
asserted, "seem to have advanced huge sums to Venezuela and the 
"letters of marque" really appear to be for the North Americans." 7 

Indeed, it may weIl he that public opinion in the United States was 
indifferent to this minor Caribhean conflict - only a small rippie in 
the high tide of American and British imperialism - but astute 
American businessmen with a keen eye for profits were fully aware of 
its implications and were extremely interested bystanders. The Dutch 
Foreign Minister, far from underrating their interest, entertained real 
fears that they would buy permits for privateering as soon as Guzmán 
Blanco initiated their sale, and he imagined the Caribhean swarming 
with modem buccaneers. His serious efforts to convince the French and 
British governments of this possibility manifested these fears. 8 

They had indeed some grounds. Rojas, while in Paris, was ordered 
to make contact with weapon merchants and sea captains and was 
supplied with blank "letters of marque". The old pirate spirit of earlier 
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centuries seems to have been affected by the mercantile tendencies of 
the age; contacts requested a deposit of 50,000 French francs, which 
Caracas refused. 9 

The role played by the newly-born German Empire in this conflict 
dramatized the stiff competition between great powers in world affairs. 
In a meeting with the Dutch envoy W. F. Rochussen, the German 
Foreign Minister Von Bülow asked with German bonhomie if it were 
true that certain difficulties had developed between The Hague and 
Curaçao. This question, which greatly disturbed the envoy, must be 
seen against the background of persistent rumors that Germany had 
her eyes on a Caribbean naval base. The recent reconciliation between 
Jesurun and Guzmán Blanco added a new dimension to this picture. 
The eldest partner of the firm, Abraham J. Jesurun, had been consul 
general of the North German Confederation in Curaçao since 1868 
and of the German Empire since 1871. If the Germans indeed had 
plans for a Caribbean naval base, the possibility that Jesurun would 
become the middle man between Berlin and The Hague in case of a 
Curaçao revolt added to the Dutch Foreign Minister's worries.10 

Consequently, the Dutch did not trust the Germans any more than 
the British. But probably, the chargé d'affaires in Caracas was blessedly 
unaware of this complication. When he hurriedly left the Venezuelan 
capita! on October 22, he consigned the Dutch interests in the republic 
to the last man he was expected to choose: Erwin Stammann, the 
minister of the German Empire. The latter also took care of the sealed 
legation archives.l1 The new function provided Stammann with a 
Great German feeling: he now had responsibility for Dutch subjects 
in Venezuela together with the payments of the Venezuelan government 
to Dutch claimants of "diplomatic debts". 

Stammann seems to have been an able and honest diplomat. He 
succeeded in convincing Caracas to continue the payments in spite of 
the suspension of relations. Guzmán Blanco did not object. As this 
attitude led Stammann to believe that the Venezuelans were willing 
to compromise, he instantly took a further step in offering his mediation 
in the conflict. The Hague viewed this request with certain apprehension. 
The envoy could have been encouraged by Von Bülow. The latter had 
discussed the Venezuelan-Dutch difficulties with MartIn J. Sanabria, 
former exile in Curaçao, expelled with the Guzmans in 1870, and now 
Venezuelan envoy in Berlin. Perhaps Von Bülow saw for himself a role 
as the founder of a German West Indian empire. The irritating 
problems Germany had had with Venezuela were still fresh in his mind. 
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In those days the trade of Maracaibo was almost exclusively in the 
hands of Gennan merchants, who complained angrily about their huge 
losses resulting from Guzmán Blanco's measures.12 

The upsurge of Gennan interest in the West was not the only cause 
of Dutch uneasiness. At the same time a Venezuelan agent was visiting 
the United States buying Remington rifles and heavy artillery, and 
there was an uncomfinned rumor that Guzmán Blanco was trying to 
buy two or three monitors. The Dutch envoy in Washington was ordered 
to request official American disapproval of such sales,13 The interlocking 
nature of this infonnation caused no slight agitation to the Dutch 
Foreign Minister, but his fears did not materialize. Soon he received 
the relieving news that the United States had no men-of-war for sale. 
Some worry still kept him awake. "If I could but know that public 
opinion in the United States is on our side," he wrote the envoy in 
Washington. "Our problems with Venezuela have not yet attracted 
much attention," answered the latter truthfully.14 Then came the 
disturbing news that Venezuela had tried to buy machine guns in 
France.1!1 

Meanwhile the October 1 deadline had arrived and Wagner, never a 
champion of a soft line policy toward Venezuela, coolly ignored rumors 
and opened Curaçao's port to the export of war materiel as instructed 
by the Minister for the Colonies. Within a week, however, he received 
orders from a confused Minister to suspend export. Tbe port had been 
open for five days. No war materiel had left 'the island in that short 
period. 

Brakel had left Caracas on October 22, 1875, three days af ter Blanco 
had infonned him of the break in relations. A Dutch man-of-war sent 
by Governor Wagner had picked him up at La Guaira and brought 
him to Curaçao. In the more relaxed atmosphere of the island, Wagner 
and Brakel discussed the tense state of affairs. The possibility of a 
Venezuelan invasion was weighed and discarded. It was clear that the 
republic, without a merchant marine, and with only three or four coast 
guard vessels, could not muster enough tonnage for such a risky enter­
prise. Other rumors were easier to believe. According to them, Guzmán 
Blanco had bought lead and gunpowder in St. Tbomas worth 16,000 
venezolanos and would call30,000 to 40,000 men to anns.16 That he was 
preparing for a fight was known even before the diploma tic break. 
Blanco had repeatedly urged Rojas to stall for time to strengthen the 
coastal defense, especially the ports of La Guaira and Puerto Cabello, 
as the threat of a Dutch attack was taken quite seriously.l1 Specific 
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instructions for the port defenses were sent out immediately af ter the 
diplomatie break became known.18 

In the meantime, the Dutch in Curaçao waited anxiously for the 
arrival of the new squadron. Three men-of-war had left the Netherlands 
for Curaçao at the beginning of November. Although Venezuela had 
expressed her willingness to give back the Midas, the ship had not yet 
been returned. Consequently, the commander's instructions included an 
order to seize the Midas wherever he might find her. This order was 
later canceled.19 

Thus both parties faced a complex set of difficulties. Antagonism 
and irritation were spinning them between war and peace, although 
neither was inclined toward the use of force. The New York Tribune 
appraised the situation aptly: "It is obvious from the explanation of the 
Dutch Foreign Minister that war is not apprehended with Venezuela 
although diplomatie relations with that country have been suspended." 
The situation was compared to that between Mexico and Great Britain, 
as these two nations had had no official relations since the Emperor 
Maximilian's execution, although they for all practical purposes remain­
ed on good terms.20 

The news of another approaching Dutch naval force stirred up more 
bad blood among the Venezuelans and generated vituperative artieles in 
their press.21 Very harmful to the Dutch cause was Brakel's lack of alert­
ness. While in Caracas he had not obtained much information on Vene­
zuelan naval and military strength. "I had expected from you as a former 
soldier," the Dutch Foreign Minister wrote, "extensive and trustworthy 
information on Venezuela's means of defense, and on the strength of 
her armed forces." 22 

However, few incidents occurred. With the news that relations were 
broken, a mob plundered the Dutch schooner Julieta (owner unknown) 
in Puerto Cabello.23 The Dutch brick Arcadië had dropped anchor 
in the port of Barcelona, unaware of the diplomatie crisis, and was 
forbidden to depart. Stammann's intervention, however, resulted in the 
release of the ship.24 

In appraising Brakel's performance as chargé d'affaires, the con­
clusion becomes obvious that he failed in his mission. He may have had 
a more pleasant personality than his predecessor Rolandus, as confirmed 
by his temporary popularity in Caracas' diplomatie and guzmancista 
circles, but his shortcomings as a diplomat were not balanced by personal 
affability. 

He might have successfully concluded the negotiations on the "diplo-
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matie debts", but he did so at the expense of the Jesurun House, whieh 
had to drop 50 per cent of its claims. Worse was hls impermissible 
failure to wam Wagner of the outbreak of the Coro revolt which had 
such serious consequences. Wagner received notice approximately ten 
days af ter the rebellion started and in the meantime the Midas had 
departed. Nor did he inform the Dutch Foreign Minister of Rojas's 
mission, although he had known about it for nearly two months before 
being offieially informed. These two omissions find small compensation 
in hls news of the Jesurun-Guzmán Blanco reconciliation. His failure 
to report adequatelyon Venezuelan military preparedness was also an 
unforgivable lapse, the more incomprehensible because he was a soldier 
by profession. At the bottom of all these blunders, however, was hls com­
plete lack of psychological insight into the nature of the Illustrious 
American and an absolute failure to understand the Venezuelan national 
character. But he was not the only one to blame. He was nominated 
for the Caracas post by Van der Does' predecessor, Gericke van Her­
wijnen, who thus indirectly shares the burden for this mission's failure.25 



13. THE FATEFUL YEAR 1876 

For many years a state of "interrupted official relations" characterized 
the position of the Netherlands with regard to Guzmán Blanco's Vene­
zuela. During those years the usual irritations decreased visibly and had 
less and less impact on basic attitudes. Both sides made some weak efforts 
to penetrate the wall of misunderstandings that separated them, but that 
objective was not achieved until eighteen years later. Rojas' analysis, 
made six months af ter his departure from The Hague that "all pending 
questions between the Netherlands and Venezuela have been solved" 
was based more on optimism than on sound judgment.1 

Nothing was solved for a long time. The interruption of normal 
relations was gradually accepted as a nuisance with which the in­
habitants of both the republic and Curaçao had to cope. This unnatural 
situation hardened into a routine of which outbursts of Venezuelan 
nationalism formed part and whereby the Dutch argument for the use 
of force came to be habitually overruled. The very noisy presses of both 
Venezuela and Curaçao continued to voice their opinions with little 
official restraint. The fulminations of the "deserter" Henrlquez in 
El lmparcial matched those of the Opinión Nacional, while the Vene­
zuelan point of view found a strong spokesman in the Revista Hispano 
Americana, printed in Brussels and circulated throughout Europe. The 
Venezuelan cause also received aid from several articles in the Gaceta 
lnternacional. Rojas rendered some service with his pamphlet Het 
Nederlandsch Venezolaansch Conflict (The Dutch Venezuelan Con­
flict), published under the pseudonym Amigo de las Antillas. On a 
more scholarly level were the comments of the internationally-known 
lawyer, G. Rolin Jacquemijns, in his excellent exposition of the conflict 
in the Revue du Droit International.2 

With the shift from active confrontation to a kind of "cold war" the 
diplomatic moves indicated an increasing gulf between the two nations. 
The Venezuelan government countered Wagner's brief suspension of 
the Royal Degree on October 1, 1875, by permitting ooly ships under 
special orders to sail from its ports to Curaçao. Despite British com­
plaints, the Guzmán Blanco regime exerted pressure to force foreign 
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shlps to avoid the island.3 The merchants of the two closed ports, 
especially the Germans in Maracaibo, voiced their displeasure loudly. 
However, they never generated enough popular indignation to have the 
ports reopened. The Caracas government did not heed their cries and 
the capital's merchants were only too pleased with the elimination of 
dangerous competitors. At the end of December, the government 
restricted coastal shlpping exclusively to vessels under the Venezuelan 
flag. 1bis ended practically all foreign navigation along the coast and 
constituted another blow to Curaçao, while at the same time a rise in 
import duties hurt also the island's trade.4 

Wagner did hls utmost not to irritate Guzmán Blanco. Af ter hearing 
of the severance of relations, general Colina returned to the island 
expecting a hearty welcome. He was greatly disappointed when he was 
told to leave again.fi Wagner also tried to blunt the impact of the 
greatest irritant, the Dutch squadron, which arrived in the Caribhean 
at the heginning of 1876. From the outset, the reinforcement of Dutch 
naval power so close to the Venezuelan coast angered the latter country. 
In hls message to Congress of April 5, 1876, Guzmán Blanco discussed 
the Dutch "threat" at great length, and although his emotional rhetoric 
was purposefully exaggerated, there was no doubt of his sincerity: "The 
display of this squadron ... together with a threatening and insulting 
press could become dangerous," he said, "if by intimidation we should 
open our ports." 

Dutch intimidation would fail, maintained the Venezuelan President. 
He noted pointedly that he had the support of hls people, and that 
even if that were not the case, Venezuelans would not hesitate to defend 
their fatherland against foreign invasion. "As for me," he argued, "I 
would like and I will try to procure peace without any condition except 
that there will he no discussion of the opening of our ports, because 
that would put into question our sovereign right of independence." The 
Dutch claims, he told his audience, would he paid regardless of the 
present stagnation.6 

There was no immediate Dutch reaction to this message. The King 
conventionally repeated in hls Speech of September 20, 1875 (hefore 
the break of relations) that relations with foreign powers continued 
to be of a "very friendly character". He admitted, however, that 
Curaçao's trade had experienced some problems resulting from the 
civil unrest in Venezuela.7 A year later, the threat of armed con­
frontation forced the recognition of the existence of problems. The King 
hoped "that the complications with Venezuela will soon find their 
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solution; this will certainly henefit Curaçao." The Second Chamher 
added "We share with Your Majesty the hope that the difficulties in 
the trade of Curaçao can he solved by negotiations." 

In several meetings the Dutch Cabinet debated the Venezuelan 
Question at some length and severely criticized the Foreign Minister. 
While no miraculous solutions were found one important item dis­
appeared almost imperceptibly from the discussions: the demand for 
the reopening of the ports of Coro and Maracaibo.9 

Guzmán Blanco himself made an important move towards future 
reconciliation by separating the offices of diplomatic representative and 
consular agent. This eliminated conflicts between the duties of the 
consul as his countrymen's solicitor and of the diplomat as his nation's 
representative.10 The importance of this decision was evident: it kept 
channels of communication open. Dutch consuls continued to function 
along the Venezuelan coast in spite of the political disruption. 

Growing optimism caused by this decision, however, was dampened 
by another one concerning the diploma tic debts. It was a minor matter, 
but the fact that Guzmán Blanco acted unilaterally prompted strong 
protests. In July the British government approached the Dutch regarding 
a joint diplomatic action against the republic.l1 The Dutch Foreign 
Office followed the cautious course of not trusting Great Britain just 
as it had not trusted Germany previously. It alerted the Governor of 
Curaçao to discover the reaction of the Curaçao claimants to Guzmán 
Blanco's changes.12 This prudent hehavior probably continued af ter 
Stammann's meeting with Guzmán Blanco. During their talks the 
Venezuelan president explained his reasons for changing the claims 
agreement before his term of office expired on February 20, 1877. 
Pardo's widow who lived in Caracas, answered Stammann's question­
naire favorably; the German Minister had to approach the other two, 
Jesurun and Senior, through Wagner.18 Af ter a delay caused by 
red tape, both agreed to accept the new arrangement but only if all 
foreign creditors involved consented to it. Deeply distrustful of the 
government's financial transactions, they requested that the claimants' 
own legation serve as banks where the payments would he deposited. 
"I am thus not able to give the Venezuelan government a definite 
answer," wrote Stammann, "and I regret this in view of the interests 
trusted to me." 14 At that time the claims of the Jesurun House 
amounted to 368,211 venezolanos, those of Senior to almost 33,000 and 
of Pardo to 44,000.15 

Of course a collective action of all creditor countries involved would 
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have been impossible. Stammann came to this conclusion af ter his 
discussions with the respective envoys in Caracas.l6 "It is understand­
able," he wrote, "that some nations cannot accept the new arrangement 
if one looks at the arbitrary distribution of money." But others could. 

The distribution was as follows: 

Spain received against a claim of 
U.S. 
Denmark 
England 
France 
The Netherlands (Curaçao) 

venezolanos 

1,400,000 
1,100,000 

14,000 
190,000 

1,430,000 
440,000 

venezolanos 
monthly 

2,796 
2,796 

305 
2,204 
5,655 
1,444 

Most monthly payments would be less than the ones agreed upon in 
1873. Guzmán Blanco knew this. But he also knew that there was not 
much the claimants could do about it. As his new Foreign Minister, 
Canuto Garda pointed out, the new arrangement was an act of Con­
gress (of May, 1876) and only Congress could change it. He admitted, 
however, that the president had the constitutional right to direct 
diplomatic negotiations on this matterP For the time being this ended 
the debate. 

A new platform for diplomatic discussions on the Venezuelan-Dutch 
conflict seemed possible when the Venezuelan envoy in Washington, 
Juan B. DalIa Costa, openly sought Secretary of State Hamilton Fish's 
mediation with the Dutch.l8 Fish was not reluctant to play a peace­
maker's role similar to that of Poinsett in Chile. Encouraged, DalIa 
Costa then contacted the Dutch minister in Washington, Von Pestel, 
and proudly cited Guzmán Blanco's authorization. But he outraged the 
envoy with some undiplomatic outbursts about the "menace to peace 
and amity" of the Dutch squadron in Curaçao.l9 The Dutch daily press 
was not very helpful either and saw the possible mediation of the 
United States as a Venezuelan attempt to take over Curaçao.20 The 
Spanish ambassador in Rome further alarmed the Dutch Foreign 
Office with the rumor that in any conflict provoked by the Dutch, the 
United States would side with Venezuela/u 

The Dutch noted the American attitude with an unhappy awareness 
of the U.S. pretensions in the Caribbean and this nation's power. 
Uneasiness prevailed when James Birney, American Minister to The 
Hague, approached the Dutch Foreign Minister about the chances of 
a reconciliation. A long note exposed his country's unselfish interest in 
the conflict and asked the following questions: 
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1. Were the Dutch inclined to reestablish good relations with Vene­
zuela and did they have any suggestion about the procedure? 

2. What was the purpose of sending a squadron to the West Indies? 
3. Was it possible to solve the difficulties by ceding Curaçao to Vene­

zuela, in exchange for money or territory on the continent? 

The bluntness of the American inquiries was evident. Their directness 
contrasted dramatically with the obliqueness of the traditional European 
diplomacy in which Van der Does and his colleagues were schooled. 
No eye-witness account exists of the meetings of the Dutch Cabinet in 
which these questions were studied but one can imagine the raised 
eyebrows and nervous gestures of men not accustomed to frank con­
frontation. But Birney received his answers: 

1. The government of the United States is not the first to offer 
mediation. We appreciate its friendly intensions, convinced as we 
are of its influence in Caracas. If the government of the United 
States would inform us of any Venezuelan proposals, we would he 
happy indeed, but further than that we cannot accept any inter­
ference. 

2. The instructions of the squadron's commander are indeed far-reach­
ing hecause they had to take into consideration many possibilities 
and the distance hetween the Netherlands and Curaçao hampers 
rapid communication. We cannot reveal the contents of those 
instructions but we do not hesitate to declare that in regard to 
foreign commerce and navigation all possible consideration will he 
observed and it is our wish that this squadron - sent also for 
training purposes - will have no other task. 

3. The Dutch government assures most positively that there can he 
no question of ceding Curaçao. 

The American Minister seemed satisfied and reported these replies 
to his government.~ In turn, the Dutch Foreign Minister posed Birney 
a question: "If we use force against Venezuela in enforcing the opening 
of her ports, could that country count on material support from the 
United States?" "The United States," Birney assured Van der Does, 
"tries only to promote a peaceful solution." 24 

This answer sounded the death knell of Dalla Costa's peace initiative. 
It had caused nothing but confusion. Highly dissatisfied with his diplo­
mat's performance, Guzmán Blanco sent him to Brazil, in those days 
a fate similar to deportation. 

The incident clearly showed Venezuela's eagerness to resume normal 
relations with the Netherlands. This desire was also demonstrated by 
the visit of General Juan Francisco Pérez, a close friend of Guzmán 
Blanco's. In Curaçao he discussed with Brakel his government's genuine 
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intention to arrive at a solution, but at the same time stated Guzmán 
Blanco's condition for peace: the replacement of Governor Wagner, 
considered the main obstacle to reconciliation. If that could he arranged, 
the president would be quite willing to comprornise on all further 
disputes with the Netherlands. Brakel could only point out that Rojas 
had already requested Wagner's dismissal and that it was refused as 
an unacceptable interference in Dutch internal affairs.25 Soon af ter 
this interview the Dutch chargé d'affaires left for Holland. 

A curious incident added some strange color to the picture of broken 
relations. In Brussels, the former Dutch Foreign Minister and now 
envoy, Gericke van Herwijnen, was approached by the Venezuelan 
diplomat Pulido, who had played a role in the negotiations of 1871.26 

The latter startled the envoy, who had received him as an unofficial 
representative of Guzmán Blanco, with a sudden vitriolic outburst. 
Guzmán Blanco, he complained, had hecome a tyrant. The Venezuelan 
Congress, in fIattering the president's limitless vanity and satisfying his 
insatiable hunger for money and power, was his willing accomplice. 
The situation had hecome unhearable. Preparations had heen completed 
for a coup, for although Guzmán Blanco's term was nearing its end, 
through a combination of stimulated compliance with the law and 
adroit maneuvering, he was determined to stay in power. 

For Curaçao, Pulido indicated, Guzmán Blanco would then become 
an even more obnoxious neighbor. The ports of Coro and Maracaibo 
would remain closed, while he would use the reclamations for indemnity 
as a pretext for any hostile action in what he would define as Venezuela's 
national interest. Curaçao's proximity heightened the possibility of troop 
disembarcation in as little as one night. 

Because the closing of Coro and Maracaibo would lead to Curaçao's 
economie ruin, unemployment and discontent would grow, and the 
island would finally fall into the dictator's hands. "Do not he deceived," 
Pulido warned, "by the obliging attitude of the president, for it will 
last only until February 20." Once Guzmán Blanco's continued power 
was assured, the island's fate would he sealed. If he could take Curaçao 
by surprise, he would confidently expect the United States to settle the 
matter with The Hague, thus preventing the colony's return to the 
Dutch. 

What could he done to obviate this situation? Undoubtedly it was in 
the Duteh interest to support any serious movement against the Illustrious 
American. This support could he arranged in such a way as not to 
eompromise the Dutch government. Now Pulido came to the point: 
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What Guzmán Blanco's opponents needed was a large steamer able 
to carry many troops. It should he easy for the Dutch government to 
deliver such a ship through a commercial house at a foreign port. There 
the steamer would he transferred to Venezuelan patriots. Success was 
assured and prompt payment would follow.27 

Gericke van Herwijnen was stunned by this undisguised attempt to 
involve The Hague in a Venezuelan cuartelazo. Immediately informed, 
the Dutch Foreign Minister for once hehaved wisely by deciding to stay 
out of Venezuelan domestic trouble. Pulido's proposal was politely 
rejected. 

Strangely enough, some Dutch coastal shipping seemed to have sur­
vived Guzmán Blanco's rigid regulations. On several occasions the 
Governor of Curaçao informed the home government that Venezuelan 
and Dutch schooners had arrived from Puerto Cabello with cargoes, and 
af ter unloading and reloading, departed again for Venezuela. Perhaps 
the fact that Generals Pulido (the brother of the former envoy) and 
Pulgar had left Trinidad for Europe caused the relaxation.28 Thus a 
few Dutch ships were able to do business, although the unpredictable 
mood of the Venezuelan dictator made this hazardous.29 The trade in 
war materiel, alheit sharply reduced in scope, was unfortunately a com­
ponent of this shipping.30 This is demonstrated by the Julieta affair. 
The captain of this schooner pretended his destination to he Puerto 
Rico, but the testimony of two memhers of his crew alerted Wagner 
to order an investigation. 

La V oz Publica, a daily guzmancista paper circulating in the 
State of Carabobo, analyzed the seizure of the Julieta, property of the 
Jesurun House, and concluded that the ship was on "u na expedici6n 
baecista".31 The Opinión Nacional of Caracas commented somewhat 
bitterly: "If the planned expedition had been against Venezuela, instead 
of against Santo Domingo, would the Governor of Curaçao have shown 
the same zealous care in seizing the ship and investigating the cargo?" 32 

The Dutch Cabinet became concerned about this seizure, fearing an 
interpellation by Jesurun's aggressive lawyer Van Eck. But Wagner's 
position left no doubt. The Julieta had departed without a permit for 
war materiel; its captain had stated his intention to sail for Santo 
Domingo in support of a rehellion. Even Van Eck could not argue 
against these facts.33 

More irritations followed. The bark San Francisco (owner unknown) 
of Aruba was seized by the Venezuelan coastal patrol. The skipper was 
fined 2,000 venezolanos, which were distributed among the commanders 
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and crews of the two vessels responsibIe for the seizure. This measure 
was, of course, a powerful incentive to repeat the performance.34 

In April, 1876, Stammann informed the Dutch Foreign Minister of 
the difficulties encountered by the Dutch schooner Bella Petra, seized 
in Puerto Cabello. But af ter a personal meeting between Stammann and 
Guzm.án Blanco, the schooner was pennitted to leave.36 The clearest 
example of arbitrary hehavior occurred with the Dutch schooner Portena 
(owner David C. Henriques of Curaçao), seized in Barcelona. No reason 
for the seizure was given. The captain, however, happened to know 
Guzmán Blanco personally and traveled to Caracas to visit the president. 
In view of the circumstances, he was received amazingly weIl. Guzmán 
Blanco explained his diehard policy toward Curaçao, avowing at the 
same time that he had nothing personal against the captain. The latter 
was allowed to depart with hls ship but the president told him: "Do not 
come back, or it will cost you 90 days." 36 

Though illustrating that some navigation between Venezuela and 
Curaçao continued, these examples show the risks whlch were incurred. 
The government, as Stammann pointed out, could legally order the 
detention of any vessel, national or foreign, for 20 to 100 days, on 
the mere suspicion of being engaged in clandestine traffic.37 Although 
not openly opposing the transit of foreign steamers from Venezuelan 
ports to Curaçao and vice versa, the Venezuelan dictator applied all 
sorts of pressures to hinder this traffic.38 

It was all part of a master plan, according to the German envoy. 
Not a single ship could leave the ports of La Guaira and Puerto Cabello, 
nor any other port of the Venezuelan littoral, for whatever destination 
without the president's pennission. All these measures aimed at im­
peding the communication between Venezuelan ports and the Antilles, 
particularly Curaçao.39 

Somewhat later that year Venezuelan policy to isolate Curaçao was 
confirmed by the Dutch envoy in Paris. Briefly, Van Zuylen van Nyevelt 
wrote that on February 20, 1877, Guzmán Blanco would transfer hls 
power into the hands of Jacinto Gutiérrez, president of the High Federal 
Court, an incapable, old man, devoted to the Great Liheral. During 
the Gutiérrez interim, Guzmán Blanco would he the power behind the 
throne. One year later he could constitutionally present himself again 
as a candidate and his election would he only a matter of organization. 
Thus there would he no real interruption of his rule.40 

This analysis of Venezuela's political future confirmed Pulido's pre­
dictions. Events occurred exactly as he had descrihed. In spite of this, 
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tensions between Venezuela and Curaçao relaxed considerably. The main 
reason undoubtedly was the departure of the Dutch squadron at the 
end of 1876. What had it accomplished? True, it had picked up the 
Midas at St. Thomas where the Venezuelan authorities had returned 
the schooner. But its presence in the Caribbean had been more harmful 
than helpful to good relations with the republic. 

A litde later the news arrived in the Netherlands that the president's 
tempestuous father had left for Paris. There were immediate specu­
lations of an official mission to The Hague to negotiate a compromise.41 

The elder Guzmán's policy concerning Curaçao had not proved success­
ful and perhaps he judged the time ripe to direct a new approach. 
He had openly confessed that he had never thought that the Dutch 
would risk a war for "that barren rock", which, far from bringing 
profit to the mother country, involved it in international difficulties 
and cost money. But the elder Guzmán was already 76 years old 
and had no official mission in mind. N evertheless, his absence from 
Venezuela meant less tension. It was rumored that his son would soon 
follow. 

Thinking of two aggressive leaders of Venezuelan foreign policy 
so close to The Hague, the Dutch Foreign Minister invited the former 
chargé d'affaires Brakel, now living in The Hague, to suggest provisions 
which would avoid future difficulties with Venezuela. "A complete 
prohibition," Brakel wrote, "of the export of war materiel will be the 
only solution and end the abuse which causes international problems." 
He suggested severe punitive measures.42 But his ideas, good as they 
were, shared the fate of many other good ones. They were read, filed, 
and forgotten. 

In discussions held at the end of the year on the colonial budget, the 
Second Chamber voiced much criticism of the Foreign Minister's policy, 
which, in its opinion, had incalculably damaged Curaçao's trade. The 
minister's demand that the two Venezuelan ports be opened before the 
claims of the republic would he investigated, argued the Chamber, had 
defeated its purpose.43 What if the Venezuelan government had satisfied 
this demand? Then the Dutch government would have been forced to 
investigate the question of indemnity, which rested on the completely 
false premise that the colonial government of Curaçao had not fulfilled 
its duties as a neutra! power. The Chamber concluded that the minister 
had failed to understand the problem. He should have declared as 
haughtily as had the Venezuelan envoy, that the matter could not be 
discussed.44 
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Thus the year 1876, which hegan with such poor expectations and 
ominous threats ended on this note. Even if the interrupted relations 
were no doser to restoration than hefore, the situation was much less 
explosive. Rapprochement hetween the colony and the republic was 
expected to he stimulated by the end of Guzmán Blanco's Septenio, and 
also by the expected resignation of Governor Wagner. However, by one 
of the strange quirks of fate the coming year would witness a totally 
different tactic of the IIIustrious American to dominate "cruel Curaçao". 



14. THE SALE OF CURAÇAO 

The enlightened fint King of the Netherlands, William I, dreamed of 
making Curaçao a West Indian Malta vital to the existence and pms­
perity of bis kingdom, but the enormous expenditures involved soon 
brought second thoughts and the great plans evaporated into more 
modest ones. 

The island's economy never really recovered from British occupation 
during most of the Napoleonic wars. The emancipation of the slaves 
in 1863 slowly strangled the languishing economy. Between 1867 and 
1881, the Netherlands contributed over 2,200,000 guilders to cover 
administrative expenses of her islands in the Caribbean.1 What remained 
of prosperity was solely that of a small number of merchants who 
depended largely upon trade with Venezuela. Many did not even speak 
Dutch, although they were strongly pro-Dutch by tradition. 

In 1868 several members of the Second Chamber proposed aban­
doning Curaçao and dependencies because in that year alone the 
national treasury was drained of over 200,000 guilders for the island's 
administrative expenses.2 The Minister for the Colonies rejected the 
idea primarily because it had not originated in the colony itself. 

The proposal disturbed the Colonial Raad in Willemstad to no small 
degree. Abraham J. Jesurun, a member of this Raad, at once petitioned 
the governor to permit this body to demand from the Second Chamber 
an official statement against abandoning or selling the colony. In the 
Raad itself Jesurun proudly dedared: "We are Dutch, of Dutch origin 
and education, and the inhabitants of this colonyare attached to 
Holland." He implored the Raad to do its utmost to persuade the 
Dutch government to keep Curaçao.3 

The Raad took immediate action. It appointed three of its members 
to draw up a report for the Second Chamber explaining why the island 
should continue under Dutch rule. This report was dispatched shortly 
afterwards.4 It undoubtedly mirrored the outlook of the majority of the 
wealthy dass. 

But the interruption in official relations with Venezuela, combined 
with the heavy cost of sending two squadrons to the West, created a 
Dutch reaction against Curaçao. Thus it happened that during the 
debates on the King's Speech of 1876, a member of the Chamber 
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proposed to cede that "dry rock" to Venezuela. Curaçao did not produce 
anything, and as long as the trade in war materiel was prohibited, it 
could not make any profit.5 

Th.is new proposal was not just someone's brainstorm, it was a serious 
motion. Other memhers of the Chamber protested that if enacted it 
would have the same consequences as the cession of the Dutch Guinea 
Coast to Great Britain a few years earlier. This had hurt the interests 
of both the Netherlands and the colonial inhabitants.6 News of these 
proposals to abandon, cede, or seIl Curaçao found their way to Caracas, 
and the Illustrious American quickly established his position as the most 
persistent promoter of the sale. 

The first proposal to abandon Curaçao and the second to cede the 
island to Venezuela reflected concern for the high cost of maintaining 
indebted colonies. Both mirrored fear of the political implications of 
the War materie 1 trade and a desire for normal relations with Venezuela; 
both resulted from severe criticism of the present Duteh colonial poliey. 
Van der Does found no broad support hecause he had difficulty in 
dealing with his critics. In answering the opposition he weakly main­
tained that it would not he fair for Curaçao to close its port, exclusively 
to please Venezuela, while the latter closed its own ports hecause 
of its bitterness against Curaçao, thus causing great damage to the 
island's trade. To give in to Venezuelan demands would he "contrary 
to the dignity of the Netherlands," he said.7 

Despite pressure to the contrary, the port of Curaçao was restored 
to its "normal condition" for as long as Venezuela maintained her 
hostile attitude. None of the great powers, the Dutch Foreign Minister 
pointed out, had acted hastily in similar conflicts with the republic. 
Great Britain, for instance, had used her powerful navy cautiously when 
British ships were seized. His government, he observed, had applied the 
same temperance. Great restraint was needed to bring the Venezuelans 
to a modus vivendi safeguarding the interests of the island and the 
republic. Admittedly, Curaçao and Venezuela had to live together out of 
geographic necessity. A cession of the Curaçao islands, the minister con­
cluded, definitely was not under consideration by his government.8 

In the controversy concerning the cession or sale of the island, a 
curious incident caught everyone's attention for a moment. During the 
last week of September, 1876, Curaçao was hit by a severe hurricane.9 

The colonial govemment and private citizens immediately organized 
relief actions, but the most important aid came from Venezuela. The 
Opinión Nacional elaborated on the munificence of Guzmán Blanco, 
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spreading a good deal of propaganda for the Great Liberal, and ended 
somewhat pompously: "BIessed be the man who protects the nations in 
their rights and supports humanity in its disasters." 10 Despite this 
bombast, Stammann Was ordered to express The Hague's sentiments 
of appreciation, while Wagner followed suit.ll 

If this action raised hopes for a speedy rapprochement new suspicion 
and discontent soon dashed these. At the end of 1876 the Venezuelan 
government decreed sharper measures to curb coastal navigation: no 
ship could Ie ave Venezuelan ports without a permit from the authorities. 
In Curaçao this measure was justly viewed as the worst blow to its 
weakened economy.12 What little navigation had continued between 
the mainland coast and the Dutch Antilles came to a standstill. Ships 
of internationallines now no longer dropped anchor in Willemstad, thus 
avoiding problems with Venezuelan port authorities.13 

On February 8, 1877, Govemor Wagner received an honorable dis­
charge. I t was not the result of outside pressure. There were some 
questions in the Second Chamber as to the honorable nature of Wagner's 
discharge and its implication of an official approval with respect to hls 
line of conduct.14 The Minister for the Colonies defended the govemor. 
He had acted "in virtue of his instructions". Wagner's successor was 
Hendrik Kip, a former sea officer and a rather colorless figure com­
pletely lacking his predecessor's vigor. 

In assessing Wagner as Governor in this most critical period of the 
colony's nineteenth century existence there remains some doubt about his 
performance. There is considerable evidence that his rigid and inflexible 
views markedly contributed to the Dutch Cabinet's rather shortrange 
analysis of the Venezuelan Question. He was a soldier and trained to 
obey, which he did. The orders he received from The Hague were, 
however, largely inspired by his own reports. Inexperienced and weak 
ministers for the Colonies and Foreign Mfairs relied on his views, 
showed no initiative in developing their own thoughts on the matter, 
and displayed little understanding. Wagner understandably thought 
in terms of military power without regard for other avenues of solution. 
This was the basic mistake in his analysis of the conflict. He was honest, 
and courageous, hard working, and cool under fire. From hindsight it 
is evident that his term did not render lasting services to the colony. 

When asked if the Netherlands docilely accepted the severe Vene­
zuelan restrictions on navigation, the Dutch Foreign Minister told the 
Chamber that another power had approached the government to 
protest against the new measures. It had rejected this proposal 
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because it was unwilling to take any step which could he interpreted 
as favoring the contraband trade. The difficulties with Venezuela, 
the Minister added, would have been settled long ago were it not 
for the press in both countries, whieh had become crucial in building 
up tensions.lli In a memorandum written somewhat later the Foreign 
Minister repeated this accusation and blamed the press for creating 
apolitical hothouse. Rojas Was descrihed as heing instrumental in 
influencing the press. He had, for instance, spent 15,000 guilders in 
Brussels for the publication of anti-Dutch articles and brochures.16 

By now Curaçao's inhabitants seemed to have realized the disastrous 
course their economy was following, for the numher of those protesting 
the trade in war materiel continuously increased. Some even planned 
to petition the King for an absolute prohibition, following Brakel's 
suggestion. This idea was abandoned when it was realized that such a 
petition would inform Guzmán Blanco of the supporters and opponents 
of trade restrietion.17 But the worsening economie depression resulting 
from the political impasse, worried especially the Curaçao merchant 
elite. They found an eloquent spokesman in a prominent Jewish lawyer, 
Abraham M. Chumaceiro, author of a dozen pamphlets on local issues. 
In bis brochure Is Curaçao te koop? (Is Curaçao for Sale?) he insisted 
that this trade he stopped.18 

In one of his last reports hefore his departure Wagner blamed the 
traumatie development on Guzmán Blanco's hostility towards Curaçao 
on his expulsion.19 Wagner's successor Kip inherited this gross 
oversimplication of the Great Liheral's poliey. Both governors believed 
their views confirmed by Venezuelan government contracts with Charles 
M. Neill, for an American steamship connection, and with Emile Wanner 
of Le Havre, the representative of a French company, which stipulated 
that the ships not drop anehor in Curaçao.20 This myopic official view 
contrasted sharply with the awakening conseiousness of the majority of 
the population. 

Both governors mayalso have ridiculed Guzmán Blanco's suggestions 
to buy the island, but they did not understand one of his most important 
motives. Curaçao's contraband trade, he had said in his latest Congres­
sional Message, was robbing the republic's treasury of almost 50 per cent 
of its income. This allegation, never proven but constantly repeated, did 
not exactly promote an atmosphere favorable to reconciliation. But 
Wagner as well as Kip saw the high Venezuelan import duties, averaging 
40 per cent of the value of some commodities and sometimes reaching 
75 per cent, as the most powerful stimulus to illicit trade. 
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Venezuela's licit imports for the fiscal year 1874/75, the last year 
that relations between the republic and Curaçao were nonnal, amounted 
to 17,300,000 venezolanos divided in the foUowing manner: 

From Gennany 
Spain 
Colombia 
United States 
France 
Great Britain 
ltaly 
Danish colonies 
Spanish colonies 
French colonies 
British colonies 
Curaçao 

5,449,752 venezolanos 
396,314 
505,007 

3,799,170 
2,598,033 

290,975 
48,618 
19,512 
9,868 

87,677 
1,455,959 
2,642,960 

Curaçao's share in these imports was, as the figures show, around 
16 per cent.21 Wagner knew that British as weU as French records 
showed twice the amount of exports to the republic as that which 
officially passed through Venezue1an customs.22 Even if Curaçao's 
exports foUowed the same trend - which the fonner Curaçao governor 
denied - the 50 per cent figure seemed a wild exaggeration and had 
to he reduced to 16 per cent. But Wagner maintained that it was at the 
most 5 per cent, undoubtedly a much too low estimate, although the 
actual size of the smuggling has never been determined. 

The IUustrious American, however, was not a man to he bothered 
with statistics. He felt the illicit trade as a thorn in his side and was 
willing to blame neither his inefficient administration and corrupt 
officials, nor the high duties levied as its causes. He only knew that it 
impeded the development of Venezuela's economy along the lines he had 
drawn.23 

The idea of buying Curaçao must have come to him in the first 
weeks of 1877, before the end of the Septenio. He mentioned it 
publicly for the first time in his fareweU address to Congress in 
February, 1877. He talked at great length about the island. "It does 
not produce anything," he said. "lts commerce could only sustain it­
self through illegal means in competition with ours, because ours 
carries in addition the customs duties, and the expenses of some 
taxes." 24 In order to protect itself, the country had two choices: to 
continue the present situation and try to cut off all commercial ties 
with the island, or to buy it, even paying more than its actual value, 
and incorporate the island into Venezuela's national territory.~ 
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Presenting these alternatives, Guzmán Blanco rejected a curious 
variant of U.S. suggestions as formulated by Birney. This was Rojas' 
overture at the beginning of June, 1875, to the Venezuelan Minister 
of Foreign Affairs Blanco. Rojas proposed to offer the Netherlands 
Venezuelan territory (supposedly Venezuelan Guiana) in exchange for 
Curaçao.26 He was perhaps not aware that British Guiana was located 
between Dutch and Venezuelan Guiana. 

Guzmán Blanco refused to trade mainland territory for the island 
as he preferred to buy it. In the hopes of facilitating a sale, 
the Illustrious American urged Rojas to use all his influence to get 
Brakel appointed as Governor of Curaçao.27 He could work with 
Brakel, he said. In his speech to Congress he sketched a beautiful 
future : the purchase of Curaçao would immediately remove all present 
difficulties and prevent future ones, while it would be of vital im­
portance to the republic's economy. It would not be easy, he warned, 
to convince the Dutch that this was really the only solution for stabie 
relations between the Netherlands and Venezuela. And while Curaçao 
did not benefit the mother country, it would bring immeasurable profits 
to Venezuela. 

"The present Dutch Cabinet," the president continued, "seems to 
have dropped the unusual claim of the reopening of the ports of 
Coro and Maracaibo, seeking the status quo before the rupture 
of relations. However, I prefer the present situation, and believe 
that the Venezuelan government should maintain its inflexibility 
until the sale of Curaçao is accepted as the only solution satisfactory 
to both Holland and Venezuela, and imponderably advantageous 
to the island itself ... That day Curaçao will become our only port 
for imports, the great warehouse of merchandise and the center of 
our navigation ... Af ter a quarter of a century Curaçao will become 
the richest and most beautiful city of the Caribbean." 28 

The speech revealed the president's awareness of Second Chamber 
proceedings. In that House, he said, the possibility of selling the island 
had already been discussed, but the Cabinet feared public reaction. If 
the Dutch government could overcome this wavering, the sale would 
set an example for Great Britain to follow with Trinidad.20 

Soon af ter this speech Guzmán Blanco joined his family in 
Paris, leaving the government in the hands of his successor, 
Francisco Linares Alcántara. Alcántara, demonstrated his willingness 
to ease the continuing tensions by conferring the Certüicate of the Bust 
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of the Liberator on the new Governor of Curaçao.ao The Curaçaosche 
Courant soon reported that navigation to Puerto Cabello and La Guaira 
had been freed of all restrictions, including the regulation of December 
1876, which gave the executive the power to seize any ship in Vene­
zuelan ports.al Optimism in Curaçao ran high, but for the time being 
these were all the concessions the new president made. The ports of 
Coro and Maracaibo remained closed. 

In his message to Congress, the Great Democrat - as Alcántara was 
called - optimistically stated that "affairs with Holland" were being 
resolved and invited the legislature to discuss the problem of the 
closed ports. I t became clear that the new Venezuelan government 
favored the reopening, and the president even hinted that the mediation 
of the United States could be the catalyst to bring Holland and Vene­
zuela together.32 

But this clear departure from the rigid lines devised by Guzmán 
Blanco did not meet with unanimous approval. This is weIl illustrated 
by a brochure published by General Joaquin Crespo under the title 
Un Deber Cumplido ( A Duty Accomplished). In it Crespo repeated 
the old accusations : "Curaçao was the headquarters of all the enemies 
of Venezuelan peace... it had no industry other than the traffic it 
had made in Venezuelan blood. . . Curaçao has lived on our ruin and 
our calamities, speculating and enriching itself." 

It was the oid Guzmán Blanco refrain. The general could count on 
the former dictator's supporters, the Caracas merchants, who were even 
more willing to sacrifice their Coro and Maracaibo competitors than to 
ruin Curaçao. With this attitude prevailing among the capital's business­
men, the commercial house of Boulton committed itself to a most profit­
able program. It possessed two small steamers and controlled in the 
transfer of commodities between La Guaira, Puerto Cabello, and the 
closed ports. This monopoly had been granted by Guzmán Blanco, who 
was probably a silent partner.33 

Consequently when Alcántara's move threatened the Boultons' profits 
the firm tried to bribe members of Congress to vote against the re­
opening of the closed ports, but to no avail. The Senate and somewhat 
later the House of Representatives voted to reopen them.34 Thus an 
important obstacle to the improvement of relations between the Nether­
lands and Venezuela was removed. 

The Governor of Curaçao immediately prohibited the export of war 
materiel under the Royal Degree of 1871.35 Now everything seemed 
to point towards a quick resumption of the interrupted relations. 



15. THE LONG INTERMEZZO 

Af ter sÏx hectic years of turbulence in their relations, Venezuela and 
Curaçao entered into an eighteen-year period of aloofness during whlch 
the realities of the previous era appeared to have been a bad dream. 
1D.e lack of appreciable complaints, demands and trade gave these 
years the appearance of a vacuum, whereas life before had possessed 
the qualities of heat, noise, and ebullience. While the republic 
experienced two other terms under the Great Liberal - the Quinquenio 
(1879-84) and the Aclamaci6n (1886-88) - the island went through 
the convulsions of a slowly strangling economy. 

Af ter delivering hls farewell address, Guzmán Blanco left Venezuela 
in 1877 to serve his country in various European nations as Minister 
Plenipotentiary. Shortly afterward the republic entered a new revolution­
ary period. The new rebellion, organized and financed in Trinidad, 
was headed by General Ignacio Pulido, a former refugee in Curaçao 
and brother of the diplomat Lucio Pulido.1 

From its inception the pulidista revolt encountered nothing but set­
backs. It died in its own cradle, the State of Bolivar, and its leader was 
taken prisoner. The country's problems increased with Alcántara's sudden 
death in November, 1878. The old guzmancista, General Jacinto Gutiér­
rez, succeeded the Great Democrat. Several factors then combined to 
stimulate violent anti-guzmancista sentiment among the populace, cul­
minating in the destruction of statues erected by the Illustrious American 
in his own honor. It soon became apparent that the Gutiérrez regime 
was unable to inspire national cohesion. A new revolt called for the 
reinstallation of Guzmán Blanco, the weak government collapsed and 
Guzmán Blanco cabled his decision to accept the presidency. 

The Illustrious American had spent almost two years in Paris, and 
they had not been very successful ones. One of the reasons for hls 
appointment as Minister Plenipotentiary was the dictator's fundamental 
desire to purchase Curaçao. He had discussed this project with the 
French Foreign Minister Waddington, who, aware of the Illustrious 
American's high position and the probability that he would again 
become president of Venezuela, had listened politely. Waddington then 
informed the Dutch Minister Resident of this meeting.2 
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The absence of records to substantiate Guzmán Blanco's claims that 
he sincerely labored in this project makes it difficult to evaluate rus 
assertions. The sale or cession of Curaçao was in the air those days, 
and various schemes abounded. Most persistent was the story of acession 
or sale to the German Empire. In September, 1878 the Dutch envoy 
in Berlin informed the new Foreign Minister in The Hague, W. van 
Heeckeren van KeIl, of persuasive news items in the German press 
elaborating on plans to acquire the island of Curaçao as a naval base 
for the German fleet. 3 Although Germany was beginning to consolidate 
her position as a great power, her press did not unanimously express 
enthusiasm for such an acquistion. Wrote the Nationale Zeitung: 
"Imagine Curaçao a German island and the German Reich at war 
with a naval power. In such a case we would need our men-of-war to 
protect our own coasts and thus would he unable to send a fleet out 
for the protection of Curaçao." 4 The argument was convincing, together 
with another that the provisioning of more than 20,000 people in time 
of war would he impossible "particularly if one realizes that pea sausages 
and similar items are not very proper for the tropics." 5 

Another rumor had it that The Hague was willing to hand Curaçao 
over to the Germans in exchange for Embden. Late in 1879, the Dutch 
envoy in Washington, Von Pestel, informed The Hague that in a recent 
meeting with U.S. Secretary of State William M. Evarts the possibility 
of the cession or sale of Curaçao was discussed in reference to reports 
in various American papers.6 Similar information reached The Hague 
from Brussels, where a former American diplomat, Henry Shelton 
Sanford, discussed the topic with the Dutch envoy there. 

Situated hetween "Greedy England and Grasping Germany" 'f the 
Dutch were reluctant to make closer contact with the nation whose 
rapidly expanding trade relations in the Caribhean were watched with 
apprehension - the United States. That Uncle Sam was already a 
dangerous political and economic competitor of Great Britain and 
Germany did not seem to awaken the new Dutch Foreign Minister to 
the necessity for a new approach. Leaders in the United States were 
certainly far from indifferent to the danger of a German possession so 
close to their shores. Their interest in a possible change of master of 
the island was understandable. The Dutch saw this interest as another 
threat to their control over the island and resented it. 

What Guzmán Blanco did in Paris to realize his plans for a purchase 
of the island is far from clear. It seems probable that he had planned 
to visit The Hague to discuss the issue. But in his two years' residence 
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in the French capital he apparendy did not find an opportunity to go. 
The furthest he went was to the Dutch embassy.8 The Hague, eager 
to avoid all semblance of personal enmity or public irritation, was 
willing to receive him as long as a discussions would not acquire an 
official character. Within this pattem of thought an eventual cession of 
Curaçao, the Dutch Foreign Minister said, could never be placed on 
the agenda.9 

Whatever bis final intentions, the increasing confusion in Venezuela 
prevented Guzmán Blanco from going to The Hague. Before he returned 
to Caracas, he met the Dutch envoy and outlined his plans for the 
purchase of the island. With tbis in mind he would probably be forced, 
he admitted, to undo many measures of the Alcántara government. 
He specifically mentioned the two ports closed under bis first admini­
stration. If the Dutch government was not willing to reach an under­
standing, he would again have to close those ports, not as a hostile act, 
he hastened to add, but as apolitical and economie necessity.lO 

Two points were clear from the heginning: The fact that two Dutch 
naval demonstrations had not accomplished anything bolstered Vene>­
zuelan morale and confidence. However, it had weakened the Dutch 
through loss of prestige and heavy expenses. Thus on the assumption 
that he could negotiate from strength, Guzmán Blanco evaluated the 
continuing possession of Curaçao as a burden on the Dutch taxpayer, 
the more so because "the present state of defense of the island was 
miserable"Y Both points disguised the subde threat of a possible attack. 

Only an ignoramus could he unaware of the fact that his words fore­
shadowed troubles. These worries were litde relieved by Guzmán Blanco's 
short visit to Willemstad on bis way back home. The meeting with Kip 
was correct but cool. He then tried to convince Venezuelan refugees on 
the island that they had nothing to fear from him and could safely 
return home.12 Few, if any, trusted him. He also called on some Curaçao 
merchants notorious for their trade in war materiel. What he discussed 
with them is not known. 

As soon as he arrived in Caracas, the Illustrious American initiated 
a political reform which took priority even over his Curaçao project.13 

He drafted a new constitution wbich gave the executive greater power 
and strengthened bis grasp on public life.14 A new reorganization of the 
"diplomatic debts" was the second item on bis agenda. He urged bis 
puppet Congress to issue debentures at 4 per cent interest in order to 
replace the "diplomatie debts". None of the foreign countries involved 
Was happy; all anticipated only more confusion from this change. 
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The proposals, once accepted by Congress, would end monthly pay­
ments to the legations and eliminate tbe smal! possibility of using 
political pressure on the Caracas elite. Pretending that the country was 
losing money under the old arrangement, he urged Congress to accept 
tbe unilateral changes af ter a deadline was set for foreign governments 
to respond.15 

He then turned to the realization of bis threats. Only such ports 
as La Guaira, Puerto Cabello, and Ciudad Bolivar, which he completely 
controlled and wbich Alcántara had opened to international traffic, 
were deliberately left open because of needed new war materieP6 
Governor Kip of Curaçao showed considerable political understanding 
and self-discipline by continuing, witb tbe approval of Tbe Hague, any 
such exports. But Guzmán Blanco made it clear upon assuming power 
and initiating the Quinquenio, that other ports such as Coro and 
Maracaibo would remain closed. At the same time he openly proclaimed 
a most sincere desire for Holland's friendship. Aware of his rising 
unpopularity among the inhabitants of the western coastal regions, he 
was slow to carry out bis threats.17 

The cautious attitude of the Dutch reflected their fear of increasing 
conflict with the republic and its unpredictable leader. Indeed, new 
problems soon appeared. In May, 1879, Governor Kip received a letter 
from Eduardo Calcafio, then Venezuelan Foreign Minister, warning 
him that "the enemies of Venezuela" had again found refuge on the 
island and were conspiring against tbe republic. Kip was requested to 
take "the repressive measures expected of a good neighbor" .18 Soon an 
extension of this demand followed asking for the expulsion of General 
Alejandro S. Ybarra, who had left his country for tbe island for private 
ratber tban political reasons.19 Backed by The Hague, Kip denied the 
request. 

The Venezuelan press promised no relaxation of tensions. An article 
in tbe Opinión Nacional stressed tbe point tbat the Illustrious American 
had taken the initial step towards a reconciliation with tbe Netberlands 
by visiting the Dutch envoy in Paris. Now The Hague had to prove its 
sincerity if it wanted a return to normal relations. The Hague, it com­
plained, did nothing.20 

Sometimes old colonial regulations provoked irritations wbich could 
have been avoided by better legislation. An outdated law from 1822 
required foreign ships to store cargoes of war materiel in tbe govern­
ment's warehouse as soon as they dropped anchor in Curaçao. But the 
safeguards of the Roya! Decree of 1871, probibiting tbe exportation of 
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war materiel, impeded the reloading of these cargoes when the ships 
were ready to leave. In 1822 the possibility of such a prohibition Was 
completelyoverlooked. Uninformed captains regularly complained about 
this procedure, and their complaints had the support of their govern­
ments.21 Irritating as they were, these shortcomings of Dutch colonial 
legislation never reached the danger point, as captains could usually 
produce enough official evidence that the war materiel their ships 
carried originated in their country and was registered there.22 

Venezuela's cargoes were treated in a similar fashion. In September, 
1879 General Nicolás M. Gil, Minister of the Interior of the Quinquenio 
regime, visited Willemstad and asked the governor's permission to take 
some Venezuelan war materiel, stored in the government's warehouse, 
back to his country. The governor, under strict orders of The Hague not 
to permit exceptions, refused because the export would not satisfy the 
1871 degree. This refusal apparently did not spoil Gil's mood. He assured 
Kip that his govemment thus far was favorably impressed with the 
attitude of the colonial authorities and urged him not to believe rumors 
about the closing of the ports of Coro and Maracaibo.23 Some concern 
remained, Gil admitted. Persuasively he explained the Great Liberal's 
irritation with the island's press, especially El lmparcial. Kip, taken by 
surprise, promised to investigate the matter and the two parted good 
friends.24 High hopes of a speedy reconciliation were raised. 

In the fall of 1879, these expectations collapsed amidst rising fears of 
a Venezuelan coup de main to occupy the island. Gil had informed 
Guzmán Blanco, rightly or wrongly, that the people who had overthrown 
his statues during the interval between the Septenio and Quinquenio 
all resided in Curaçao.25 The Great Liberal, irritated by the frustration 
of his Curaçao project and aggravated by several minor Ïrritants (among 
them the slowness of the Dutch government to grant the exequatur 
to Hugo Sassen, Venezuelan consul in Amsterdam) permitted a 
more aggressive tone in the Venezuelan press.26 The Dutch govern­
ment reacted unwisely. Despite two previous costly failures the 
suggestion to send a squadron to the Caribbean almost prevailed. 
The unsuccessful experiences of earlier years had left, however, some 
trace of common sense and a few weak protests questioned its effective­
ness. Plans to send a training squadron to the Cape Verde islands had 
already been conceived. Now a West Indian prolongation was added 
in case of an emergency. If necessary the commander could sail 
immediately from there to Curaçao, arriving within two weeks.27 Under 
these circumstances the Venezuelan government could hardly accuse 
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the Dutch of aggressiveness, The Hague assumed,28 It was not yet a 
candid admission of fonner errors, but it was a small step toward under­
standing the Venezuelan Question. The King's Speech ignored relations 
with the republic but expressed hopes for Curaçao's future, not so 
much because of a slightly encouraging revival of trade but because 
of the discovery of phosphate nitrates in the colony and their possible 
exploitation.29 

At the end of January, 1880 a new rebellion shook Venezuela. 
Starting in Ciudad Bollvar it spread rapidly over the eastern states. 
Caracas immediately proclaimed a blockade of the Orinoco delta.3D 

No sooner had this news reached Curaçao than General Colina, again 
a refugee on the island and the rumored head of the revolt, departed 
to join his colleague, General José Plo RevoIlo, the initiator of this 
new crisis. But the blockading vessels of the Venezuelan government 
prevented Colina from disembarking. A similar mishap occurred to 
Level de Goda and other anti-guzmancistas who were trying to return 
to the fatherland from Trinidad.31 The uprising lacked popular support 
and was soon crushed, but Guzmán Blanco, intensely angered by these 
continuous interruptions of his rule found good reason to retaliate by 
making serious threats against Curaçao as weIl as Trinidad. 

The dictator's mood is perfectly caught in an aggressive article in 
the Opinión Nacional: 

"We must again direct the attention of our government to what 
is going on in Curaçao.32 Against all rules of international law, 
the authorities of this island not only pennit conspiracies to be 
plotted in its territory, a behavior as scandalous as that of those 
who overthrew the statues, but they also place the island's press 
at the disposal of those fugitives ... " 

Even more vitriolic was a strident eaU for revenge in Guzmán Blanco's 
message to Congress. Both Curaçao and Trinidad were blamed for 
sheltering the enemies of his regime, showing a devilish callousness by 
granting refuge to the stubborn enernies of the peace of Venezuela.33 

Guzmán Blanco suggested two solutions. One was to close the ports 
of Coro, Ciudad Bollvar, and Maracaibo and move the customs offices 
to Puerto Cabello and CarUpano to prevent the loss of desperately­
needed government revenues. But the Great Liberal thought another 
course of action more advisable: subject imports from the Antilles to 
differential duties. This policy would kill two birds with one stone. 
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I t would deliver a crushing blow to the languishing economies of both 
Trinidad and Curaçao and, at the same time, would promote direct com­
mercial intercourse with Europe and the United States. If these islands 
continued to sabotage the republic's economy by their refusal to curb 
the contraband trade and to introduce measures desired by the country's 
government, this second solution was the only choice. Although he did 
not say it in so many words, the measures mentioned doubtlessly meant 
the prohibition of war materiel exports and the stricter supervision of 
VenezueIan refugees.34 

As Corporaal rightly observes, this combination of "additional duties" 
and threats to fulfill his demands gave Guzmán Blanco's policy in essence 
the character of a countervailing action aimed directly against the An­
tilles, particularly Curaçao.35 Only a narrow view, insensitive to the com­
plexities of the question, however, would attribute to the Illustrious 
American the sole motivations of vengeance and retaliation. His desire 
to expand Venezuela's economic bases might have been closer to his 
heart, although increasing his and his friends' fortunes was a strong 
bait. The main reason for his differential duties must, therefore, he 
sought in his commitment to the political and economic plan which 
emerged in the Quinquenio to establish direct commercial ties with 
Europe and the United States - in other words to eliminate the Antilles 
as middleman. The intermediate trade of Curaçao with Coro and 
Maracaibo and of Trinidad with the Orinoco region had to be 
eliminated for the good of Venezuela's trade and treasury and for 
himself and such friends as the Boultons and the Röhls. The concept 
of differential duties did not originate with him. More than fifty years 
earlier Bolivar had tried to introduce additional duties on all com­
modities not directly originating in Europe or the United States.36 

With the vehement protests of foreign countries the question was 
dropped, but the precedent had been established. 

In the intervening fifty years the situation had changed drastically. 
Gran Colombia had distintegrated into three states, and the small needs 
of long ago had increased considerably. What had not changed was the 
depressing fact that Venezuela was still almost completely dependent 
on foreign imports. The country had not industrialized, and the expand­
ing population only multiplied the need for such imports. 

Guzmán Blanco was fully aware of this intolerable situation, which 
deeply hurt his national pride. That Venezuelan shopkeepers, bypassing 
the direct contact with European and American commercial firms, 
bought commodities in Curaçao was hard for him to swallow. His 
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patnotlc feelings were undoubtedly mixed with those of self-interest. 
He was a silent partner in some business firms, and his views also hinged 
on the advantages their increasing profits would offer him if the middle­
man, i.e. Curaçao, could be eliminated. Differential duties would 
strongly stimulate direct trade, strengthen the position of the wholesale 
merchants, especiallly in Caracas, and would probably encourage the 
building of a Venezuelan merchant marine. Small businessmen, how­
ever, feared that these duties would hasten their decline by bolstering 
big business. 

I t is apparent that Guzmán Blanco had been thinking within this 
framework for some time. To assess his intentions correctly one must 
recognize the various motives which moved him to a decision. Were 
the duties his means of diverting national attention away from domestic 
problems? Were they only meant to convince the Netherlands and 
Great Britain that they would be wiser and would save their taxpayers' 
money by selling Curaçao and Trinidad? Were they meant to be a 
haggling tooI in the negotiations of a commercial treaty with those 
countries and to wrest an agreement on War materiel exports from 
them? Were they intended to pressure the expulsion of certain refugees? 
If, as he claimed, he intended to promote Venezuelan interests without 
regard for his private gain, why did he not introduce a more efficient 
system of duties which in the long run would have fomented direct 
trade without immediate ruinous consequences for the Antilles? 37 

Also difficult to assess is Rojas' new approach to the Venezuelan 
Question. He had resided in Paris for some time when he suddenly 
reopened talks on the renewal of diplomatic relations between the 
republic and the Netherlands. Venezuela's political and economie 
situation, he informed the Dutch envoy in London, had improved 
considerably. Guzmán Blanco was weIl aware of the measures taken 
by the colonial authorities to stop the contraband trade, and Rojas 
himself was familiar with the Dutch position that Venezuela should 
drop her claims. Because the rupture had originally taken place while 
he was representing his country, he was pleased to act as the inter­
mediary in negotiating a restoration of relations and to travel to 
The Hague to ensure success.38 The ploy, supposedly initiated to sound 
out Dutch feelings on normalization, failed to work. 

In the summer of 1880 the deadline for governments to respond to 
the Venezuelan proposal on a reorganization of the debt payments 
expired. The neW measure caused deep concern among foreign govern­
ments. Lord Salisbury roundly rejected it "on the grounds that it might 



100 CURAÇAO AND GUZMÁN BLANCO 

involve responsibilities which would not he in accordance with the 
interests of this country." 39 Strangely enough, some claimants would 
receive more than before: the monthly amount of 2,428 venezolanos 
formerly credited to the Dutch would increase to 3,667 because the 
Venezuelan government was willing to recognize some claims not 
previously included in this category.40 But the fact that payments would 
he in honds issued at 3 per cent interest caused extreme discontent. Some 
foreign governments protested, fearing they would receive valueless 
paper, but to no avail.41 

The negative attitude manifested by most foreign powers moved 
Caracas to a small effort at accommodation. The regime revised the 
diplomatic debts so that the total amounts would he newly established 
and paid off monthly to the respective legations in paper issued by the 
government.42 The new payments as compared with the former ones 
were as follows: 

Debts Payments Promised payments 
in before after May 1879 

venezolanos May 1879 in 
in venezolanos 

venezolanos 

France 798,255,67 1,684 2,760,50 
United States 1,461,790,83 6,140 5,006,19 
Or. Britain 448,208,81 886 1,550,06 
Denmark 40,310,29 47 144,08 
Netherlands 1,047,726,64 2,428 3,667 
Spain 1,926,114,41 8,548 6,700,20 

Efforts toward unanimous protest failed, and France soon recalled her 
envoy. Venezuela retaliated by recalling Rojas.43 

A further retaliation against the Dutch refusal to reopen negotiations 
occurred in February, 1881, when Venezuela suddenly stopped payments 
which until then had heen made on a fairly regular basis, despite 
the interruption of diplomatic relations.4" The old strategy of official 
blackmail was reapplied to force The Hague to comply with certain 
demands in the case of the Riqueza. This schooner (owner unknown) 
left Curaçao on August 18, 1880 destined for Bonaire. It carried eight 
Venezuelan refugees who had slipped aboard with rifles and gunpowder 
and forced the captain to put them ashore on the Venezuelan coast. 

Animosity flared up again with the interception of correspondence 
hetween known anti-guzmancistas in Curaçao and Venezuela revealing 
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a new conspiracy. Guzmán Blanco tried another approach in sending a 
special representative, General Felix E. Bigotte, to Willemstad. Bigotte 
handed the governor around 50 of these letters and the usual demand 
for expulsion.411 Mter an investigation by the Attorney General clearly 
proved the complicity of some refugees, the governor complied with 
the demand and fourteen Venezuelans were forced to leave the island.46 

Caracas' complaints about anti-guzmancista publications in Curaçao 
were not redressed due to lack of sufficient proof. 

Unsatisfied with the attitude of the Curaçao authorities, the Opini6n 
Nacional loudly proclaimed its strong anti-Dutch feelings, underscoring 
the "peculiar neutrality" of the island and "its eternal threat to the 
peace and the prosperity of the republic".47 The Hague was not im­
pressed by these outbursts, they had occurred too of ten. The King's 
Speech of 1881 did not mention Venezuela at all, nor did Guzmán 
Blanco refer to the Dutch Question in his message to Congress that year. 

But bis next message was less benevolent. Tapping as many sources 
as he could muster he strongly outlined the intolerable situation: 

"International relations are weU maintained, except with Holland 
and Colombia, which continue to be interrupted. The former, 
because Holland is not willing to investigate the just reclamations 
of Venezuela with regard to the participation of some inhabitants 
of the island of Curaçao in the revolution of 1874 ... " 48 

A bad omen for the future was the following paragraph: "Another 
measure which would contribute to achieving our goal is that of the 
introduction of differential duties". The president was making up bis 
mind af ter two years of vacillation. He decided on an additional duty 
of 30 per cent on all foreign merchandise imported via the Antilles. 

Thus his long-planned strategy finally took form in tbis "differential 
duties" project. Maybe the unwillingness of the Governor of Curaçao to 
muzzle the press removed the last restraint he might have feIt. AIthough 
not completely indifferent to good international relations, Guzmán Blanco 
was of ten ruthless with regard to others' views. Neither the recall of 
the French chargé d'affaires nor the possibility of a French-Dutch align­
ment against him disturbed the Illustrious American.49 His fine political 
instincts warned him that neither France nor the Netherlands would 
resort to arms as long as Great Britain refused to join them. And the 
latter was not ready. Her South Mrican ambitions and Guiana problems 
diverted her attention.15iO This lack of unity among the European powers 
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gave Guzmán Blanco a strong political hand and he played it extremely 
weIl. 

His masterly cunning is revealed in an article in the 0 pini6n N acional, 
(written by a columnist paid by the president, as Govemor Kip suggest­
ed) 61 which refers to Venezuela's problems with various foreign powers. 
It commented rather optimistically and self-assuredly: "England finds 
herself in a bind similar to France, but has not acted the same way 
[recal1ing her ambassador ]. Lord Granville has declared he will not 
resort to these extreme measures [i.e. the use of force]." 52 Gnly 
Holland, "seems to be inclined to make common cause with France and 
has declared herself ready to put a naval force at the disposal of the 
French republic to exercise pressure on Venezuela." 53 The source of 
this information was not disclosed. 1bis type of propaganda probably 
stifled intemal opposition against the Great Liheral and promoted 
nationaI feelings. Guzmán Blanco knew this quite weIl and profited 
from it. 

In May of that same year 1811, Congress rubher-stamped the presi­
dential proposaIs for an additional duty of 30 per cent levied on: 

1. all produce, merchandise, and livestock proceeding from foreign 
colonies and imported through the ports of entry of the Republic 
as weIl as those proceeding from the ports of Europe or the United 
Sta.tes of North America, destined for Venezuela, and transshipped 
in said colonies into other vessels, which are to bring them to the 
country; 

2. all produce, merchandise, and livestock shipped in Europe or the 
United States of North America destined for the eastem or western 
ports of the Republic, to which vessels having them aboard do not 
propose to proceed, may he transshipped in CarUpano, La Guaira, 
or Puerto Cahello in order to continue their voyage to said ports, 
and may also be examined and cleared in any of these free ports 
of transshipment in order afterwards to he forwarded to their 
destination in coasting vessels. 
In this last case there shall he allowed on the duties on merchandise, 
produce, and livestock, thus imported, such a re bate as the National 
Executive may fix as compensation for the extra expenses incurred 
on them ... M 

Besides demonstrating Guzmán Blanco's economic strategy, this law 
violated existing commercial treaties. The dictator's indifference to 
these violations was not shared by others, particularly Great Britain and 
the United States.55 The differences with the former country over the 
Guiana border question made the British protests rather poindess. 
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The United States fared better. Ahhough, already, her economic 
expansion had assumed imperialistic tendencies, she still had no colonies. 
Her steamship company, the Red D Line, however, was threatened by 
the new laws. Repeated protests of the American minister in Caracas 
caused the Guzmán Blanco regime to reconsider some details of the 
new regulations in order to gain an ally against Great Britain in the 
pending border dispute. An additional amendment in January, 1883, 
resulted from these reconsiderations. The Venezuelan government thus 
acceded to the wishes of the United States.56 This agreement was also 
beneficia! to Curaçao by freeing the island from some of the damaging 
consequences of the original concept.57 

The differential duties dramatically affected the island's economy in 
spite of the small relief provided by the law in 1883. Trade dropped 
alarmingly. Whereas Curaçao's imports totaled 5,559,412 guilders in 
1880, these slumped to 3,506,620 guilders in 1882, and to 3,123,221 
guilders in 1883. This steady decrease caused an exodus of Curaçao 
merchants. For instance, the Jewish population numbering around 
1,000 in 1865, had dwindled to 750 by 1886.1>8 

Curaçao narrowly missed a second blow when Colombia followed 
Venezuela's example and levied a similar tax beginning in May, 1887. 
In the six years between 1881 and 1887, Curaçao's merchants had 
greatly extended their trade with this country to compensate for the 
barriers raised by Venezuela. Many Curaçao firms had even established 
branches in Barranquilla and other coastal towns. The imposition of 
this new law would have killed this budding commerce. Thanks to the 
intervention of a Dutch Jewish consul, David Lopes Cohen, the 
Colombian government abolished the tax.59 

In the midst of the anxieties caused by the introduction of these 
additional duties a curious event occurred. Pedro Luis Brion, former 
admiral of Gran Colombia and a native of Curaçao, had been buried 
in 1821 on the grounds of the Rozentak plantation on the island. His 
grave had never attracted Venezuelan attention until 1877 when Ramón 
Azpurua, the author of several hundred short biographies of hombres 
notables (famous men) of the War of Independence visited Curaçao 
and published a short sketch on Brion's life.oo 

Azpurua's account and the forthcoming 1883 Bolivar centennial 
aroused Guzmán Blanco's interest. He astutely calculated the gains his 
public image could derive from manipulating this celebration to his 
personal advantage. In August, 1881, he decreed that the mortal remains 
of the "illustrious precursor Admiral Luis Brion" be interred in the 
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newly created National Pantheon in Caracas. Despite the interruption 
in official relations, negotiations with colonial authorities proceeded 
smoothly.61 Brion's body was exhumed and in April 1882, together 
with that of General Daniel Florencio O'Leary, entombed in the burial 
place of Venezuela's he roes. In Curaçao there was much praise for 
Guzmán Blanco's initiative.62 However, his subsequent request for Dutch 
representation to the 1883 Bolivar celebrations caused a problem of 
protocol because of the interrupted relations. The Dutch Cabinet finally 
decided to leave the matter to the Governor of Curaçao. Instead of the 
Netherlands, her troublesome colony was represented in Caracas. Some­
how everyone overlooked this irony. 

Despite the favorabie impression made by Curaçao's spontaneous 
and enthusiastic collaboration in the Brion festivities, relations with 
the republic did not improve. While the guzmancista Foreign Minister 
congratulated a new Governor of Curaçao for his cooperation, the latter 
received new complaints about the Curaçao press and its publications 
which "preached murder" against Venezuela.63 As usual the complaints 
Were soon followed by demands for expulsion, in this case that of General 
Eleazar U rdaneta, the recognized leader of a new revolt in the making, 
together with some other exiles.64 

The new governor, admonished by his superior in The Hague, com­
plied with the demand. An investigation proved the refugees' complicity 
in subversive activities and they were expelled.65 This softened Guzmán 
Blanco sufficiently to decorate the governor. In presenting the medal 
Boye, the commercial agent of Venezuela, optimistically and erroneously 
assured him that the question of the additional duties would soon be 
filed in some dusty closet.66 

But a little later in the year the president's message to Congress erased 
any hopes the Antillians might have had regarding these duties. I t had 
not been possible, Guzmán Blanco said adamantly, to restore normal 
relations with the Netherlands because her government stubbornly refused 
to discuss the rightful reclamations of the republic.67 Thus the year 1882 
proceeded with no change in the international situation, and the gloomy 
mood of the Curaçao merchants worsened as they saw their trade 
decline. The colonial government was powerless, caught in a political 
trap. The decisions were made in The Hague and the matter received 
scant attention there. "The situation in the West Indies," the Cabinet 
had the King say in his Speech of that year, "is not unsatisfactory." 68 

At the end of 1882 the Antillean gloom was alleviated by news of a 
meeting between the Dutch and Venezuelan ministers in Washington. 
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Simón Camacho, the Venezuelan envoy, told bis Dutch colleague 
Von Pestel how deeply he was concerned about the Dutch Venezuelan 
Question. He thought the moment opportune to end it. In his country, 
he said, all was quiet with Guzmán Blanco in absolute control; con­
ditions permitted the return of some of his most outspoken 0p}JUuelHs. 
Camacho called Von Pestel's attention to the open invitation contained 
in the President's Congressional message of 1882 to discuss the problems 
under the mediation of the United States.!19 The Dutch, as adamant 
as the IIIustrious American before, refused such mediation. U.S. willing­
ness to assume this role is questionable; she had her own specifie 
problems with Guzmán Blanco around this time.70 

However, as a result of these conversations, it finaIly dawned on 
The Hague that the existing situation was untenable and should be 
remerued. Again the Venezuelan Question was discussed in several 
Cabinet meetings. A new Governor of Curaçao, Nicolaas van den Brand­
hof, out of ignorance or shortsightedness, proposed the repeal of the 
prohibition of war materiel exports as a means of pressuring Vene­
zuela to give up the high surtax. The Cabinet, wisely, rejected this 
proposal. 7l 

Again nothing happened. The King's Speech of 1883 made only scant 
reference to the West Indian affairs: "Dur attention is directed to the 
consequences expected for the Curaçao colony from the digging of the 
Canal of Panama." 72 

Guzmán Blanco's Congress was hardly better informed than the 
Dutch Second Chamber. In a December, 1883 message, the IIIustrious 
Ameriean mentioned with satisfaction "the diplomatie and naval 
representation of this colonial government at the centennia! celebration 
of the IIIustrious Bolivar." Congress intoxicated by these words, au thor­
ized the president to propose the reopening of negotiations on the 
restoration of relations.73 

As usuaI, the high expectations were of short duration. Now it was 
Curaçao that blundered into irritating reactions because of a series 
of articles in El lmparcial which were not silenced by the government. 
Fervent hopes for a change of rule in Venezuela were not realized either. 
Guzmán Blanco's grasp on power was strong enough to permit him 
again to leave the country. Before he left in 1884, he stated in bis 
farewell address that Venezuela had good relations "with all friendly 
nations" .74 

The Bolivar celebrations had one favorable resuIt: they restored 
written contact between The Hague and Caracas. I t consisted mainly 
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of an exchange of courteous platitudes. In January, 1885 a Dutch war 
frigate, the Tromp, visited several Venezue1an ports and was wen 
received. That same year saw a new rebellion under Generals Pulgar 
and Urdaneta in alliance with José M. Rojas. The former representative 
had defected from Guzmán Blanco and became his bitter enemy.71i 
The rebellion lasted only a few weeks; General Crespo's position as 
acting president was never seriously threatened. It pleased him that 
the colonial authorities had denied port entry to the rebel ship Justicia, 
labelled a pirate by Caracas. Boye defined the policy of Curaçao 
as "well-understood neutrality". The Justicia, with some frustrated 
rebel leaders aboard, then sailed to Santo Domingo. Official Venezuelan 
complaints were subsequently directed agaïnst this country.76 

In 1886, Guzmán Blanco assumed the presidency for the third and last 
time, initiating aperiod known in Venezue1an history as the Aclamación 
(1886-88). During these two years the relationship with Curaçao under­
went no change. The Dutch Foreign Minister in describing this standstill 
to the Dutch envoy in Paris wrote: "The restoration of normal diplomatie 
relations to which His Majesty's government certainly is not disinclined, 
because there is no animosity between our two nations, has to be 
initiated by Venezuela." 77 This cautious diplomatie wording meant in 
everyday language that the Dutch were eager to resume anormal 
relationship. 

Although efforts at improvement failed, partly because of the overly 
forma1 attitude of the Dutch, the scarce correspondence between Cara­
cas and The Hague of those years now included Willemstad. The new 
Governor of Curaçao, Van den Brandhof, af ter his initial error in 
analyzing the situation, showed more initiative and insight than rus 
immediate predecessors.78 In spite of a drastic decline in government 
revenues caused by severe losses in trade, he provided the island with a 
pontoon bridge connecting the two parts of Willemstad separated by the 
St. Ann Bay, previously linked by a ferry.79 In 1889, Curaçao was 
included in a cable conneotion between Venezuela, Haïti, and Cuba. 

Van den Brandhof also attempted, under The Hague's supervision, to 
mend diplomatie relations with the republic. There seemed some hope 
for improvement when it was learned that Guzmán Blanco might visit 
Curaçao on his return from France in 1886. Discerning a favorable 
opportunity to take the initiative and envisioning an end to the 
impasse in relations, The Hague agreed to authorize the Curaçao 
governor to act as a "go-between". He was cautioned, however, not to set 
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his expectations too high. The Dutch Cabinet expressed arealistic doubt 
concerning a compromise with respect to the additional duties. 

Guzmán Blanco did not disembark in Curaçao and consequently 
Van den Brandhof did not have an opportunity to advance his views. 
Tbe latter asked tbe Dutch consul in Caracas, Nicolaas F. Hellmund, 
to deliver bis message of congratulation to the Venezuelan president 
upon the assumption of his third term and if possible, to see what could 
be done about the duties.80 Hellmund spent a cordial half hour witb 
tbe Venezuelan dictator. Out of the blue sky the latter observed that 
tbe restoration of nonnal relations with The Hague was going weIl and 
that during his stay in Europe he had strongly promoted a speedy con­
clusion.81 What still had to be done would not cause any problem, and 
he added "I believe that through the mediation of Mr. Van den Brand­
hof a definite arrangement can be reached." 82 During this time tbere 
is no documentary evidence of a concrete approach by Guzmán Blanco 
except his own word. Tbe delicate topic of additonal duty was not 
touched.83 

Again, any optimism sparked by these words evaporated with tbe 
realization that tbe president's imagination had run away with him. 
He had not been to Tbe Hague, nor is there proof of any contact 
in this period witb the Dutch envoy in Paris. Supported by metro­
politan businessmen, Guzmán Blanco assumed power and revived the 
policy of bis earl ier administrations. In April, 1887 a rather roughly 
worded request was handed to the Governor of Curaçao for tbe 
expulsion of three prominent Venezuelan officers in exile on tbe island: 
Pedro Obregón Silva, Luis Level de Goda, and Luis Maria Diaz. Diaz 
had caused earlier friction and wisely declined Guzmán Blaneo's offer of 
amnesty made in 1882, continuing his directorship of the Colegio Vargas 
in Curaçao.84 Level de Goda, tbe au thor of a politica! and military 
bistory of Venezuela, was also weIl known on the island. Again on a 
collision course witb tbe Guzmán Blanco regime, he judged it wiser to 
remain in his former refuge. Silva, a former military man, had exchanged 
the sword for the pen and as the editor of La N aci6n fervently 
expounded what the Illustrious American defined as a "reactionary 
attitude".85 Obviously his commitment had caused tbe displeasure of the 
Great Liberal. Tbeir expulsion was requested in sharp terms and, as 
usual, was followed by some unveiled threats, in this case tbe closing 
of tbe few Venezuelan ports where some trifling traffic with Curaçao 
was eondoned. 86 

Altbough far from happyabout tbe note's insulting wording, Van den 
Brandhof hesitated over the course he should follow. He did not dis-
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regard hls Attomey General's advice not to heed the demand, but 
playing for time he ordered an investigation.87 This had the advantage 
of cooling heated emotions. I t was disclosed that the accused exiles 
had contributed to some publications which could he considered insult­
ing to Guzmán Blanco, especially those written by a fourth man soon 
to he added to the list: Jacob Moreno, director of the weekly review 
EIObservador.88 

In hls courteous reply to Caracas' demands Van den Brandhof pointed 
out that under colonial law there was freedom of the press and that an 
offense to the leader of another nation should not be considered an 
incitement to revolution or conspiracy against peace. At worst these 
publications constituted grounds for the Venezuelan president to file 
complaints against their authors in order to initiate criminal action.89 

Ris answer was well-worded and refrained from any reference to the 
Venezuelan threat to Curaçao's commerce. 

Far from pacifying Caracas, this response increased its irritation and 
impatience. The request for expulsion was repeated and accompanied 
by copies of a pamphlet written by Obregón Silva entitled Las Cosas 
de Venezuela, and of an article by Level de Goda with the title 
"Venezuela y Guzmán Blanco".oo Later, several copies of El Observador, 
also published in Curaçao, were added to provide the necessary proof 
for the accusation. 

It is not understood how the Attomey General of Curaçao before 
the second Venezuelan demand, could not have known about these 
publications. It almost leads one to believe that the colonial authorities 
in effect tried to protect conspiring refugees. This time there was no 
escape. The govemor was advised to expel Level de Goda and to give 
Obreg6n Silva a stiff warning. Acting again in a "courteous and 
moderate manner",91 he wrote Caracas 

"that Curaçao had never been wanting in its international 
relations with the Republic of Venezuela. . . that in regard to the 
publications of Silva, although insulting toward the President of 
the Republic, they could not be considered as calculated to create 
a revolution ... and that they in no way made him liable for 
expulsion." II'J 

Refusing compliance with this detail of the Venezuelan request the 
govemor acknowledged that Level de Goda had been found guilty of 
endangering the peace of Venezuela and was ordered to leave the 
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island.93 No proof of any incnmmating act was found nor given to 
implicate Diaz and Moreno, but the stiff warning was also extended 
to them. Venezuela's commercial agent, Boye, expressed meager 
appreciation for this action, but dedared officially that the Governor 
of Curaçao had done "his duty of neutrality" in this case.94 

This ultimatum delivered to Obregón, Silva and Moreno had no 
effect. Rafael Seijas, the new more intransigent Venezuelan Minister 
of Foreign Affairs, following a line of continuously applied pressure 
sent the Curaçao governor two new copies of El Observador which 
brutally criticized Guzmán Blanco and his regime. The articles were 
undoubtedly eye-openers, especially the one entitled "Gran Reparto" 
by Moreno who had acquired a deserved reputation as a man who did 
not teIl fairy tales. Guzmán Blanco "as usual" had distributed the 
contents of the national treasury among those on whose support he 
counted for an eventual return, Moreno wrote. Among these supporters 
were the provisional president, Hermógenes López, the former Foreign 
Minister, Juan Bautista Urbaneja, and the president of the Senate, 
Nieolás Gil, called by Moreno "miserabie beggars" .95 Obregón Silva, 
also ignoring the warning, continued his anti-guzmancista prose in an 
article entitled "Los Beduinos en Paris" . Both he and Moreno were 
ordered to leave the colony. Again Diaz escaped expulsion.96 

Venezuela's threat that "should no attention be paid to her demands, 
the government would be obliged to suspend what was still Ie ft of the 
commercial relations hetween the republic and the colony," alerted the 
American minister resident in Caracas. The Caribhean had long been 
induded in the United States' "immediate sphere of interests". Trade 
with Venezuela, for instance, was important to U.S. merchants who 
controlled (in 1885) over 40 per cent of all imports and exports. "If 
Venezuela carries out her threat and doses her ports to all trafie," he 
wrote to the Secretary of State, "it will seriously affect and damage 
American commerce, as the Red D. Line, an American enterprise, does 
nine-tenths of the carrying trade hetween this country and the United 
States." 9T 

But this time Guzmán Blanco's bite was not worse than his bark. The 
United States government ordered its minister in Caracas to inform the 
authorities of the United States' position. She 

"would view with great concern such a measure as that indicated 
in your dispatch, whereby the ports of Venezuela might he closed 
to the produce and merchandise of the United States destined 
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for Venezuela and transshipped en route in the port of Curaçao 
from one American vessel to another." 

In rather strong words the consequences of Venezuelan policy were 
exposed: 

"To suspend all sorts of commercial relations between her territory 
and that of the neighboring Dutch colonies would he a subject of 
deep and legitimate concern if its effects were to suspend com­
mercial intercourse between the United States and Venezuela, and 
in such a case could not fail to provoke eamest remonstrance and 
suggest undesirable countervailing measures if insisted upon." 

With the usual diplomatic niceties the provisional president López 
promptly assured President Cleveland that "the bonds of friendship 
which unite our two countries" together with "the best wishes for the 
uninterrupted prosperity and progress of the United States of America" 
were foremost in his mind. This assurance determined the policy the 
Venezuelan government proposed to followafter Guzmán Blanco's 
permanent departure in 1888 - one of leaving the matter as it stood.9S 

The Illustrious American never returned to his country, remaining 
in hls beloved Paris. He made a few efforts as minister plenipotentiary 
to negotiate some deals for his country and perhaps Curaçao was part 
of them, but they did not affect the island. His role had ended and the 
ooly thing left to him was to write hls memoirs. Smuggling continued 
to an unknown extent. Under successive presidents relations between 
Curaçao and Venezuela did not change and the almost traditional 
incidents continued to occur. In 1893, Crespo tried to reinstate the 
30 per cent differential duties in their original harshness, but immediate 
American protests were again instrumental in cancelling this project.99 

Diplomatic relations were finally restored in 1894 when Francisco 
Tosta Garcia, Crespo's representative to The Hague, and Dutch Foreign 
Minister Jean Roëll signed an agreement for their normalization. For 
the first time in history the Dutch government, concerned about the 
colony's opinion in this negotiation, asked for it and received a favorable 
reaction. Both sides made concessions. Without admitting that her 
reclamations of 1875 were unrealistic and perhaps somewhat inflated, 
Venezuela was willing to abstain from those demands, while the Nether­
lands promised to do all in her power to stop exiles in Curaçao from 
conspiring against Caracas.wo The continuous friction on the most 
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evident cause of disruption seemed to have come to an end. Again as 
in 1872 the real issues, the principle of free trade and of free press, 
did not enter the debate. 



16. CONCLUSION 

This study has examined Curaçao's political relations with Venezuela 
under the Guzmán Blanco regime. The author has explored this uneasy 
relationship within the framework of the gradual development of 
political and economic contacts between colonial Curaçao and the Land 
of Bolivar. Venezuelans' increasing consciousness of what they con­
sidered to be their basic rights were obstructed by an outpost of rigid 
European colonialism uncomfortably close to their coasts. While the 
Great Liberal's arrogant pretensions gave this conflict its peculiar 
profile, they had little to do with liberal principles. Yet Guzmán 
Blanco's eighteen years in power certainly reflected growth in the 
political maturity of his country. 

As for the island, its status as a colony was not to change for many 
years to come. The attitude of The Hague toward its problems, never­
theless, in the course of time underwent a slight change. In 1870 the 
Minister for the Colonies ordered the expulsion of Venezuelan refugees 
from the island against the advice of its governor and the outspoken 
protest of the Colonial Raad. A request of prominent citizens to undo 
what they considered a fatal decision was rebuffed. His Majesty was 
not at all pleased with this interference in an international question, 
the Minister for the Colonies answered the petitioners rather sarcasti­
cally.1 A second petition protesting forced retirement of Governor 
De Rouville met a similar fate.2 Both protests and the attitude of the 
Colonial Raad were, however, clear symptoms of an awakening sense 
of responsibility among Curaçao's residents. 

Another sign of this awakening was the appearance of several weekly 
newspapers, in which the vox populi -in so far as we may consider 
the literate white and coloured upper classes as representative of the 
people - could express themselves more openly than in the Curaçaosche 
Courant, which evolved in the direction of an official island gazette. 
The most outspoken of these papers, El lmparcial and the Civilisad6, 
were mentioned above. They were short-lived, it is true, but they were, 
undoubtedly, exponents of that increasing dissatisfaction at being treated 
as minors, at being manipulated, and at being ruled without any say 
in one's own affairs. 
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A further step toward Curaçao's political maturity - under the 
growing threat of being bartered away to Venezuela - was A. M. 
Chumaceiro's pamphlet, Is Curaçao te koop? (Is Curaçao for Sale?). 
"If the Curaçao colony," he wrote, "had had more self-government 
than it has at present, much that has gone wrong would have been 
completely different." The Colonial Raad is not an elective body, he 
protested. It selects its own candidates, of which His Majesty -- through 
the Minister for the Colonies - chooses some, while five of its thirteen 
memhers are direct appointees. What could he expected from such a 
legislative body? 

"New forces, summoned by free elections, brought into the Colonial 
Raad would undoubtedly he of great benefit and caU into existence 
a new set of regulations which would coincide with local interests 
without hurting those of the Netherlands. And the Dutch govern­
ment, in that case, should have more considerations for the feelings 
of this Raad than is now the case; it should trust that Raad, and 
hear in mind that it cannot judge questions more aptly than those 
who are on the spot." 3 

Chumaceiro was not alone. Although it would require many more 
years to effectively change the island's colonial status, prophets of 
neW things to come were already voicing their predictions. And when, 
finally, new negotiations hetween the Netherlands and Venezuela were 
initiated,4 The Hague showed more understanding than ever hefore and 
established an official inquiry board to sound out Curaçao's opinion. 
Loca1 residents, in the vast majority, favored resumption of normal 
diplomatic relations with Venezuela and were diametrically opposed 
to a renewal of the nefarious trade in war materie!. 

The Dutch government, which for such a long time had heeded 
neither expert information nor realistic warnings, but rather had 
maintained a peculiar ability to act upon bad advice, finally became 
aware that the colony was maturing and declared itself prepared to 
listen to the local voÏce. Af ter its headstrong attitude had aggravated 
the conflict with Venezuela almost to the point of war, this concession, 
small as it may seem, opened the door to more local control of island 
affairs. This was Curaçao's only real gain in a conflict in which it 
was the principal loser. 
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Appendix 1 

Protocol for restoration of diplomatie relations between The Netherlands 
and Venezuela, March 21, 1872. 

Protocole 
Les soussignés baron Gericke de Herwijnen, Ministre des Affaires 
Etrangères de Sa Majesté Ie Roi des Pays-Bas et Lucio Pulido, Envoyé 
de la République de V énézuéla, en mission auprès du Gouvernement 
Néerlandais, se sont réunis aujourd'hui au Ministère des Affaires 
Etrangères à La Haye, dans Ie but d'arrêter définitivement les mesures 
pour Ie rétablissement des relations diplomatiques entre les deux Etats. 

Monsieur Lucio Pulido, ayant exhibé les pleins pouvoirs qui lui ont 
été délivrés par son Gouvernement, a déclaré être autorisé en vertu 
de ses instructions et des dits pleins pouvoirs, à adhérer aux bases 
d'arrangement consignées dans la note qui lui a été remise par Ie 
Ministre des Affaires Etrangères des Pays-Bas en date du 27 Avril 1871, 
et dont Ie contenu textuel est comme suit: 

"En présence de la répugnance invincible, contre la réintégration, 
même temporaire, de monsieur Rolandus, dans les fonctions de chargé 
d'affaires à Caracas, Ie Gouvernement des Pays-Bas aconsenti, con­
formément à l'autorisation du Roi, à examiner s'il serait possible, 
d'accepter sous une autre forme la satisfaction, à laquelle il est en droit 
de s'attendre. Malgré qu'il ne puisse de son coté adopter sans regret 
la pensée d'un arrangement, dont la réintégration de monsieur Rolandus 
ne serait pas Ie point de départ, il consentirait néanmoins à admettre 
une solution basée sur les conditions suivantes: 

Le Gouvernement de la République des Etats Unis de Vénézuéla 
enverra à La Haye un personnage d'un rang élevé, en qualité de 
plénipotenciaire, chargé de la mission spéciale, de demander Ie réta­
blissement des relations actuellement interrompues entre Ie Gouverne­
ment des Pays-Bas et celui de la République. 

Le texte de l'allocution que Ie Plenipotenciaire adressera au Roi 
dans l'audience qu'il sollicitera de Sa Majesté, sera préalablement 
communiqué au Ministre des Affaires Etrangères. Outre les explications 
satisfaisantes que contiendra cette allocution, elle exprimera tous les 
regrets du Gouvernement de la République, ainsi que son vif désir de 
voir rétablir les relations de bonne entente entre les deux Gouvernements 
et d'éviter tout ce qui pourrait les compromettre à l'avenir. Il va sans 
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dire, que toute récrimination à l'égard de monsieur Rolandus doit être 
évitée. 

Lorsqu'un nouveau chargé d'affaires des Pays-Bas pres Ie Gouverne­
ment de Vénézuéla aura été nommeé, il sera reçu avec les plus grands 
honneurs, compatibles avec son rang, et dans l'audience qui lui sera 
accordée pour remettre ses lettres de créance, des sentiments analogues 
à ceux qui auront été manifestés par Ie plenipotenciaire de Vénézuéla 
à La Haye lui seront exprimés." 

En conséquence de ce qui précède monsieur Lucio Pulido a remis 
à monsieur Ie baron Gericke de Herwijnen copie des lettres qui l'accrédi­
tent en qualité d'envoyé extraordinaire et ministre plenipotenciaire de 
la République des Etats Dnis de Vénézuéla aupres de Sa Majesté Ie Roi 
des Pays-Bas, en vue de remplir la mission ci-dessus specifiée. 

Le Ministre des Affaires Etrangères s'est engagé à soumettre l'accord 
ainsi établi à l'approbation du Roi et à demander, dans Ie plus bref 
délai p06Sible, les ordres de Sa Majesté quant à l'audience à accorder 
à monsieur Lucio Pulido, afin de présenter ses lettres de créance et de 
s'acquitter de la mission qui lui est confiée. 

En foi de quoi, Ie présent protocole a été dressé et signé en double 
original à La Haye, Ie 21 Mars mil huit cent soixante douze. 
(signé) L. Gericke (signé) Lucio Pulido 

A.ppendix 2 

Protocol signed in The Hague on August 20, 1894, to restore diplomatie 
relations between The Netherlands and Venezuela. 

Protocole 
Le Gouvernement de Sa Majesté la Reine des Pays-Bas et Ie Gouverne­
ment des Etats Dnis de Vénézuéla, étant tous deux animés du sincère 
désir de rétablir les relations diplomatiques entre les deux Pays sont 
convenus de ce qui suit: 

Les réclamations formulées de part et d'autre, en 1875, donnèrent 
lieu à cette époque à une discussion, qui n'a malheureusement pu aboutir 
et que s'est terminée par la rupture des relations diplomatiques. 

Depuis lors, les Pays-Bas et Vénézuéla, étant entrés dans la voie des 
concessions mutuelles, ont de leur propre gré supprimé toutes les causes 
de divergence entre les deux Pays. 

De son coté Ie Gouvernement de la Reine constate, qu'il s'est empressé 
de communiquer au Gouvernement Vénézuélien, dans sa depêche du 
6 juilliet 1889, Ie résultat de l'enquête rigoureuse à laquelle il fut 
officiellement procédé à Curaçao, relativement aux faits qui avaient 
provoqué les réclamations sousmentionnées des Etats Dnis de Vénézuéla. 

Quant au Gouvernement Vénézuélien, sans admettre nullement que 
ses réclamations ne fussent pas fondées, et sans vouloir, par cela, établir 
un précédent qui pourrait être invoqué à l'avenir, concède à ne plus 
insister sur les demandes antérieures. 
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Or les motifs de désaccord n'existant donc plus actuellement et les 
deux Gouvernements étant animés du vif désir d'écarter tout ce qui 
serait de nature à entraver Ie rétablissement immédiat des relations 
diplomatiques, malheureusement interrompues à Ia suite d'événements 
éloignés dont Ie souvenir tend à s'effacer complètement, sont convenus 
de clore definitivement Ia discussion et l'examen de toutes les anciennes 
questions en litige. 

En outre, Ie Gouvernement Néerlandais, désirant donner au Gouver­
nement Vénézuélien une preuve de Ia vive satisfaction que lui cause Ia 
haute mission amicale de Monsieur Ie GénéraI Francisco Tosta Garcia 
manifeste de nouveau son intention d'empêcher par tous les moyens en 
son pouvoir tout complot, atteinte ou autre acte contraire à l'ordre 
public au Vénézuéla, dérogeant aux principes de Ia plus stricte neutra­
lité envers Ie Gouvernement constitué du dit Pays, conformément aux 
règles établies par Ie droit des gens, et iI renouvellera en ce sens aux 
autorités de ses Colonies de Curaçao, Bonaire, Aruba, St. Martin, 
St. Eustache et Saba les instructions formelles existant à cet effet. 

En conséquence les soussignés, Ie jonkheer Jean RoëIl, Ministre des 
Affaires Etrangères de Sa Majesté Ia Reine des Pays-Bas, et Monsieur 
Ie GénéraI Francisco Tosta Garcia, délégué spécial du Gouvernement 
des Etats-Unis de Vénézuéla, dûment autorisés par Sa Majesté la Reine 
Régénte du Royaume et par Ie Gouvernement des Etats-Unis de Véné­
zuéla ont opposé leurs signatures au présent protocoIe; lequel sera sou mis 
à Ia ratification des pouvoirs compétents. 

Fait en double, à La Haye Ie 20 août 1894. 
(signé) J. RoëIl (signé) F. T. Garcia 
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de la Rept1blica de la Venezuela en 1848, probably the cause of his expulsion. 
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